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We are extremely pleased with Samsonite’s performance in 2023. With the ongoing growth
in travel and tourism around the world, we achieved strong net sales increases across all our
regions and core brands. We also achieved a record high gross profit margin, and we remained
disciplined with our expense management, which helped to significantly enhance our profitability.
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Corporate Profile

With a heritage dating back to 1910, Samsonite International S.A. (the
“Company”), together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”),
is a leader in the global lifestyle bag industry and is the world’s best-
known and largest travel luggage company. The Group is principally
engaged in the design, manufacture, sourcing and distribution of
luggage, business and computer bags, outdoor and casual bags
and travel accessories throughout the world, primarily under the
Samsonite®, Tumi®, American Tourister®, Gregory®, High Sierra®,
Lipault® and Hartmann® brand names as well as other owned and
licensed brand names.

The Company’s Culture and Strategy

The principal characteristics of the Company’s culture are:

e The Company’s long-standing guiding principle, the Golden Rule,
to “do unto others as you would have them do unto you,” is a
legacy of the Group’s founder and guides relationships between
the Group’s employees and its customers, vendors, and other
stakeholders.

e The Group’s decentralized management model empowers
teams and fosters an entrepreneurial, innovative approach to the
business while encouraging collaboration to share best practices.

e The Group’s lean organizational structure encourages efficient,
timely decision-making and transparency, and minimizes corporate
bureaucracy.

e The Group’s employees have a shared commitment to acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly in keeping with the Company’s
code of conduct, which is communicated to employees throughout
the Group annually.

e The Group is focused on fostering a culture that embraces
diversity and inclusion.

e Employees’ shared commitment to the Company’s “Our
Responsible Journey” sustainability initiatives.

The Company believes that its culture is critical to successfully
executing its strategies and is well aligned with such strategies.

The Company aims to increase shareholder value through sustainable
revenue and earnings growth and free cash flow generation. To
achieve this objective, the Company has adopted the following
principal strategies:

e Ensure the Company’s well-diversified family of brands attracts
consumers at a wide range of price points in the travel and non-
travel luggage, bag and accessories categories.
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Increase the proportion of net sales from the Company’s direct-to-
consumer e-commerce channel.

Increase investment in marketing to support the Company’s
brands and initiatives.

Continue to leverage the Company’s regional management
structure, distribution expertise and marketing engine to extend
its brands into new markets and penetrate deeper into existing
channels.

Continue to invest in research and development to develop lighter
and stronger new materials, advanced manufacturing processes,
exciting new designs, more sustainable collections and innovative
functionalities that deliver tangible benefits to consumers.

Continue to incorporate the Company’s environmental, social and
governance (“‘ESG”) philosophy into its core business practices
through “Our Responsible Journey” to lead the transformation of
the luggage industry with respect to sustainability and treat all
stakeholders with fairness and respect.

Tumi Omotensando Flagship Store in Tokyo, Japan
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Near-term Focus:

e With such a strong performance in 2023, the Group is excited
about its growth prospects for 2024. The Group believes it is well
positioned to outpace the market, supported by its leading brands,
unrivaled global sourcing and distribution infrastructure, and its
ability to invest in product innovation, sustainability and marketing.

e The Group expects global travel and tourism growth to remain
healthy in 2024. Asia is expected to continue to see travel growth,
as outbound travel from China continues to improve. In markets
that reopened earlier, including North America and Europe, travel
is expected to see steady growth closer to historical trends, with
relatively stronger prospects in Europe from the ongoing return of
Chinese travelers.

e The Group intends to increase investment in marketing during
2024, targeting advertising spend of approximately 7.0% of its net
sales to drive future net sales growth across all brands.

e The Group will maintain disciplined expense management on its
fixed selling, general and administrative (‘“SG&A”) expenses. The
Group expects to deliver fundamentally higher profitability as it
benefits from its more efficient cost structure and strong growth
from its higher-margin brands and regions.

e As the luggage industry's sustainability leader with the scale to
transform the industry, the Group will continue its path on “Our
Responsible Journey” and deliver progress towards its goals.

e With significant liquidity® of US$1.6 billion at December 31, 2023,
and total net leverage ratio® at its lowest level since the acquisition
of Tumi in 2016, the Group is confident that it has the capacity to
support the growth of its business in the years to come.

e The Board recommends that a cash distribution in the aggregate
amount of US$150.0 million be made to the Company’s
shareholders from its ad hoc distributable reserve, subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on June 6, 2024.

Notes

(1) Total liquidity is calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents per the
consolidated statements of financial position plus available capacity under the
revolving credit facility (see Management Discussion and Analysis — Indebtedness
for further discussion). As of December 31, 2023, the Group had total liquidity of
US$1,562.0 million, comprising cash and cash equivalents of US$716.6 million
and US$845.4 million available to be borrowed on the Group’s revolving credit
facility.

(2) The total net leverage ratio is calculated by dividing total consolidated net debt
minus the aggregate amount of unrestricted cash by the consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA® for the trailing four fiscal quarters on a pro forma basis as defined in
the credit agreement (see Management Discussion and Analysis — Indebtedness
for further discussion).

(38) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible
assets.
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DISCLAIMER
ELL

Non-IFRS Measures

The Company has presented certain non-IFRS" measures in the
Summary Financial Results and Financial Highlights, Chairman’s
Statement, Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis because each of these measures provides
additional information that management believes is useful for
securities analysts, investors and other interested parties to gain a
more complete understanding of the Group’s operational performance
and of the trends impacting its business. These non-IFRS measures,
as calculated herein, may not be comparable to similarly named
measures used by other companies and should not be considered
comparable to IFRS measures. Non-IFRS measures have limitations
as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation from,
or as a substitute for, an analysis of the Group’s financial results as
reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

Forward-looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements reflect the Company’s current views with respect to future
events and performance. These statements may discuss, among other
things, the Company’s net sales, gross profit margin, operating profit,
Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA®, Adjusted EBITDA margin,
cash flow, liquidity and capital resources, potential impairments,
growth, strategies, plans, achievements, distributions, organizational
structure, future store openings or closings, market opportunities
and general market and industry conditions. The Company generally
identifies forward-looking statements by words such as “expect”,
“seek”, “believe”, “plan”, “intend”, “estimate”, “project”, “anticipate”,
“may”, “will”, “would” and “could” or similar words or statements.
Forward-looking statements are based on beliefs and assumptions
made by management using currently available information. These
statements are only predictions and are not guarantees of future
performance, actions or events. Forward-looking statements are
subject to risks and uncertainties.

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if
management’s underlying beliefs and assumptions prove to be
incorrect, actual results may differ materially from those contemplated
by a forward-looking statement. Among the factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially are: the effect of worldwide economic
conditions; the effect of political or social unrest and armed conflict;
the effects of inflation; a general economic downturn or generally
reduced consumer spending; significant changes in consumer
spending patterns or preferences; competition; interruptions or delays
in the supply of finished goods or key components; the performance
of the Group’s products within the prevailing retail environment; and
financial difficulties encountered by customers and related bankruptcy
and collection issues.
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These risks and uncertainties include those set forth under Risk
Management and Internal Control within the Corporate Governance
Report. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on
which they are made. The Company’s shareholders, potential investors
and other interested parties should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements. The Company expressly disclaims any
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by applicable securities laws and regulations.

Rounding

Certain amounts presented in this report have been rounded up or
down to the nearest tenth of a million, unless otherwise indicated.
There may therefore be discrepancies between the actual totals of the
individual amounts in the tables and the totals shown, between the
amounts in the tables and the amounts given in the corresponding
analyses in the text of this document and between amounts in this
document and other publicly available documents. All percentages
and key figures were calculated using the underlying data in whole US
Dollars.

Notes
(1) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Accounting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(2) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible
assets.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL RESULTS AND FINANCIAL HIGHLGHTS

B RENER D HRE

The Board of Directors of Samsonite International S.A. (the
“Company”), together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”),
is pleased to present the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company as of December 31, 2023, and for the year then ended,
together with comparative figures for the year ended December 31,
2022.

Summary Financial Results

In this annual report, certain financial results for the year ended
December 31, 20283, are compared to both the year ended December
31, 2022, and to the year ended December 31, 2019. Comparisons
to the year ended December 31, 2019, are provided because it is the
most recent comparable year prior to the pandemic.

When evaluating the results for the year ended December 31, 2023,
certain factors impact comparability to the results for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and for the year ended December 31, 2019,
mainly the suspension and subsequent disposition of operations in
Russia and the sale of Speculative Product Design, LLC (“Speck”).
On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities in
Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine. The Group subsequently
completed the disposition of its Russian operations on July 1, 2022,
which impacts comparability to both the year ended December 31,
2022, and the year ended December 31, 2019. On July 30, 2021, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company sold Speck, a designer and
distributor of slim protective cases for personal electronic devices
that were marketed under the Speck® brand, thereby affecting
comparability to the year ended December 31, 2019.

Sams&nite

BACKPACKS

EXPECT ONE FOR YOU

Samsonite Ongoing Backpack, PRO-DLX 6 Backpack
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, BZ2023F12A318 Kk
and December 31, 2022 2022F12A31HIEFE

The following table summarizes the consolidated financial results for TR E Z2023%F 12 A31H &2022F 12 A

the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. 31ALEFEMNGEMIEES -
Percentage
increase
Year ended December 31, (decrease) excl.
BZE12A31HLEE foreign currency
Percentage effects™
increase ; 5
(decrease)
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars, except per share data) 20 O
(UXBEETZS - FREEGHI) ANt
Net sales 34t 248 3,682.4 2,879.6 27.9% 30.0%
Gross profit £ 2,182.8 1,605.4 36.0% 38.4%
Gross profit margin EF|& 59.3% 55.8%
Operating profit® #% & 4 F@ 743.7 4921 51.1% 53.6%

Operating profit excluding total non-cash impairment
reversals and restructuring (reversals) charges® ©

KEERT (MR IEIR SR E R R R EA (D) BRQAE) 20 659.1 421.2 56.5% 59.4%
Profit for the year & A% F) 450.3 338.3 33.1% 34.2%
Profit attributable to the equity holders

A REHF B A PG 4 A 417.0 312.7 33.3% 34.6%
Adjusted Net Income® #& 25U A @ 392.4 296.0 32.5% 33.8%
Adjusted EBITDA® 4% F§#EBITDA® 709.3 472.3 50.2% 54.0%
Adjusted EBITDA margin® #&#8 % EBITDAF &6 19.3% 16.4%

Basic earnings per share

(Expressed in US Dollars per share)

BRERBN (KERETES) 0.289 0.218 32.7% 33.9%
Diluted earnings per share

(Expressed in US Dollars per share)

BREERN (KERETES) 0.287 0.217 32.1% 33.3%
Adjusted basic earnings per share®”

(Expressed in US Dollars per share)

KRARERERERNO (UERETZS) 0.272 0.206 31.9% 33.2%
Adjusted diluted earnings per share”

(Expressed in US Dollars per share)

KRAREREERNO (UERETZS) 0.270 0.206 31.3% 32.6%
Notes i

(1) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.

RTEERELEANEZ2INEERIFIFRSTETA  RUEHEB 2N AFE XERAELBLRFEEN TIERGTERMG -

(2) Results for the year ended December 31, 2023, included total 2023 Restructuring Reversals (as defined in Management Discussion and

Analysis — Other Expense) of US$0.6 million and total non-cash 2023 Impairment Reversals (as defined in Management Discussion and
Analysis — Impairment Reversals) of US$84.0 million. Results for the year ended December 31, 2022, included total 2022 Restructuring
Charges (as defined in Management Discussion and Analysis — Other Expense) of US$1.3 million and total non-cash 2022 Impairment
Reversals (as defined in Management Discussion and Analysis — Impairment Reversals) of US$72.2 million. See Impairment Reversals and
Other Expense, respectively, in Management Discussion and Analysis for further discussion.
HZE2023F12 831 HILFEMEBEAIFRTER0.6 B HEITM2023FEMAEL (FTEREBENMENIT — HhFX) RETEABI0BEET
K)IEIR £ 2023 FRERE (TR R EEBHNREST — FHERE) - BHZE2022F12 A1 BIEFEMNEEDIERTE R1.3BEXTH2022F 54
ER(EEREEENREST — HMFX) REFERT22HEBETHNIFRE2022FRERE (FERETEEN WA — RERE) - #—F
R RI2HER B R ES AR EED R EMREX -

(38) Operating profit excluding total non-cash impairment reversals and restructuring reversals (charges) is a non-IFRS measure and, as
calculated herein, may not be comparable to similarly named measures used by other companies and should not be considered comparable
to operating profit for the year in the Group’s consolidated statements of income.

EERF (MRIER S BERD REAEREE (BH) Q%) BIFIFRSTHETIR  ANFAFTENRMATBEMARAERAEUGENGIE TARTL
- BTERR AT AAREEGE N ERFHFNLEEEFIETE -

(4) Adjusted Net Income, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash
charges, along with their respective tax effects, that impact the Group’s reported profit attributable to the equity holders, which the Group
believes helps to give securities analysts, investors and other interested parties a more complete understanding of the Group’s underlying
financial performance. See Management Discussion and Analysis — Adjusted Net Income for a reconciliation from the Group’s profit
attributable to the equity holders to Adjusted Net Income.

CRHBEFWARIFEIFRSHETE - HMB Y EAEBERNBEFAARIEENNZERAS  BEREHEULETFEMIRCER ERASA
WRBTE)NPE  FNEBEBEHEDESFHITE  KREERAMASHERIE2E T BAEENEENBRER - BRAREERERE ARN
BT EFWA RN LR - F2HBTEENWESIT — LARFKRA -

(5) Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges.
The Group believes these measures provide additional information that is useful in gaining a more complete understanding of its operational
performance and of the underlying trends of its business. See Management Discussion and Analysis — Adjusted EBITDA for a reconciliation
from the Group’s profit for the year to Adjusted EBITDA.

KB EBITDAGIEIFRSEHE LA - HMifr 2K A - BAREBRURETEMIERSERNTE - AEEBEZSHIETASRHEEZEM
BRRERE THRAKLERRREXGHAFBE - RAAEEF NS RLAREBTDANEE - F2MEERMNWES T — LFHEEBITDA °

(6) Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by net sales.
EREBITDAF B R AIEIFRSETE LA » UG AKEBITDAR IS S FETE /1S -

(7) Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share, both non-IFRS measures, are calculated by dividing Adjusted Net Income by the weighted
average number of shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations, respectively.

BREBSREAREERNYRIEFRSIETA  RAKHEFRAS G ASRERREER A EHMANNETEROEEAEMRS -
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL RESULTS AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B REABER I BRHE

Financial Highlights

Net sales were US$3,682.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to US$2,879.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, an increase of 27.9% (+30.0% constant
currency). When excluding the Russia Net Sales (as defined in
Management Discussion and Analysis — Net Sales), consolidated
net sales increased by US$812.5 million, or 28.3% (+30.4%
constant currency), for the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group’s consolidated net sales, as reported, increased
by 1.2% (+11.5% constant currency) during the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31,
2019. When excluding the Russia and Speck Net Sales (as defined
in Management Discussion and Analysis — Net Sales), consolidated
net sales increased by 6.6% (+17.5% constant currency) for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019.

MBRE

- )

HZE2023F 1231 HIEFEMHEEFE
/#3,682.4BEBXT REIE20229412A4
31HIEFEM2,879.6 B EETLILMN27.9%
(RTEEEEEFTEANEMNS0.0%) © £
MR EENNHEFE (TEREEENS
BN — HEFHE) - HE2023F12 A31
AILFEMNGEHEE FHEREE20225F12
B31AIFEHEMNs12.58 E%7T828.3%
(IR TR R E AT H AP ING0.4%) o

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE - AEEFRZ
WMAEREHE FEBE22019F12A31H
IEFEEM.2% (BT EREETER
EAN11.5%) o &M 78 H7 &2 Speck Ay 88
EFHE(TEREEBIHEIN — HE
HEE)  BE2023F 12 A31 B It EE M
AEEFREEHE2019F 128310 IH4F
[EIEIN6.6% (1= A8 & E A H AIE 0
17.5%) °

-

Sammies by Samsonite Pop-up Store at Lotte Department Store, Sangin Branch in Seoul, South Korea
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Gross profit margin was 59.3% for the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to 55.8% for the year ended December 31,
2022. The increase in gross profit margin was driven mainly by
year-on-year gross profit margin improvements in all regions and
because Asia, the region with the highest gross profit margin,
increased its share of total net sales. This increase in gross profit
margin was also driven by an increased proportion of total net
sales attributable to the higher-margin Tumi brand, an increased
proportion of total net sales attributable to direct-to-consumer
net sales, and overall reduced promotional discounts. See
Management Discussion and Analysis — Cost of Sales and Gross
Profit for further discussion.

The Group spent US$241.5 million on marketing during the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$156.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, an increase of US$85.5 million,
or 54.8%. As a percentage of net sales, marketing expenses
increased by 120 basis points to 6.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2023, from 5.4% for the year ended December
31, 2022. The Group will continue to invest in marketing to drive
further net sales growth.

The Group reported an operating profit of US$743.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$492.1 million for
the previous year, an improvement of US$251.5 million, or 51.1%.

The Group had an operating profit of US$659.1 million™ for
the year ended December 31, 2023, when excluding the non-
cash 2023 Impairment Reversals and 2023 Restructuring
Reversals. In comparison, the Group had an operating profit of
US$421.2 million™ for the year ended December 31, 2022, when
excluding the non-cash 2022 Impairment Reversals and the 2022
Restructuring Charges. The improvement in operating profit year-
on-year was primarily due to improved net sales and gross profit
as well as disciplined expense management.

Profit for the year ended December 31, 2023, was US$450.3
million compared to US$338.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, an improvement of US$112.0 million, or
33.1%.

Profit attributable to the equity holders was US$417.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$312.7
million for the previous year, an improvement of US$104.3 million,
or 33.3%.

B ZE2023F12 A1 BIEFEMEFER
59.3% + M&E E20224F12 431 B L FE A
555.8%  EFE FATEHMRAIBAE
WEMNEHEFRE  ARENEESH
DM EAHE FEPAELE ERA - F
FE BRI ZERFEERSH Tumi @&
FEEEFEPNEL LA EEERE
BEENHEEFELAHEFERNEL E
FREHETINBERD - E—FilmaES
BERENREIT — HEKEAREF -

REEEHASTHEE2022F12A31H
IFFER156.08BETIEMs.568 &%
TL54.8% EH E2023F 12 31 H I
EM241 56 BEET - EHEMATIEHEFHE
MEDLHEE2022F12A31BIEFE
#15.4% EF120EE B E= & £ 2023512 A
31 IEFEHG6.6% o ANE B 5 44 48 1 4 5
EITIRE - UIEDHESFHE—PER -

HZE2023F12A31HILFE » KAEBZR
EESERT743.7TEBET  REFH492.1
AEETHNE251.588FTE51.1% °

HZE2023F12 A1 HIEFE « KM IE
IR & 2023 F R B 22023 F EHEM -
REESGFBEERF659.188ETY « 1§
b2 T - AR FEIR £ 2022 IR E R E &
20225 EMHER  AEEREZE20225F12
RB1BILFEHBREE 42128 E%
ToW o R MR F ok E E AN HEIFE
REFREARBRIEEERAIAMNE -

HE2023F12A31ALFENEFA
450.3B &% T - WEE2022F12H31H
IFFEM338.3EEETWMEI12.08EE
JL8833.1% °

HZE2023F12A31HILFE » REH
BEABIEREAN AT 0BEEET  BEF
HI312.7ABETHRZ104.38BETHK
33.3% °
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL RESULTS AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B REABER I BRHE

e Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, improved by US$237.0
million, or 50.2%, to US$709.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to US$472.3 million for the year

ended December 31, 2022.

e Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, was 19.3% for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 16.4% for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA
margin was primarily due to continued net sales improvement and
the increase in gross profit margin, as well as disciplined expense

management.

e Adjusted Net Income, a non-IFRS measure, increased by US$96.3
million, or 32.5%, to US$392.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to US$296.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The improvement in Adjusted Net
Income was primarily due to improved net sales and gross profit,

as well as disciplined expense management.

&

Carbon Footprint
TOTAL IMPACT: 18 kg CO?

JADE 24 LT

26:

e ®
oo Mgy
e |
L LT

Water Pollution
TOTAL IMPACT: .003 kg N

¥ REDUCED: 17%

Blue Water Consumption
TOTALIMPACT: 18 gal

¥ REDUCED: 17.4%

Gregory Jade 24 LT Backpack
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On June 21, 2023, the Company refinanced its senior credit
facilities. The refinancing provided for a new US$800.0 million
senior secured term loan A facility, a new US$600.0 million senior
secured term loan B facility and a new US$850.0 million revolving
credit facility. In the refinancing, the Company reduced its
outstanding debt by approximately US$65.0 million and extended
the maturities of the term loan A facility and revolving credit facility
by approximately three years and of the term loan B facility by
approximately five years (see Management Discussion and Analysis
— Indebtedness for further discussion).

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had US$716.6 million in
cash and cash equivalents and outstanding financial debt of
US$1,824.0 million (excluding deferred financing costs of US$17.0
million), resulting in a net debt position of US$1,107.4 million
compared to a net debt position of US$1,383.7 million as of
December 31, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group delivered
Free Cash Flow? of US$284.5 million compared to US$83.5
million for the previous year, an increase of US$201.0 million, or
240.6%.

Total liquidity® as of December 31, 2023, was US$1,562.0 million
compared to US$1,481.3 million as of December 31, 2022.

The Company has presented certain non-IFRS measures in the
Summary Financial Results and Financial Highlights above because
each of these measures provides additional information that

management believes is useful for securities analysts, investors and

other interested parties to gain a more complete understanding of

the Group’s operational performance and of the trends impacting its
business. These non-IFRS measures, as calculated herein, may not
be comparable to similarly named measures used by other companies
and should not be considered comparable to IFRS measures. Non-
IFRS measures have limitations as an analytical tool and should not

be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, an analysis

of the Group’s financial results as reported under IFRS Accounting
Standards.

Notes 7t

M

@

See reconciliations in Management Discussion and Analysis.
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Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash generated from (used in) operating activities less (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment and
software (“total capital expenditures”) and (i) principal payments on lease liabilities (each as set forth on the consolidated statements of cash

flows).

ERRERBER/CLIZDME (A REFERENBEDE  BERRXBARKBRMAER ([EARAR]) REBEEENASMNK

(PRI ARSRERA)

Total liquidity is calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents per the consolidated statements of financial position plus available

capacity under the revolving credit facility.

RPETRERRGAFHRREZANR S IRESEY - MERBREERBATAIESHRERMRELMTE -
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ER®RE

We are extremely pleased with Samsonite’s performance in 2023.
During the year, we significantly increased our investment in marketing
to capitalize on the ongoing recovery and growth in travel and tourism
around the world, and delivered remarkable gains in profitability,
driven by strong net sales increases across all our regions and core
brands.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group recorded
consolidated net sales of US$3,682.4 million, an increase of 30.4%"
@ year-on-year. Compared to 2022, net sales in Asia rose by 61.7%"
in 2023, driven by an 88.4%" increase in net sales in China due to
the recovery in domestic travel following the lifting of COVID-related
restrictions at the beginning of the year. Our other regions also
delivered strong growth in 2023, with net sales in North America,
Europe and Latin America rising by 13.7%", 16.8%" @ and 25.7%"
year-on-year, respectively. During 2023 net sales of the Group’s
core brands Samsonite, Tumi and American Tourister increased by
30.1%", 35.8%" and 28.7%" year-on-year, respectively, reflecting
strong demand driven by the continued recovery and growth in travel.

14 Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023
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Samsonite’s 2023 net sales surpassed 2019 by 17.5%( @ @ g
significant improvement compared to 2022 when net sales decreased
by 10.4%" @-© versus 2019. Net sales in Asia improved by 20.1%"
during 2023 compared to 2019, with net sales in China fully
recovering to 2019 levels™. This represents a meaningful improvement
versus 2022 when net sales were down by 25.0%" in Asia overall,
and by 47.0%" in China, when compared to 2019. During 2023 net
sales in North America increased by 2.3%" © (and by 8.0%" © when
adjusting for the discontinuation of unprofitable third-party brand sales
on the ebags e-commerce platform in 2020) while net sales in Europe
and Latin America increased by 26.3%" @ and 71.6%"", respectively,
when compared to 2019.

Our gross profit margin rose to a record high of 59.3% in 2023, 350
basis points higher than the 55.8% achieved in 2022, driven mainly
by year-on-year gross profit margin improvements in all regions
and because Asia, the region with the highest gross profit margin,
increased its share of total net sales. This increase also was driven by
higher proportions of total net sales of the higher-margin Tumi brand
and of our direct-to-consumer channel, and overall lower promotional
discounts. The Group’s 2023 gross profit margin increased by 390
basis points compared to the 55.4% reported in 2019.

MIAE2023FMIHE FHER2019FER
17.5%0. @ @ [7 12022 4F §§4 & F 5EE: 2019
FRMA10.4%0 @ ©  RIFFEEHE - 72023
F o ENEEEFER2019FHE20.1%"
i A B ) R RE R 2 IR B B 2019 FF Ry K
Mo SFHE2022F AL KB ERE + B R MRS
N B 6 R E2019FE D B T F£25.0% M
N 47.0%M o FA20234F » dEEMAHE FER
20194F4E 112.3%" © (§£2020 5 Z IE L ebags
ETHEFaHETRINE = REED
FARZAIEING.0% M @)  MEUMN &AL T EM
K8 & F B RIE 2019 F 7 51l N26.3% " @ &
71.6%! o

20234  HBMWEFIE A E59.3%HFEF
e B2022FH55.8%m H350AHEE - &
FTERRAMENENEGRFRS - FAF
FHEEaN RNt EEAEESFERMEL
EF o ZEENZERFBRESHTumi @IS
MEEEREEERBAAHEE FETMNLL
LA RIBHEFTNERER D c REE2023FMFE
TR 2019F 2 R H55.4% 1 K390 /@ E 2 -

Gross profit margin rose to a record high of 59.3% in 2023 while fixed SG&A expenses improved to
22.7% of net sales. A combination of strong net sales, gross profit margin improvements and disciplined
expense management helped the Group deliver a record high Adjusted EBITDA margin of 19.3% in

2023.

R2023%F + EFE A EL9.3%MNELHm * METESGRAR T NEEHE FREMN22.7% ° HE F5
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWE

We substantially increased our investment in marketing to US$241.5
million in 2023, an increase of 54.8% from the US$156.0 million in
2022, and 27.4% higher than the US$189.5 million spent in 2019. As
a percentage of net sales, marketing expenses increased to 6.6% of
net sales in 2023, compared to 5.4% in 2022 and 5.2% in 2019.

At the same time, we remained vigilant in controlling our fixed selling,
general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses. As a percentage of net
sales, fixed SG&A expenses improved to 22.7% in 2023, 140 basis
points lower than the 24.1% in 2022, and 460 basis points lower than
the 27.3% in 2019.

This combination of strong net sales and gross profit margin
improvements with disciplined expense management helped the
Group to significantly enhance its profitability: our Adjusted EBITDA®
increased to US$709.3 million in 2023, US$237.0 million higher than
the US$472.3 million recorded in 2022; our Adjusted EBITDA margin®
expanded to a record high of 19.3% in 2023, a 290-basis point
improvement compared to the 16.4% reported in 2022; and finally,
our Adjusted Net Income® grew by US$96.3 million to US$392.4
million in 2023 from US$296.0 million in 2022.

Our 2023 performance compared to 2019 is just as noteworthy. For
the year ended December 31, 2023, Samsonite’s Adjusted EBITDA
margin® expanded by 580 basis points compared to the 13.5%
reported in 2019, while Adjusted EBITDA“ and Adjusted Net Income®
increased by US$217.1 million™ and US$176.5 million®™, respectively,
on reported net sales that were only US$43.6 million® higher. This
remarkable improvement from 2019 highlights the Group’s strong
operating leverage and fundamentally enhanced margin profile due to
a highly efficient operating expense structure.

We continued to prudently manage our cash and debt. The Group
generated Free Cash Flow® of US$284.5 million in 2023, an increase
of US$201.0 million, or 240.6%, compared to US$83.5 million in

It has always been a cornerstone of Samsonite’s strategy
to invest heavily in research and development as well as in
marketing, and it is this combination of product innovation
and extensive brand communication that drive our success in
the global marketplace. | am confident that we will continue
to deliver outstanding products to consumers and that will
successfully capture the opportunities presented by the
ongoing growth in travel and tourism around the world.

RARBEMABEMITH RN FERENESL - BBES
EmAFMEZREERE  #BRMEETEOKRY - AAF
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BRI 5 M B S A I R ARV IB
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2022. We repaid a total of US$125.9 million of outstanding borrowings
under our senior credit facilities during 2023, thereby reducing our
net debt to US$1.1 billion® as of December 31, 2023, compared
to US$1.4 billion® at the end of 2022. The reduction in net debt,
together with the strong increase in Adjusted EBITDA®, enabled the
Group to reduce its net leverage ratio" to 1.53x as of December 31,
2023, a meaningful improvement compared to 2.85x at the end of
2022, and the lowest since we acquired Tumi in 2016. At the same
time, we continued to maintain substantial liquidity of US$1.6 billion™
as of December 31, 2023.

We are confident Samsonite has the financial capacity and flexibility
to return cash to our shareholders while we continue to invest in long-
term growth and deleverage our balance sheet. As such, the Board
decided to resume annual cash distributions in 2024, recommending
US$150.0 million to be paid to the Company’s shareholders. This
represents an increase of US$25.0 million, or 20.0%, compared to the
cash distribution of US$125.0 million paid in 2019.

| would like to express my appreciation of the strong leadership of
Kyle, our CEO, and also to thank our team members and business
partners around the globe for their hard work and dedication in
delivering a set of stellar results for 2023. | would also like to express
my appreciation for the support and wise counsel of my fellow Board
members. Everyone’s dedication and contribution has helped propel
Samsonite to new heights and reinforce our industry leadership.

Looking ahead, global travel and tourism is expected to see
steady growth in 202402 driven by resilient consumer demand. It
has always been a cornerstone of Samsonite’s strategy to invest
heavily in research and development as well as in marketing, and
it is this combination of product innovation and extensive brand
communication that drive our success in the global marketplace.
We have a strong new product pipeline, which we intend to support
with increased investment in marketing, targeting marketing spend
of approximately 7.0% of net sales in 2024. At the same time, we
will continue to limit promotional discounts to increase gross profits,
while maintaining disciplined fixed expense management to generate
operating leverage and grow our bottom line.

ams&nite

b
. |
¥
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New Year, New Journey

Samsonite C-Lite Spinner
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWE

| am confident that with our talented and dedicated teams, our

portfolio of leading brands, extensive global distribution and

sourcing infrastructure, together with the steady implementation of

our sustainability program, we will continue to deliver outstanding

products to consumers and that will successfully capture the

opportunities presented by the ongoing growth in travel and tourism

around the world.
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Timothy Charles Parker

Chairman
March 13, 2024

Notes

M

18

Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated
by applying the average exchange rate of the year under comparison to current
year local currency results.

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities in Russia
due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group subsequently completed the
disposition of its Russian operations on July 1, 2022. As such, when comparing
the Group’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, with its net sales
for the years ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2019, net sales of
the Group’s former Russian operations in the respective years under comparison
are excluded.

On July 30, 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company sold Speculative
Product Design, LLC (“Speck”), including the Speck brand. As such, when
comparing the Group’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, with its
net sales for the year ended December 31, 2019, net sales of Speck in 2019 are
excluded.

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of
intangible assets (“Adjusted EBITDA”), a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect
of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges.
The Group believes these measures provide additional information that is useful
in gaining a more complete understanding of its operational performance and of
the underlying trends of its business.

Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing Adjusted
EBITDA by net sales.

Adjusted Net Income, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number
of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges, along with
their respective tax effects, that impact the Group’s reported profit attributable
to the equity holders, which the Group believes helps to give securities analysts,
investors and other interested parties a more complete understanding of the
Group’s underlying financial performance.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group reported net sales, Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income of US$3,638.8 million, US$492.2 million and
US$215.9 million, respectively.

Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash generated from (used in) operating
activities less (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment and software (“total
capital expenditures”) and (ii) principal payments on lease liabilities (each as set
forth on the consolidated statements of cash flows).
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©)

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
US$716.6 million and outstanding financial debt of US$1,824.0 million (excluding
deferred financing costs of US$17.0 million), resulting in a net debt position of
US$1,107.4 million. In comparison, as of December 31, 2022, the Group had
cash and cash equivalents of US$635.9 million and outstanding financial debt
of US$2,019.6 million (excluding deferred financing costs of US$7.8 million),
resulting in a net debt position of US$1,383.7 million.

(10) The total net leverage ratio is calculated by dividing total consolidated net debt

minus the aggregate amount of unrestricted cash by the consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA for the trailing four fiscal quarters on a pro forma basis as defined in the
credit agreement.

(11) Total liquidity is calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents per the

consolidated statements of financial position plus available capacity under
the Group’s revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2023, the Group had
total liquidity of US$1,562.0 million, comprising cash and cash equivalents of
US$716.6 million and US$845.4 million available to be borrowed on the Group’s
revolving credit facility.

(12) The United Nations World Tourism Organization (“UNWTO”) estimates that

international tourism ended 2023 at 88% of pre-pandemic levels, with an
estimated 1.3 billion international arrivals, and expects international tourism to
fully recover to pre-pandemic levels in 2024, with initial estimates suggesting
growth of 2% above 2019 levels. (Source: UNWTO World Tourism Barometer,
January 2024).

hs &

American Tourister Rudy Backpack, Maxivo and Trigard Spinner
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S STATEMENT

THREBRE

2023 marked another impressive year for Samsonite. We achieved
outstanding results, and we are well positioned to continue to outpace
the market backed by our portfolio of leading brands, unrivalled global
sourcing and distribution infrastructure, and ability to invest in product
innovation and marketing. During the year, as people all over the
world embraced travel in earnest, international tourism recovered to
an estimated 88% of pre-pandemic levels, driving strong demand for
our products. Supported by strategic investments in marketing, we
delivered strong year-on-year net sales gains across all regions and
core brands and significantly enhanced profitability. During 2023 the
Group registered strong double-digit net sales growth compared to
2022@ ©® and 2019@- ©® @ while its gross profit margin and Adjusted
EBITDA margin® both reached record highs, reflecting our efficient
cost structure and the increased net sales contribution from our
higher-margin Asia region and Tumi brand.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group registered
consolidated net sales of US$3,682.4 million, an increase of US$812.5
million®, or 30.4%® ©, year-on-year. We made excellent progress
across all regions in 2023, with year-on-year net sales increases of
61.7%9 in Asia, 13.7%® in North America, 16.8%?: ® in Europe, and
25.7%@ in Latin America.
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Compared to 2019, the Group’s net sales for 2023 increased by
17.5%@ © @ a notable improvement compared to 2022 when the
Group’s net sales decreased by 10.4%®@ © @ versus 2019. This
performance was driven by Asia whose net sales increased by 20.1%?
in 2023 when compared to 2019. Compared to 2019, Samsonite’s
net sales in North America during 2023 increased by 2.3%® @, and by
8.0%® “ when further adjusting for the discontinuation of unprofitable
third-party brand sales on the ebags e-commerce platform in 2020.
Net sales in Europe and Latin America increased by 26.3%? © and
71.6%% in 2023, respectively, when compared to 2019.

Our core brands all achieved strong net sales gains driven by the
continued recovery and growth in leisure and business travel globally
and the resulting increased demand for our products. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, net sales of the Samsonite, Tumi
and American Tourister brands increased by 30.1%®, 35.8%? and
28.7%? year-on-year, respectively.

We also made significant progress in enhancing Samsonite’s direct-
to-consumer (DTC)® presence. During the year ended December 31,
2023, the Group added 96 company-operated retail stores, partially
offset by the permanent closure of 29 company-operated retail stores.
This resulted in a net increase of 67 company-operated retail stores
in 2023, compared to a net reduction of 20 company-operated retail
stores in 2022. The total number of company-operated retail stores
was 1,052 as of December 31, 2023, compared to 985 at the end
of 2022. During 2023 DTC retail net sales increased by US$253.0
million, or 34.3%?, to US$1,035.4 million (representing 28.1% of net
sales), compared to US$782.4 million (representing 27.2% of net
sales) in 2022. Compared to 2019, the Group’s 2023 DTC retail net
sales increased by 24.4%®- ©, despite a significantly lower retail store
count versus the 1,294 company-operated retail stores at the end of
201907,

2023 marked another impressive year for Samsonite.
Driven by the continued recovery and growth in leisure
and business travel globally and the resulting increased
demand for the Group’s products, we achieved
outstanding performance, and we are well positioned to
continue to outpace the market. During 2023, the Group
registered strong double-digit net sales growth compared
to 2022 and 2019, while its gross profit margin and
Adjusted EBITDA margin both reached record highs.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT
THEARRE

The Group’s DTC e-commerce channel also experienced strong
growth, with net sales increasing by US$97.1 million, or 34.2%?, to
US$398.5 million (representing 10.8% of net sales) in 2023 compared
to US$301.4 million (representing 10.5% of net sales) in 2022.
Adjusting for the discontinuation of unprofitable third-party brand
sales on the ebags e-commerce platform in 2020, the Group’s DTC
e-commerce net sales for 2023 increased by 39.6%? © compared to

2019.

Overall, for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s DTC
net sales increased by US$350.0 million, or 34.2%®, to US$1,433.9
million (representing 38.9% of net sales) from US$1,083.8 million
(representing 37.6% of net sales) in 2022.
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With strong profits and prudent cash management, Samsonite generated strong Free Cash Flow
in 2023, which was partially utilized to repay US$125 9 million of outstanding borrowings and
reduce our net debt to US$1.1 billion from US$1.4 billion at the end of 2022. Our net leverage

ratio significantly improved to 1.53x as of December 31,
2022.
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American Tourister Find Fun Everywhere Brand Campaign Launch Event in Taiwan
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, Samsonite’s gross profit
increased by US$577.3 million, or 36.0%, to US$2,182.8 million from
US$1,605.4 million in 2022. Gross profit margin expanded by 350
basis points from 55.8% in 2022 to 59.3% in 2023, a record high. The
increase in gross profit margin during 2023 was driven mainly by year-
on-year gross profit margin improvements in all regions and by Asia,
the region with the highest gross profit margin, increasing its share of
total net sales to 38.8% in 2023 from 31.8% in 2022. The increase in
gross profit margin was also driven by the higher-margin Tumi brand
increasing its share of total net sales, an increased proportion of
total net sales attributable to the DTC channel, and overall reduced
promotional discounts. The Group’s 2023 gross profit margin was up
by 390 basis points compared to the 55.4% in 2019.

We strategically increased our investment in marketing in 2023 to
capitalize on the recovery and growth in travel worldwide. Marketing
expenses were US$241.5 million during the year ended December
31, 2023, an increase of US$85.5 million, or 54.8%, compared to the
US$156.0 million spent in 2022; and an increase of US$52.0 million,
or 27.4%, compared to the US$189.5 million spent in 2019. Marketing
expenses made up 6.6% of net sales in 2023, considerably higher
compared to 5.4% of net sales in 2022 and 5.2% in 2019. We intend
to increase our investment in marketing to approximately 7.0% of net
sales in 2024 to drive further growth.

The team remained disciplined in managing fixed selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses. While net sales rose by US$802.8
million to US$3,682.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
fixed SG&A expenses only increased by US$140.7 million to US$836.0
million, year-on-year. As a result, fixed SG&A expenses amounted to
22.7% of net sales in 2023, 140 basis points lower than the 24.1% in
2022, and 460 basis points lower in 2023 than the 27.3% in 2019.

Consequently, for the year ended December 31, 2023, Samsonite’s
Adjusted EBITDA margin® expanded to a record 19.3%, surpassing
the 16.4% in 2022 by 290 basis points, and 580 basis points higher
than the 13.5% in 2019, even as the Group significantly increased
its investment in marketing in 2023 by 120 basis points and by 140
basis points compared to 2022 and 2019, respectively. The Group’s
Adjusted EBITDA® rose to US$709.3 million in 2023, an increase of
US$237.0 million compared to 2022, and US$217.1 million higher
than 2019; and its Adjusted Net Income® increased to US$392.4
million in 2023, up US$96.3 million from US$296.0 million in 2022,
and an improvement of US$176.5 million compared to the US$215.9
million in 2019. This remarkable improvement in profitability compared
to both 2022 and 2019 highlights the Group’s strong operating
leverage and fundamentally enhanced margin profile.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT
TTHRERE

The Group continued to optimize its working capital, particularly
inventories, to support net sales growth. At US$695.9 million as of
December 31, 2023, inventories were US$44.5 million lower than the
US$740.4 million as of June 30, 2023, and just US$8.2 million higher
than the US$687.6 million at the end of 2022, as the Group gradually
reduced inventories with continued strong net sales and tapering
product purchases during the second half of 2023, while maintaining
a healthy level of inventories to meet ongoing growth in demand. Net
working capital was US$515.1 million as of December 31, 2023, an
increase of US$119.8 million from US$395.3 million at the end of
2022. However, with our strong net sales performance, net working
capital efficiency"™® was a healthy 14.0% as of December 31, 20283,
and we will continue to prudently manage working capital in 2024.

As the business recovers, we are prudently increasing our spending
on total capital expenditures towards retail expansion in key markets
and refreshing our retail store fleet after a few years of tight control.
The Group’s total capital expenditures increased by US$47.3 million to
US$110.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared
to US$62.8 million in 2022, primarily related to investments in new
retail locations, refurbishments of certain existing retail locations,
software purchases and investments in machinery and equipment to
support new product innovation. The Group intends to continue to
spend on total capital expenditures to upgrade and expand its retail
store fleet, as well as to invest in core strategic functions to support
continued sales growth.

With strong profits and prudent cash management, Samsonite
generated strong Free Cash Flow(? of US$284.5 million during the
year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of US$201.0 million, or
240.6%, compared to US$83.5 million in 2022. We utilized part of the
cash generated to further reduce our debt, repaying US$125.9 million
of outstanding borrowings during 2023, thereby finishing 2023 with
net debt of US$1.1 billion®, compared to US$1.4 billion® at the end
of 2022.

The reduction in net debt, together with the strong growth in
Adjusted EBITDA®, enabled the Group to significantly lower its net
leverage ratio™ to 1.53x as of December 31, 2023, a meaningful
improvement compared to 2.85x at the end of 2022, and the lowest
level since our acquisition of Tumi in 2016. With substantial liquidity
of US$1.6 billion™ as of December 31, 2023, we are confident that
Samsonite has the financial capacity and flexibility to drive sustainable
and profitable long-term growth, capitalizing on our significant
competitive advantages, including our diverse geographic footprint,
complementary brands, and commitment to sustainability and
innovation.

Considering Samsonite’s strong performance and financial position,
the Board decided to resume annual cash distributions in 2024,
recommending that US$150.0 million to be paid to the Company’s
shareholders. This represents an increase of US$25.0 million, or
20.0%, compared to the cash distribution of US$125.0 million paid in
2019.
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We intensified our efforts to embed sustainability into the business
in 2023. We welcomed Marina Dirks, our new VP, Global Head of
Sustainability, and she has since added two members to her team,
demonstrating Samsonite’s commitment to sustainability. During
2023, we also made significant progress on “Our Responsible
Journey” under our “Product”, “Planet” and “People” pillars. Under
the Product pillar, we increased the share of Samsonite’s net sales
that came from products made at least in part from recycled material
to approximately 34%, up from about 23% in 2022. Under the Planet
pillar, we achieved 100% renewable electricity usage in all our own
operations, two years earlier than our 2025 target date. Under the
People pillar, in 2023 37% of our employees at the director level and
above were women, up from 36% in 2022. These are just some of
our accomplishments in 2023, and | encourage you to turn to our
2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report, to be published
in April at the same time as our Annual Report, for more details. We
will continue to advance Samsonite’s “Our Responsible Journey”
sustainability initiatives, leveraging our scale to lead the transformation
of the luggage industry to become more sustainable.

Looking to 2024, global travel and tourism growth is expected to
remain healthy. For instance, the UNWTO expects international tourism
to fully recover to pre-pandemic levels in 2024, with initial estimates
suggesting growth of 2% above 2019, compared to an estimated 88%
recovery in 20237, Asia is expected to continue to see robust travel
growth in 2024, as outbound travel from China continues to improve.
In markets that reopened earlier, including North America and Europe,
travel is expected to see steady growth closer to historical trends,
with relatively stronger prospects in Europe from the ongoing return of
Chinese travelers.

We will continue to invest in our core brands in 2024, focusing on
product innovation, sustainability initiatives and further enhancements
to our global retail store network, all supported by increased
investment in marketing. We are targeting 2024 marketing spend of
approximately 7.0% of net sales, and we are confident that, with the
amazing new products and exciting advertising campaigns planned for
2024, the Group will continue to deliver robust net sales growth, with
strength in the higher-margin Asia region and Tumi brand.

We will continue to be vigilant in limiting promotional discounts to
sustain our improved gross profit margin. We will also maintain
discipline in managing expenses, especially our fixed SG&A expenses,
to drive operating leverage and deliver sustained bottom-line growth.
At the same time, we will maintain focus on cash management
to sustain strong Free Cash Flow(? generation, further enhancing
Samsonite’s flexibility in capital allocation to continue to deleverage
our balance sheet, invest in organic growth, and return cash to our
shareholders.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT
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Looking to 2024, global travel and tourism growth is expected to remain healthy. We will continue to
invest in our core brands in 2024, focusing on product innovation, sustainability initiatives and further
enhancements to our global retail store network. We are confident that the Group will continue to deliver
robust net sales growth and be vigilant in limiting promotional discounts to sustain our improved gross
profit margin. At the same time, we will continue to focus on cash management, deleveraging our

balance sheet, investing in organic growth, and returning cash to our shareholders.
R 20245 - FAFH R IR E RE K E @ FREIE R - 72024F - HATHEBRE N K MZ O m

le EITNERAR  ATBERRE SR RE— S MRRMOD T E EELE -
TR DRI R AR - A B
CEEAERAERL  RERAREEURABRRIELRSER -

BERRYHIHEFE
BEINREER

In closing, | would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to our country,
regional, brand and corporate teams, as well as our business partners.
Their hard work during the past several years has fundamentally
transformed the profitability of the Samsonite business and helped
make 2023 so successful. | would also like to express my deepest
appreciation to our Chairman, Tim Parker, and our Board, for their
counsel and support. As we set our sights on 2024, | am confident
that by continuing to treat all stakeholders with fairness and respect
following our time-honored guiding principle, “Do unto others as

you would have them do unto you,” we will continue to build on our

success. | am confident we can continue to grow Samsonite’s net
sales and profitability, while realizing our ambition to become the
world’s most sustainable lifestyle bag and travel luggage company.

Kyle Francis Gendreau
Chief Executive Officer
March 13, 2024

Notes
(1) Source: United Nations World Tourism Organization (“‘UNWTQO”) World Tourism
Barometer, January 2024.

(2) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated
by applying the average exchange rate of the year under comparison to current
year local currency results.

(8) On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities in Russia
due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group subsequently completed the
disposition of its Russian operations on July 1, 2022. As such, when comparing
the Group’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, with its net sales
for the years ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2019, net sales of
the Group’s former Russian operations in the respective years under comparison
are excluded.
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On July 30, 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company sold Speculative
Product Design, LLC (“Speck”), including the Speck brand. As such, when
comparing the Group’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, with its
net sales for the year ended December 31, 2019, net sales of Speck in 2019 are
excluded.

Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible assets
(“Adjusted EBITDA”) by net sales.

DTC, or direct-to-consumer, includes bricks-and-mortar retail and e-commerce
sites operated by the Group.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 1,052 company-operated retail stores
worldwide. In comparison, as of December 31, 2019, the Group had 1,294
company-operated retail stores worldwide, including 45 company-operated retail
stores in Russia.

Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of
costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges. The Group
believes these measures provide additional information that is useful in gaining
a more complete understanding of its operational performance and of the
underlying trends of its business.

Adjusted Net Income, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number
of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges, along with
their respective tax effects, that impact the Group’s reported profit attributable
to the equity holders, which the Group believes helps to give securities analysts,
investors and other interested parties a more complete understanding of the
Group's underlying financial performance.

(10) Net working capital efficiency is calculated as net working capital (the sum of

inventories and trade and other receivables, net minus accounts payable) divided
by annualized net sales.

(11) For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group spent US$99.3 million for

the purchase of property, plant and equipment and US$10.8 million for software
purchases. In comparison, for the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group
spent US$51.6 million for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and
US$11.2 million for software purchases.

(12) Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash generated from (used in) operating

activities less (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment and software (“total
capital expenditures”) and (i) principal payments on lease liabilities (each as set
forth on the consolidated statements of cash flows).

(13) As of December 31, 2023, the Group had US$716.6 million in cash and cash

equivalents and outstanding financial debt of US$1,824.0 million (excluding
deferred financing costs of US$17.0 million), resulting in a net debt position of
US$1,107.4 million. In comparison, as of December 31, 2022, the Group had
cash and cash equivalents of US$635.9 million and outstanding financial debt
of US$2,019.6 million (excluding deferred financing costs of US$7.8 million),
resulting in a net debt position of US$1,383.7 million.

(14) The total net leverage ratio is calculated by dividing total consolidated net debt

minus the aggregate amount of unrestricted cash by the consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA for the trailing four fiscal quarters on a pro forma basis as defined in the
credit agreement.

(15) Total liquidity is calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents per the

consolidated statements of financial position plus available capacity under
the Group’s revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2023, the Group had
total liquidity of US$1,562.0 million, comprising cash and cash equivalents of
US$716.6 million and US$845.4 million available to be borrowed on the Group’s
revolving credit facility.

(10)

(1

(12)

(13)

(14
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With a heritage dating back to 1910, Samsonite International S.A.
(the “Company”), together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the
“Group”), is a leader in the global lifestyle bag industry and is the
world’s best-known and largest travel luggage company. The Group
is principally engaged in the design, manufacture, sourcing and
distribution of luggage, business and computer bags, outdoor and
casual bags and travel accessories throughout the world, primarily
under the Samsonite®, Tumi®, American Tourister®, Gregory®, High
Sierra®, Lipault® and Hartmann® brand names as well as other owned
and licensed brand names.

The Group sells its products in over 100 countries through a variety of
wholesale distribution channels, through its company-operated retail
stores and through e-commerce.

Management Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction
with the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”).

The Company has presented certain non-IFRS measures within
Management Discussion and Analysis because each of these
measures provides additional information that management believes
is useful for securities analysts, investors and other interested parties
to gain a more complete understanding of the Group’s operational
performance and of the trends impacting its business. These non-
IFRS measures, as calculated herein, may not be comparable to
similarly named measures used by other companies and should not
be considered comparable to IFRS measures. Non-IFRS measures
have limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered
in isolation from, or as a substitute for, an analysis of the Group’s
financial results as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

Net Sales

The Group’s net sales increased by US$802.8 million, or 27.9%
(+30.0% constant currency), during the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group’s
net sales improvement was driven mainly by the continued recovery
and growth in leisure and business travel and the resulting increased
demand for the Group’s products.
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Net Sales by Region

20 B 5 B 8 H 4 L
Asia T2 North America 3t il
Europe B Latin America £z T M
EUROPE
B

When evaluating the results for the year ended December 31, 2023,
certain factors impact comparability to the results for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and for the year ended December 31, 2019,
mainly the suspension and subsequent disposition of operations
in Russia and the sale of Speck. On March 14, 2022, the Group
suspended all commercial activities in Russia due to the armed conflict
in Ukraine, and the Group subsequently completed the disposition of
its Russian operations on July 1, 2022, which impacts comparability
to both the year ended December 31, 2022, and the year ended
December 31, 2019. On July 30, 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company sold Speck, a designer and distributor of slim protective
cases for personal electronic devices that were marketed under the
Speck® brand, thereby affecting comparability to the year ended
December 31, 2019.

In the discussions that follow, where noted, net sales results exclude
(i) the net sales of the Group’s former Russian operations for the years
ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2019 (the “Russia Net
Sales”) and (ii) the net sales of Speck for the year ended December
31, 2019 (the “Speck Net Sales” and together with the Russia Net
Sales, the “Russia and Speck Net Sales”).

When excluding the Russia Net Sales, consolidated net sales
increased by US$812.5 million, or 28.3% (+30.4% constant currency),
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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The Group’s consolidated net sales, as reported, increased by #E2023F 12 A31HILFE - AEET2 R
1.2% (+11.5% constant currency) during the year ended December M4 R4 HE FHEEHE=2019F12A831 81t
31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. When  E[E#hN1.2% (3% 7 8 fE = A=+ & 813
excluding the Russia and Speck Net Sales, consolidated net sales  11.5%) o 48 Hfif B 2 HT & Speck H) 84 & H %8 -
increased by 6.6% (+17.5% constant currency) for the year ended E Z2023F12A31AILFEMGRAIHE F5E
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, ##EHZE2019F 12 A31HIFFEEMN6.6% (1%
2019. TR R A HAIEIN17.5%) °

Net Sales by Region RWES S HHEFE

The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales by region for ~ TXR&Z&E Z2023%12 431 H K%2022412 A
the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, both 31 B IFEE gt @ S| D E FEERAM - U@
in absolute terms and as a percentage of total net sales. HERMLEHEEFEAD IR -

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2028 vs. 2022

2023 F F12022 F LH 8

Percentage

Percentage increase (decrease)

Percentage Percentage increase excl. foreign

of net sales of net sales (decrease) currency effects®

Net sales by region: US$ millions $HEFHE  USS$ millions HEFH & Cid) 0
R [RE| 5 R SHEFFED BEBER BoL EE- = Aankt

Asia Z2M 1,427.8 38.8% 916.4 31.8% 55.8% 61.7%

North America 3t 2= 1,267.2 34.4% 1,117.3 38.8% 13.4% 13.7%

Europe® M@ 776.9 21.1% 675.7 23.5% 15.0% 15.1%

Latin America f T ZN 209.5 5.7% 168.8 5.9% 24.1% 25.7%

Corporate 1% 1.1 0.0% 1.5 0.0% (27.2)% (27.2)%

Net sales® 4 & /F 5 3,682.4 100.0% 2,879.6 100.0% 27.9% 30.0%

Notes 5t

(1) The geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the country/territory from which its products were sold and does not
necessarily indicate the country/territory in which its end customers were actually located.

AEEHEFENMPBUESH —BRREEEERNER MR  TFA—ERKKEEFERAEHER /& -

(2) On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group
subsequently completed the disposition of its Russian operations on July 1, 2022. When excluding the Russia Net Sales, net sales in Europe
increased by US$110.9 million, or 16.7% (+16.8% constant currency), for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the previous
year.

HRERMERRETR  AEER2022F3A 4B EEERBETNMAEEES - EASERER2022F7 A1 AR HELMBHES - &
MR RETWIHE F8 - BIE2023F12 A31 HIEFERMNNIHE FEREFEIN10.98BET16.7% (R T EREEAFREMN16.8%)

(38) When excluding the Russia Net Sales, consolidated net sales increased by US$812.5 million, or 28.3% (+30.4% constant currency), for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the previous year.

BMRRAENNHEFHE  BZE2023F 12 A1 B IEFENGAHE FRREFLNG12.5 8 EETk28.3% (IR % [E = EXEFH A5 hn
30.4%) °

(4) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BIBERAEAE2IIMEERIFIFRSFTET A  RUBHER 2N AFEEEARMELALRFEEN T HEXRGTEMRS -
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Brands A hE

Net Sales by Brand
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales by brand for ~ T&XR&F|&E2023%F12 431 H %2022 12 5
the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, both 31 H It FE L RIEEI D EHE FEEAM - LUE
in absolute terms and as a percentage of total net sales. HERGBHEEFEADLIE -

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE

2023 vs. 2022

2023 F £12022 F Lr 82
Percentage
increase (decrease)
Percentage excl. foreign
Percentage Percentage increase currency effeg:ts”
of net sales of net sales (decrease) iR BE 222 HY
Net sales by brand: US$ millions SHEFEHE  USS milions HEFE #hn OB ) 0 Cmid>)
bogerel ok baNe ok 1 EY-E Aotk EE-E Aok B ABo®
Samsonite ¥ 7k 1,849.0 50.2% 1,444.3 50.2% 28.0% 30.1%
Tumi 878.6 23.9% 654.2 22.7% 34.3% 35.8%
American Tourister 654.5 17.8% 519.4 18.0% 26.0% 28.7%
Other E At 300.3 8.1% 261.7 9.1% 14.8% 17.0%
Net sales $H&E #5 3,682.4 100.0% 2,879.6 100.0% 27.9% 30.0%

Notes &+

(1) “Other” includes certain other non-core brands owned by the Group, such as Gregory, High Sierra, Kamiliant, ebags, Xtrem, Lipault,
Hartmann, Saxoline and Secret, as well as third-party brands sold through the Group’s Rolling Luggage and Chic Accent retail stores.
[ EAth | B3 Gregory - High Sierra ~ Kamiliant ~ ebags ~ Xtrem ~ Lipault ~ Hartmann ~ Saxoline & Secret Z RN £ @& T HALIFZ LM B A RIE - A
i B AR E B Rolling Luggage & Chic AccentT&/EHEMNE =A@ -

(2) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.

BTRERAEAE2IINEERIFIFRSFTET A  RUBHER 25| AFEEERMHLMLRFEENFHEXRGTERS -

! !! ‘! AMEmcm
&=

Amerlcan Tourlster Bus advertlsmg in London, England
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The Group’s core brands all recorded strong year-on-year net sales
increases during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to
the year ended December 31, 2022. Net sales of the Samsonite brand
increased by US$404.7 million, or 28.0% (+30.1% constant currency),
year-on-year. Net sales of the Tumi brand increased by US$224.3
million, or 34.3% (+35.8% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales
of the American Tourister brand increased by US$135.2 million, or
26.0% (+28.7% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

HZE2023F12A31BILFE - XEEZ LM
RS E SRR A E2022F 12 A1 HILFE
ARFRYPER - TAERENHE FHIEF
#4047 B EFEIT28.0% (JE T [E R EAE
SHE B INB0.1%) » TumiRIEH & FHER
FIEN224 3B EFEITH34.3% (B THERKE
AT HAIEING5.8%) - HE2023F12H31H
LS E  American Tourister ShhEH) $5 & %58
BHZE2022F 12 A31 B ILFEHEM135.28
B EITI26.0% (378 I8 = B AT 5 A N
28.7%) °

Tumi Alpha Bravo Navigation Backpack, Wheel Duffel Backpack Carry-on
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWEED AT

Product Categories EmE R
T
T Travel Business Casuall Accessories
1l ] Jiigic3 7% NG Be {4
® ®

Net Sales by Product Category
REmERE I NHEFE

34% 1% 34%

N 66%

M Travel iR 2023

W Non-travel JEjfi#
Business &
Casual /K
Accessories FC{F
Other HAf

Other
Eh
1%
66%
2022

The Group sells products in two principal product categories: travel AEEHEENERKREMEEZERER : K
and non-travel. The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales  ## & JFAR iz » TR & 5IE £2023F12 A31H
by product category for the years ended December 31, 2023, and [ 2022% 12 A31 B |- FEIRERERIZ 5
December 31, 2022, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of  $5& /FZEMA4 - UBHEREEEEFER D

total net sales. LEBIER o

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLFE

2023 vs. 2022

2023 F H2022 F L
Percentage
increase (decrease)
Percentage excl. foreign
Percentage Percentage increase currency effects?®
of net sales of net sales (decrease) bt H
Net sales by product category: US$ millions $SEFHE  USS millions HEFE 1401 GRid>) ]
REMERIZE D MIHE T BEBER B ER-E Antt
Travel fix3? 2,435.9 66.2% 1,891.8 65.7% 28.8% 30.7%
Non-travel JEjREz" 1,246.5 33.8% 987.8 34.3% 26.2% 28.5%
Net sales $H& #%58 3,682.4 100.0% 2,879.6 100.0% 27.9% 30.0%
Notes 5+

(1) The non-travel product category comprises business, casual, accessories and other products.
FEIRPE mAARI B - KR - R REMER -

(2) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BIABERAEAE2IIMEERIFIFRSFTETR  RUBMER 25| AF XA RBHELMLRFENFHEXRGTERS -
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Net sales in the travel product category during the year ended
December 31, 2023, increased by US$544.2 million, or 28.8%
(+30.7% constant currency), compared to the year ended December
31, 2022. The Group’s net sales in the travel product category
continued to improve driven mainly by the continued recovery and
growth in leisure and business travel and increased demand for
the Group’s products. Total non-travel product category net sales,
which comprises business, casual, accessories and other products,
increased by US$258.6 million, or 26.2% (+28.5% constant currency),
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Net sales of business products increased by US$155.4 million, or
28.6% (+31.2% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the previous year. Net sales of casual products
increased by US$64.9 million, or 26.6% (+29.2% constant currency),
year-on-year. Net sales of accessories products increased by US$28.7
million, or 17.7% (+17.9% constant currency), year-on-year.

am=

|

] AM ‘
|
|

MERICA
TOURISTER

ROAD TO FANTASY

PSAL

American Tourister Rollio Pop-up Store in South Korea

IREEMIBRIE E2023F 12 A31 B IEFER
HE FEREE2022F12 A31 B IEF 50
544,28 EEI0528.8% (IR & [E R LA HE
A3 IN30.7%) ° £ EXIRHE RE BRI EE
B R DA R B AN SR B R TR SRS N ERTHEED -
AEBREEREROHEES FEBFENRS - 3F
MR E AR (BRI - KM - B R H A
EMm) B ZE2023F12 A31 B ILFEMAHEF
RS HZE2022F12 A31 B ILFEEN258.6 F
B EITk26.2% (F2 1 8 I & F L& RGN
28.5%) °

BBEREE2023F12 A1 BILFENHEE
FEAEI A FHIN155.4 B B FEIT28.6% (3L
BIEREEAEABEING.2%) o KRB ERAHE
EFEIEFEMN64.0E8BEITLN26.6% (1T
BIEREEAERIAN29.2%) © B E MR
EFEEFEM28.7THEETTH17.7% (T
SEREEFEARLNIT.9%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWEED AT

Distribution Channels

Net Sales by Distribution Channel
ROERESTWEEFR

39%

1%

61%

28% 2023

B Wholesale #t%

B DIC BEEEMEEH
Retail T4
DTC e-commerce

BEEEMBEENEFHE

The Group sells its products through two primary distribution
channels: wholesale and direct-to-consumer. The following table sets
forth a breakdown of net sales by distribution channel for the years
ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, both in absolute
terms and as a percentage of total net sales.

Year ended December 31,

HBE12A31HILLFE

Percentage
of net sales
HERE
Aot

US$ millions
EX-E

by distribution channel:
BEDMIHEFE

US$ millions

DEHEEE
38%
1%
27% 2022 62%

AEEBAWNEEEDHREHEER | L7
LREEHEREEE - TRHF|EZE2023F12
A31BX&2022F12 A31 BItFEZDIHEE
BRI EFREPM  URHERGRIEETF
EAEDLLYIER -

2023 vs. 2022
2023 E12022 4 Ly B

Percentage
increase (decrease)
Percentage excl. foreign

Percentage increase

Wholesale #t% 2,247.2 61.0% 1,794 62.3% 25.3% 27.4%
DTG 1,433.9 38.9% 1,083 37.6% 32.3% 34.2%
Other® HAp@ 1.3 0.1% 1 0.1% (21.6)% (21.6)%
Net sales 445 /5% 3,682.4 100.0% 2,879 100.0% 27.9% 30.0%

Notes st

(1) DTG, or direct-to-consumer, includes bricks-and-mortar retail and e-commerce sites operated by the Group.

DTC(RNEEAEMEES) REASEEENERTERE FHEMY -
(2) “Other” primarily consists of licensing revenue.
[EAh | F ZBIERERA -

(3) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BIBERAEAE2IIMEERIFIFRSFTET R  RUBMER 25 AF XA KRB HELMLRFENFHEXRGFEMRS o

Net sales in the wholesale channel increased by US$453.1 million, or
25.3% (+27.4% constant currency), during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Net sales
to e-retailers, which are included in the Group’s wholesale channel,
increased by US$52.8 million, or 24.3% (+25.8% constant currency),
during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the previous
year.
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I EEHE2023F12 A1 B ILFEREE
SREREZE2022F 12 A31 A L F 1 1453.1
BEXEITLH25.3% (ETEEREELTZ R E
M27.4%) - EZE2023F 12 A31 B IEFE » &
AREENBEEREARARE LT TERHEENHEE
FEER AT ING2.8HEETK24.3% (2T
BIEREEAEAIENN25.8%) o



Net sales in the DTC channel, which includes company-operated
retail stores and DTC e-commerce, increased by US$350.0 million,
or 32.3% (+34.2% constant currency), to US$1,433.9 million
(representing 38.9% of net sales) for the year ended December 31,
2023, from US$1,083.8 million (representing 37.6% of net sales) for

the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC retail channel increased by US$253.0 million, or
32.3% (+34.3% constant currency), during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to the previous year. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Group added 96 company-operated retail
stores. This was partially offset by the permanent closure of 29
company-operated retail stores. This resulted in a net addition of 67
company-operated retail stores during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to a net reduction of 20 company-operated
retail stores during the year ended December 31, 2022, (including 37
company-operated retail stores that were located in Russia). The total
number of company-operated retail stores was 1,052 as of December
31, 2023, compared to 985 as of December 31, 2022, and 1,294 as
of December 31, 2019. On a same store, constant currency basis,
retail net sales grew by 28.9% for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. This was due
to constant currency same store net sales increases of 55.3%, 24.2%,
21.5%, and 16.5% in Asia, Europe, North America, and Latin America,
respectively. The Group’s same store analysis includes existing
company-operated retail stores which had been open for at least 12

months before the end of the relevant financial period.

Total DTC e-commerce net sales increased by US$97.1 million, or
32.2% (+34.2% constant currency), to US$398.5 million (representing
2023, from
US$301.4 million (representing 10.5% of net sales) for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

10.8% of net sales) for the year ended December 31,

2023, US$668.7 million of the
Group’s net sales were through e-commerce channels (comprising

During the year ended December 31,

US$398.5 million of net sales from the Group’s DTC e-commerce
websites, which are included within the DTC channel, and US$270.2
million of net sales to e-retailers, which are included within the
wholesale channel). This represented a year-on-year increase of
US$149.9 million, or 28.9% (+30.7% constant currency), compared
to the year ended December 31, 2022, when e-commerce comprised
US$518.9 million of the Group’s net sales. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Group’s net sales through e-commerce
channels represented 18.2% of total net sales compared to 18.0% of

total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2022.

DICREB(BIEAETE/EMDICETHE)
B E R ME E2022F 12 A1 B ILFER
1,083.8B &% (GHE aa%ﬁsﬁ:w 6%>i*bu
350.0EBELH32.3% (BT EERAETE
B /134.2%) ZH £ 2023F 12 A31HILFE
#)1,433.98 &% ((HIHE F8EM38.9%) °

HZE2023F12 A1 HILFEDTCEEREW
SHE F AR EFEN253.0H EXT332.3%
(BT EEREEFTHAIEMN34.3%) c HE
2023512ﬂ315¢¢ﬁ*$¢.%ﬁi96%@
EEEIE  BOWKAMBEAOREETEEMN
HEH o E%ﬁzaim%imﬂm HIEFEF
EIN6TREETEE - MBE2022F12 A31
HIEFEAFRD20RBETER (HPI7TR
BETEEANMEN) - 2023412 A 31
H BETEEMNAER1,052K - Mr2022
F12 A31H &20194F 12 A31 HEIJ/‘E\JE985
RKIK1,294K o REETSERELESTH  H
F2023F12A31BIEFEHNTEHEFER
HZE2022F12 A1 BILFEHEN28.9% ° &
REREM - BN - dEEMNRNT EMHTE
i 2 ) i 8 5 F B8 ) BIIE AN565.83% ~ 24.2% -
21.5% K% 16.5% - XEEWNRIES T BERE
B HEEAN R EEEL12EANREE

BEEE -

DTCEFHEEMMBIEE FEMAEE2022F12
A31BIEFE#301. 4%’%‘%%(1&%&1%5‘%%@
#910.5%) 1B 97 1§ E XL 332.2% (LT &
PE R E AL #E\Iligbuszt.z%)i%zizozsim
AB1BILFEM398.58EF= T (FHEF5
#10.8%) °

HZE2023F 12 A31HILLFE  ALBEEEF
FEHE68.7TEEELKREETHERE (BE
FTADTCREANREAEEDTCE FEEHL
BSHE FRE398.5 BB X LA RET AL RS
WA ETEREENHEFHE27028E8 %
JT) - BE E2022F12 A 31 Eti)ﬁiﬁiibﬂ
149.9 B BEL5(28.9% (N ER AL H
BIEIN30.7%) + MEREFRE AL AEEH
EFFE518. 98 BT - #£2023F12A431H
IHFE AEEREETFTEHERENHEFE
EHESHEFFEM18.2% » MEE2022F12 A
31AIEFEANLRIHE FEERN18.0% ©
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2023 WORLD WIDE NET SALES (US$ millions)
2023 F 2 RFEFH (BBET)

US$1,267.2

million B&3ETT
NORTH AMERICA
b M

United States Canada
ES mex

US$1,191.65%5T  USS75.6%7T

Unlted States m/
A

Mexico
=pgat

US$209.5

million A &3E7T

LATIN AMERICA
PT RN

DS B i) Hip '
US$71.5%5% US$63.2% 5T US$27.9%5%  US$46.7%5%

“Other” includes Argentina, Colombia, Panama, Peru and Uruguay.
THM | BEMRE - Ftht:  B2F  WBRSHE-
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United Kingdom

RE
Belgium

Eb R B

Spain
P

France

=B

US$776.9

million B & 37T
EUROPE
BN

Belgium Germany [taly France

b B 2 BARA EE
US$182.2% T US$109.43E 5T US$82.3% T USS$75.1%£ T
United Kingdom  Spain Other®

E ispriss HAth 2

US$74.23% 5t US$67.4% 5T US$186.3% 5T

2*Other” includes Austria, Denmark, Finland, Hungary, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, South
Africa, Sweden, Switzerland and Turkey.
[ Efth | RIERMF - ST - SE - QR - wE - BE - K B3 R I REHH -

Germany
ZE

Italy
BEXA

South Korea

L

. Hong Kong
Singapore .
S0 —

US$] /4278 Australia

million B &3 JT SBUM
ASIA
oM

China India Japan South Korea

H HE B L ;
US$297.6%= 5T US$260.3% 5T US$189.4% 7T US$161.8%= 5T »
Hong Kong Singapore Australia Other®

BB EAIMIIES SEM Hth,°

US$115.3% T US$86.2% T US$78.2% 5T US$238.9% T

%“Other” includes Arabia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Taiwan and Thailand.

[EA ] REMRE - BB - BREE - FFRE - 88 REE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 32 & &

Net Sales (US$ millions)
HEFR(BEXET)

US$1,427.8

million B &%ETT
Percentage of Net Sales
HEFHEA DL

Net sales by brand
RmhEE 5 iHE F8
/2023 /

Samsonite Tumi

FAEE

44.1% 19.2%
/2022 /

Samsonite Tumi

FAEE

41.6% 18.4%

American Tourister ~ Other

Al
28.0% 8.7%
American Tourister ~ Other

28.7% 11.3%

Net sales by product category

RE BRI DR HE F R
/2023 /

Travel

i
64.1%
/2022 /

Travel
i

Non-Travel

FEhiciE

35.9%

Non-Travel
FEIRIE

39.3%

Net sales by distribution channel

EDHRBE D MHEFHR
/2023 /

Wholesale
#E

70.0%

/2022 /

Wholesale

#3
72.6%
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DTC
EEEMAMEE

30.0%

DTC
EEAEMEEE

27 4%

kil

REGIONS

Asia

Countries/Territories

Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended
December 31, 2022

The Group’s net sales in Asia increased by US$511.4 million,
or 55.8% (+61.7% constant currency), for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December
31, 2022, with all major markets experiencing meaningful
year-on-year net sales increases.

Net sales in China increased by US$131.1 million, or 78.7%
(+88.4% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the previous year, due to the lifting of travel
restrictions and the relaxing of social distancing measures. Net
sales in Japan increased by US$68.3 million, or 56.3% (+68.4%
constant currency), year-on-year. Total net sales reported for
Hong Kong (which includes net sales made in the domestic
Hong Kong market, in Macau, and to distributors in certain
other Asian markets) increased by US$56.5 million, or 96.2%
(+96.1% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the previous year. Net sales in South Korea
increased by US$53.4 million, or 49.3% (+52.2% constant
currency), year-on-year. Net sales reported for Singapore
(which includes net sales made domestically as well as net
sales to distributors in certain other Asian markets) increased
by US$44.2 million, or 105.1% (+101.2% constant currency),
compared to the previous year. Net sales in India increased
by US$42.2 million, or 19.4% (+25.5% constant currency), for
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the previous
year. Net sales in Australia increased by US$21.3 million, or
37.4% (+43.7% constant currency), year-on-year.

ih &

D))\

BExR, HE

BZE2023F12A31 ALFEREEZE2022F12A31HLESF
EL&

HZE2023F12 A1 HILFE - ASER MBS FERER
2022F 12 A31 B It FEEIN511.4 B EXTH55.8% (T &
EREEAFANLING1.7%) IBEEXEMSHIESFRHEER
AERIZFIRER -

HE2023F12A31HIEFE - PEIMHEE FEREFIEN
131 1BBERLKT8.7% (LTS IEREEF AL IN88.4%) -
EamRBUEIKEER G R R EA R B RIEATE - BAMEE
SFREIR T NN68.3 8 Bk IT56.3% (I EE KA H A
#IN68.4%) - HEEHZE2023F 12 A1 HILFELHRMMAHEE
FHE(RREEEEATS  BPIURAE T HAIMNMIES
ESFISHE FE) REFIEMNG6.5 8 BET896.2% (T &
(B R ELECTEAIEIN06.1%) - MEMEE FHIZFLIMNG3.48
BEITLK49.3% (RN EREEFFHERIIEING2.2%) o F N
SWROBEEFB(BEARNLEESOHEEFEURME THEM
NSNS HEMRSHEEFHE) RAFEMI4288E
TLE105.1% (I & [ = B AERT H RPIE A1101.2%) » HZ=2023
F12A31ALLFE HEMNHEHEFEREFEMI22BEET
319.4% (IR 1B R EESH R IN25.5% ) BN &) 88 & F
BRI F I IN21.3 B B ETTHI7.4% (3N B R E A & I A
43.7%) °



Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended December 31, EHZE2023F12A31BLEFEBEEZE2019
2019 FI12A31BIEFELR

The Group’s net sales in Asia improved by 8.7% (+20.1% constant & E2023F12 A31H It FE - KEER M
currency) during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the HIHE FEEH E2019F12 A1 B ILFENH
year ended December 31, 2019. H8.7% (R R EEST HAIE N20.1%) ©

Compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, most markets in & ZE20234%12 A31 B IFEE @ 5K Z8H
Asia continued to see strong net sales increases during the year ended  SHIEE FEEHE2019F12 A1 BILFE
December 31, 2023, with increases in Singapore of 108.4% (+106.1%  ##E K - HP KL IN108.4% (3%
constant currency), India of 49.5% (+75.7% constant currency), E[EREESFHAEIN106.1%) « ENEZE N
Thailand of 47.3% (+65.7% constant currency), Indonesia of 53.5%  49.5% (IZ N [EREEHE IR NT5.7%)
(+65.4% constant currency), and Australia of 16.0% (+21.6% constant ~ ZREIIEN147.3% (3~ & 8 R E Y E AIE N
currency), while Japan reported a net sales decline of 12.8% but a 65.7%) * ENfEIEHN53.5% (3R E R £t
constant currency increase of 13.0%. The net sales performances in  Z R N165.4% ) KRN IEIN16.0% (32 & E
China of -2.8% (+0.0% constant currency), South Korea -12.2%, (-1.2%  FEZETHERIHEIN21.6%) » i B A BIEE{5 8
constant currency) and Hong Kong -24.3%, (-24.3% constant currency) &35 N k12.8% (32 & [E R E EFT B A%
continued to recover. MN13.0%) - B (R 2.8% @ IE T EEERE
B ERAIEN0.0%) B R 12.2% - 12
g REEA F R A 1.2%) REE OBl D
24.3% RN EERFELTFE AR 24.3%) &
HEFRRIBSHEER -

Countries/Territories E=xR HtE

The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales in Asia by  T~&R#(JIEE20234F12 431 H &2022F12
geographic location for the years ended December 31, 2023, and  A31H IFFE RIS E &8ss Ml & F5E
December 31, 2022, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of  BAAR - LA/BYI{E K5 & A SE & FE B D5
total regional net sales. R o

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALFE

2028 vs. 2022

2023 F £12022 F Lr 82
Percentage
Percentage increase (decrease)
increase excl. foreign
Percentage Percentage (decrease) currency effects®
Net sales by geographic location®: US$ millions  of net sales  US$ millions of net sales #n OB ) PR 55 g
R AL B & 5 B $HEIFEO - HEXT #HEZEASL BEXT HEFHASL Aot #EMORS) B
China LS 297.6 20.9% 166.5 18.2% 78.7% 88.4%
India ENE 260.3 18.2% 218.1 23.8% 19.4% 25.5%
Japan AR 189.4 13.3% 121.2 13.2% 56.3% 68.4%
South Korea msE 161.8 11.3% 108.4 11.8% 49.3% 52.2%
Hong Kong® ®  &#&@ @ 115.3 8.1% 58.8 6.4% 96.2% 96.1%
Singapore® Fronge 86.2 6.0% 421 4.6% 105.1% 101.2%
Australia SEM 78.2 5.5% 57.0 6.2% 37.4% 43.7%
Other Hih 238.9 16.7% 144.5 15.8% 65.4% 68.3%
Net sales HERRE 1,427.8 100.0% 916.4 100.0% 55.8% 61.7%
Notes 7+

(1) The geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the country/territory from which its products were sold and does not
necessarily indicate the country/territory in which its end customers were actually located.
REEHEFEOMGUEDH —RRUBEERNER HE - WA —EARGESERMENER HE o

(2) Includes net sales made domestically as well as net sales to distributors in certain other Asian markets.
BRI IS 8 S F U RAE T EMMNTI50 2 IR PrEkEr i8S FHE -

(3) Net sales reported for Hong Kong include net sales made in Macau.
BEEBRNHEFEBENRMBENHEFHE -

(4) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.

BAEEREAEGFH 2N XERIFIFRSHEBIE - BABMEN 2N AT E X ERAE AL RFE O T HEXHEHG -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Brands

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net sales of the Samsonite
brand in Asia increased by US$248.4 million, or 65.2% (+71.5%
constant currency), compared to the previous year. Net sales of the
Tumi brand in Asia increased by US$105.0 million, or 62.2% (+67.6%
constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales of the American Tourister
brand in Asia increased by US$137.1 million, or 52.0% (+57.5%
constant currency), compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Product Categories

Net sales in the travel product category for the year ended December
31, 2023, increased by US$359.1 million, or 64.5% (+70.5% constant
2022. Total
non-travel product category net sales for the year ended December
31, 2023, increased by US$152.3 million, or 42.3% (+47.9% constant
currency), compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

currency), compared to the year ended December 31,

Net sales of business products for the year ended December 31,
2023, increased by US$96.0 million, or 44.8% (+50.2% constant
currency), year-on-year. Net sales of casual products increased by
US$35.9 million, or 33.7% (+39.8% constant currency),
to the previous year. Net sales of accessories products for the year
ended December 31, 2023, increased by US$12.3 million, or 47.1%
(+51.83% constant currency), year-on-year.

compared

Samsnite

ANYTHING BUT ORDINARY

Samsonite Black Label sBL Re.Classic Collection
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Distribution Channels

Net sales in the wholesale channel increased by US$334.4 million, or
50.2% (+56.1% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC channel, which includes company-operated
retail stores and DTC e-commerce, increased by US$177.0 million, or
70.6% (+76.5% constant currency), to US$427.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$250.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC retail channel increased by US$118.0 million, or
71.5% (+77.4% constant currency), during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. During
the year ended December 31, 20283, the Group added 60 new
company-operated retail stores in Asia. This was partially offset by the
permanent closure of 16 company-operated retail stores. This resulted
in a net addition of 44 company-operated retail stores in Asia during
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to a net addition of 16
company-operated retail stores during the year ended December 31,
2022. The total number of company-operated retail stores in Asia was
405 as of December 31, 2023, compared to 361 as of December 31,
2022, and 408 as of December 31, 2019. On a same store, constant
currency basis, retail net sales in Asia increased by 55.3% for the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December
31, 2022. The Group’s same-store analysis includes existing
company-operated retail stores that have been open for at least 12
months before the end of the relevant financial period.

Total DTC e-commerce net sales increased by US$59.0 million, or
68.8% (+74.8% constant currency), to US$144.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$85.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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American Tourister Brett Backpack and Hall Backpack, Novastream Spinners

HEBEBRAER DR F52023 45



Management Discussion and Analysis & 32 & &

Net Sales (US$ millions)
HEFHE(BEXET)

US$1,267.2

million A& 3EJT

Percentage of Net Sales
HEFHEA DL

Net sales by brand
RmhEE S IHE FR
/2023 /

Samsonite

A
47 4% 39.6% 7.9%

/2022 /
Samsonite

AR

48.3% 36.7% 9.8%

Other

Hol
5.1%
Other

Hith
5.2%

Tumi American Tourister

Tumi American Tourister

Net sales by product category
REmBARIE D HIHE FE

/2023 /

Travel Non-Travel

i FEIRIE
69.7% 30.3%
/2022 /

Travel Non-Travel

i3 FEIRIE

30.0%

Net sales by distribution channel
BOHRBEDHHE FEE

/2023 /

Wholesale DTC

#E HEREMEEE
53.2% 46.8%
/2022 /

Wholesale DTC

#E HEEMEEE

55.6% 44.4%
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DT

REGIONS
North America

Countries
Year ended December 31, 2023, vs.
December 31, 2022

The Group’s net sales in North America increased by
US$149.9 million, or 13.4% (+13.7% constant currency), for
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year

Year ended

ended December 31, 2022, driven by strong net sales growth
for the Samsonite and Tumi brands.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net sales in the
United States increased by US$133.0 million, or 12.6%,
compared to the previous year. Net sales in Canada increased
by US$16.9 million, or 28.9% (+33.5% constant currency),
year-on-year.

h &
16 =M
Ex
BZE2023F12A31 ALFEEEZE2022F12A31HIESF
E b

TERFTAZBERTUMIRIEHEEFENRIER  A5@HE
2023F 12 A31 B IEFERILEMNMHE FEREE2022F12
A31BIEFEEM149.98 &R T 13.4% (FL T EAE R EERT
HREN13.7%) °

HZE2023F12A31HILFE - ZEMHEEFEREFEM
133.0BBEILK12.6% - MEAKHE FRILZFIEMNI6.96E
FEIT5K28.9% ($ B8 R EL A H A IN33.5%) °

Tumi Alpha Bravo Navigation Backpack



Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended December 31,
2019

When excluding the Speck Net Sales, net sales in North America
increased by 2.2% (+2.3% constant currency) for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31,
2019. Further adjusting for the discontinuation of third-party brand
sales on the ebags e-commerce platform during 2020, net sales
in North America increased by 7.9% (+8.0% constant currency)
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. When compared to
the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s reported net sales
in North America, which included the Speck Net Sales and third-party
brand sales on the ebags e-commerce platform during the year ended
December 31, 2019, declined by 7.1% (-7.0% constant currency)
during the year ended December 31, 2023.

When excluding the Speck Net Sales, net sales in the United States
increased by 1.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared
to the year ended December 31, 2019. Further adjusting for the
discontinuation of third-party brand sales on the ebags e-commerce
platform during 2020, net sales in the United States increased by
7.3% compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. When
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s
reported net sales in the United States, which included the Speck Net
Sales and third-party brand sales on the ebags e-commerce platform
during the year ended December 31, 2019, declined by 8.3% during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Net sales in Canada increased by
18.7% (+20.8% constant currency) during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.

Countries

The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales in North
America by geographic location for the years ended December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022, both in absolute terms and as a
percentage of total regional net sales.
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BZ12A31HLFEE

HZEZ2023F 12831 HILFEHFZE2019
F12B31HILFEELE

K4 bR Speck B 55 558 - HlZ=20234 12 A 31
AIEFERIEEMNEE FEREE20195F12
AB1HIFEEM2.2% (IRTEEREEFE
BIIENN2.3%) ° L2020 {2 |EfEebags & T i &
FHREEF- T RBIELE—PHAEE  b=E
NE Y& R B A E2019F 12 A1 B ILFE 2
N7.9% (R BERE AT EAIE NG 0%) -
HE2019F 12 A1 HIEFEML - AEBEHZE
2023F12 A31 B IEFERIL M 2 RAVHEF
F(BEHZE2019412 A31 H ILFE K Speck
RIS FERE = RERebagsETHE T A
RISHERE) WA 7.1% (R T EIE R LB E AR
17.0%) °

MR Speck M E R - BlE20283F 12 A
STHLEFEREENEEFEREZ20194F
12 31 B FEHNT.3% ° F2020FF 1H7E
ebagsEFABE VY AHESE =/ mBIELE—
WG ERMEEFEREE2019F12
B31BEILFEEHEM7.3% - EBEFE2019412
AS1HIEFEML - AEBEEE20283F12A4
SIHLEFERERZRNFEESFE(BIEEE
2019412 A31 B IEFE R Speck M iHE F 58
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2028 vs. 2022

20234F 12022 4 Lt
Percentage
Percentage increase (decrease)
increase excl. foreign
Percentage Percentage (decrease) currency effects®
Net sales by geographic location(®: US$ millions  of net sales  US$ millions of net sales A0 G ) WERE X2/
R B & 5 B SHEIFEO HEXT #HEZEASHL BEXT HEFHEESL Aotk EinCEL) 2
United States e 1,191.6 94.0% 1,058.6 94.7% 12.6% 12.6%
Canada mex 75.6 6.0% 58.7 5.3% 28.9% 33.5%
Net sales HE R 1,267.2 100.0% 1,117.3 100.0% 13.4% 13.7%

Notes Hf#

(1) The geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the country from which its products were sold and does not necessarily

indicate the country in which its end customers were actually located.

AEEFHEFENBHLEDH —RRREEEROER - T —ERKHEPERMENER -

(2) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BTRERAEAEZIINEERIFIFRSFTET A - RUBMER 2| AFZEEARMELRLRFEN T HEXRGERS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Brands

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net sales of the Samsonite
brand in North America increased by US$61.6 million, or 11.4%
(+11.7% constant currency), compared to the previous year. Net sales
of the Tumi brand in North America increased by US$91.5 million, or
22.3% (+22.6% constant currency), driven by strong performance in
the Group’s company-operated retail stores and DTC e-commerce
sales. Net sales of the American Tourister brand in North America
decreased by US$9.2 million, or 8.4% (-8.2% constant currency), due
to a shift in timing of shipments to certain wholesale customers.

Product Categories

Net sales in the travel product category for the year ended December
31, 2023, increased by US$100.9 million, or 12.9% (+13.2% constant
currency), compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, as travel
continued to rebound in both the United States and Canada. Total
non-travel product category net sales increased by US$49.1 million,
or 14.6% (+14.8% constant currency), year-on-year.

Net sales of business products increased by US$36.7 million, or
17.4% (+17.6% constant currency), compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. Net sales of casual products increased by
US$4.0 million, or 7.3% (+7.4% constant currency), year-on-year. Net
sales of accessories products increased by US$7.9 million, or 11.5%
(+11.7% constant currency), year-on-year.

goplaces
with Samsonite.
i s en i
5 v

' Samsonite Pro

Designed with the frequent
traveler in mind, this premium
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- and loaded with features.

USB charging pocket:
breeze though scroonings and
protecttech from scralches
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laptop sleeve:
i with irieet lining
;. DBettergrip:
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Samsonite Points of Sale in Staples Canada
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Distribution Channels

Net sales in the wholesale channel increased by US$52.8 million, or
8.5% (+8.7% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC channel, which includes company-operated retail
stores and DTC e-commerce, increased by US$97.0 million, or 19.6%
(+19.8% constant currency), year-on-year to US$593.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, from US$496.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC retail channel increased by US$74.6 million,
or 21.4% (+21.8% constant currency), during the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the previous year. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Group added 13 new company-
operated retail stores in North America. This was partially offset by
the permanent closure of 7 company-operated retail stores. This
resulted in a net addition of 6 company-operated retail stores in North
America during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to
a net reduction of 4 company-operated retail stores during the year
ended December 31, 2022. The total number of company-operated
retail stores in North America was 274 as of December 31, 2023,
compared to 268 as of December 31, 2022, and 348 as of December
31, 2019. On a same store, constant currency basis, retail net sales in
North America increased by 21.5% for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group’s
same-store analysis includes existing company-operated retail stores
that have been open for at least 12 months before the end of the
relevant financial period.

Total DTC e-commerce net sales increased by US$22.4 million, or
15.1% (+15.3% constant currency), to US$170.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$148.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Gregory Supply Duffel
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Net Sales (US$ millions)
HEFBE(BBEXT)

US$776.9

milion A& 3XEJT

Percentage of Net Sales
HEFHEA DL

Net sales by brand
RmhEE S IHE F8

/2023/
Samsonite Tumi American Tourister ~ Other
HARE Hol
/2022 /
Samsonite Tumi American Tourister ~ Other
HAE Hl

Net sales by product category
REMBERE D IHE FE

/2023 /

Travel Non-Travel
i FEIRIE
/2022 /

Travel Non-Travel
i FEIRIE

Net sales by distribution channel

D IHREE D RS F

/2023 /

Wholesale DTC

il HEREMEEE

/2022 /

Wholesale DTC
HEARERE

50 Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023

A

nf

B4

REGIONS
Europe

Countries
Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended
December 31, 2022

The Group’s net sales in Europe increased by US$101.2
million, or 15.0% (+15.1% constant currency), for the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. On March 14, 2022, the Group
suspended all commercial activities in Russia due to the
armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group subsequently
completed the disposition of its Russian operations on July
1, 2022. When excluding the Russia Net Sales, the Group’s
net sales in Europe increased by US$110.9 million, or 16.7%
(+16.8% constant currency), year-on-year.

Net sales in Germany increased by US$24.3 million, or 28.6%
(+25.2% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Net
sales in ltaly increased by US$15.2 million, or 22.7% (+19.8%
constant currency), compared to the previous year. Net sales
in Spain increased by US$10.8 million, or 19.1% (+16.0%
constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales in France increased
by US$9.3 million, or 14.2% (+11.4% constant currency),
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Net sales in
the United Kingdom (net sales reported for the United Kingdom
include net sales made in Ireland) increased by US$5.3 million,
or 7.7% (+6.6% constant currency), year-on-year.
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When compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s
reported net sales in Europe declined by 1.9% but increased by
16.7% on a constant currency basis during the year ended December
31, 20283. When excluding the Russia Net Sales, the Group’s net
sales in Europe increased by 6.2% (+26.3% constant currency) during
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Most of the Group’s key markets in Europe recorded net sales
increases on a constant currency basis when comparing the year
ended December 31, 2023, to the year ended December 31, 2019,
including: Belgium +26.6%, (+31.1% constant currency), Holland
+28.2%, (+27.5% constant currency), Spain +16.0%, (+20.0%
constant currency) and ltaly +0.4%, (+3.9% constant currency).

Countries

The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales in Europe by
geographic location for the years ended December 31, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of
total regional net sales.

EEHZFE2019F12 A1 BILFEMRL - KAEE
HZE2023F 12 A31 B IEFERBUMN 2 H A0 8
EFERMA1.9% BT EEREESH A
HIN16.7% - EMBEBRNNEEFE 5
EEE2023F 12 A31 B ILEERBONEEE
THEEEE E2019F 12 31 B ILFEEIEMNG.2%
(BT EEREESHRPIENN26.3%) ©

HZE2023F 12 A1 BILFE  AEBREUMN
MAZHEEEMHIETBERELESTENHEE
SHEEHWEE2019F12 A1 HIEFE LF
BFE L FIBEIE I126.6% (37 8 8 &R At
HAPEIN31.1%) ~ EEIN23.2% (&1 E[E
RECEE R A127 5% ) « PRI 116.0%
(R EE R EEFERIEIN20.0%) R EAF
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EES

TREFEHE2023F12 A31H K2022412
A31H I FE R E 25BN S F5E
AR - UBHERIGH R AEEFEE DL
/EE °

Belgium® Ht i@ 182.2 23.4% 158.5 23.5% 14.9% 12.1%
Germany =B 109.4 14.1% 85.1 12.6% 28.6% 25.2%
Italy & A 82.3 10.6% 67.1 9.9% 22.7% 19.8%
France A& 75.1 9.7% 65.8 9.7% 14.2% 11.4%
United Kingdom® £ 6 74.2 9.5% 68.9 10.2% 7.7% 6.6%
Spain A 67.4 8.7% 56.5 8.4% 19.1% 16.0%
Russia® B Z&H® - -% 9.8 1.4% (100.0)% (100.0)%
Other £ At 186.3 24.0% 164.1 24.3% 13.5% 22.4%
Net sales 58 F5 @ 776.9 100.0% 675.7 100.0% 15.0% 15.1%

Notes 5t

M

@

The geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the country from which its products were sold and does not necessarily
indicate the country in which its end customers were actually located.

AEBHEFENMBUESH —RRMEEERNER - YT —EARHEFEEMENER -

Net sales in Belgium were US$25.2 million and US$21.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022,
respectively, an increase of US$3.9 million, or 18.4% (+16.1% constant currency). Remaining sales consisted of direct shipments to
distributors, customers and agents in other European countries, including e-commerce.

HZE2023F12 A31 B %2022F 12 A31 BILFE « LHRKMHEE FEO R A5 2AEETLK212BEET - EIN3.90BEETH18.4% (RTE
MEREEAFAINEIN6.1%) - ATHHERBFEEZE TRNEMERN S HE  EFRREE (BEETHE) -

Net sales reported for the United Kingdom include net sales made in Ireland.

EEERNHEFHEOENEBHEENHEFE -

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group subsequently
completed the disposition of its Russian operations on July 1, 2022. When excluding the Russia Net Sales, net sales in Europe increased by
US$110.9 million, or 16.7% (+16.8% constant currency), for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the previous year.
HRERHHRAREFHR  AEER2022F3 A 4B EFERENNMAEREES - EARSEREEZN2022F7 A1 BT ELBMEMNER - &
MR ARG TR - BE2023F 12 A31 B ILFERBUMMEE FREREAFEIN10.9BBEITH16.7% RN EREEAHAIEIN6.8%) °
Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.

BTRERAEEAE2FIMEERIFIFRSFTET A  RUBHER 25N AFEEERMELALRFENTHERGEMRS o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Brands

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net sales of the Samsonite
brand in Europe increased by US$79.8 million, or 17.8% (+18.1%
constant currency), compared to the previous year. Net sales of
the Tumi brand in Europe increased by US$22.2 million, or 32.0%
(+33.4% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales of the American
Tourister brand in Europe decreased by US$0.2 million, or 0.1%
(-1.1% constant currency), compared to the year ended December
31, 2022.

Product Categories

Net sales in the travel product category for the year ended December
31, 2023, increased by US$66.6 million, or 14.3% (+14.1% constant
currency), compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Total
non-travel product category net sales increased by US$34.5 million,
or 16.4% (+17.4% constant currency), compared to the previous year.

Net sales of business products increased by US$14.8 million, or
15.1% (+17.0% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales of casual
products increased by US$17.5 million, or 39.3% (+38.8% constant
currency), compared to the previous year. Net sales of accessories
products increased by US$8.3 million, or 18.3% (+18.4% constant
currency), year-on-year.

AMERICAN
TOURISTER

4
i-{

)
e

American Tourister Free-on-board Cabin Solutions
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HZE2023F 12 A31HILFE  #FZERER
BN EE FERAFENTI8EEETY
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33.4%) ° American TouristerSh &R EUMN &9 85
EFEREE2022912 A31BILFER 0.2
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EmiER

REEE MBRINE Z2023F 12 A1 HILFE
B E I FARE E2022F 12 A31 B I FE1E
N66.6 B EEITLK14.3% (J 7~ B[ K L AEST
HAPEA14.1%) o JEPRIZE RIBRI M BIHEF
HEREAFHEMNIA5BEETLK16.4% (BTE
PERE LT HAIEN17.4%) o

A EMNEE FHEIRFEMI48BEETLH
15.1% (IE T E R EAEFTEAIEIN7.0%) °
KEERNEEFEREFEIN17.5688
FEL39.3% (IR T E R A E B
38.8%) ° B fFE MM E FREIZFIEMNS.3 B
EETH18.3% (3N BIE R E L E B A1
18.4%) °




Distribution Channels

Net sales in the wholesale channel increased by US$37.6 million, or
9.0% (+9.2% constant currency), during the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC channel, which includes company-operated
retail stores and DTC e-commerce, increased by US$63.6 million, or
24.6% (+24.7% constant currency), to US$321.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$258.1 million for the year ended

December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC retail channel increased by US$50.8 million,
or 25.4% (+26.0% constant currency), during the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31,
2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group added
9 new company-operated retail stores in Europe. This was partially
offset by the permanent closure of 1 company-operated retail store.
This resulted in a net addition of 8 company-operated retail stores in
2023.

2022, the Group permanently

Europe during the year ended December 31, In comparison,
during the year ended December 31,
closed 37 company-operated retail stores in Russia, which resulted
in a net reduction of 31 company-operated retail stores during the
year ended December 31, 2022. The total number of company-
2023,

compared to 187 as of December 31, 2022, and 312 as of December

operated retail stores in Europe was 195 as of December 31,

31, 2019. On a same store, constant currency basis, retail net sales
in Europe increased by 24.2% for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group’s
same-store analysis includes existing company-operated retail stores
that have been open for at least 12 months before the end of the
relevant financial period.

Total DTC e-commerce net sales increased by US$12.8 million, or
22.0% (+20.6% constant currency), to US$71.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$58.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Lipault Lost in Berlin Dry Sage Collection

S EHRE

HZE2028F12A31HIEFE @ #HLEREMNE
m@%ﬁf%zizwzimﬂm B 1 F E 8
37.6BEEILE.0% (BT EERALEFH R
#IN9.2%) -

DTICEE (BREEEZTEERDICEFHE)
I E FRAME E2022F12 A31 B IEFER
2581 BB =L N63.6 HEE0524.6% (3%
PE R BB EABEIN24.7%) EEE2023
¢12H31 HIEFEN321.7AEET °

B ZE2023F12 A1 HIEFE - DTCEERE
HEFHEREHE2022412 A31 ElJtEJ*i'jJu
50.8 A& ETLH25.4% (R T EEREEGH
B IN26.0%) ° i E2023F12 431 HILF
E - REBREMNTIGORBETENL - o
WXABPIREESEEMEE - S8
MEE2023F 12 A31 B IEFEFEMER T &
ZEE - B2 T BE2022F12A31H1E
FE  RANEBRBREKABRAITREEZTE
JE o EBHEE2022912 A31 A IEFEFRD
SIREETEL - 12023512 A31H * BB
NBBEEZTEEBEAE195K » MKR2022F12
A 31 El&zo19¢12ﬂ31 H 9'J”}”:‘J7%187§&
312K o EREIE T ERELEFE - HE2023
¢12ﬂ31EILt¢EE’$EK/J‘\‘|E’\J EHEFERE
F2022F 12 A1 HILFEHR24.2% - K&
ErRESTBRIENEAMEAETEI D
ELL12EANREEETEE -

DTICEFHEEMEHE FHEMAE T2022F12
A31BILFEMNS8.3HEETIEMNI2.888
ETT22.0% (3 2 [ R B AL+ 5 I i)

20.6%) ZEE2023F 12 A31 B IEFERT71.2
BEZET
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 & 53 #

Net Sales (US$ millions)
HEFH(ABER)

US$209.5

million B &3 T

Percentage of Net Sales
HEFHEA DL

Net sales by brand
RmhEE S iHE FE
/2023 /

Samsonite Tumi

FEEE

42.6% 5.8% 16.2% 35.4%
/2022 /

Samsonite Tumi American Tourister ~ Other

AR Hith

441% 3.9% 157% 36.3%

Net sales by product category
RELERZISHEE R

American Tourister ~ Other

/2023 /

Trgvel l;lg)ﬁré-;gavel
50.6% 49 4%
/2022 /

52.4% 47 .6%

Net sales by distribution channel

B HRES D HIHE R

/2023 /

Wholesale DTC

#3 HEAREESE

56.5% 43.5%

/2022 /

Wholesale DTC
HEARERE

53.4% 46.6%
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B4

REGIONS

Latin America

Countries

Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended
December 31, 2022

The Group’s net sales in Latin America increased by US$40.7
million, or 24.1% (+25.7% constant currency), for the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Net sales in Mexico increased by US$22.9 million, or 47.1%
(+29.4% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales in Chile
increased by US$7.7 million, or 13.9% (+11.1% constant
currency), during the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to the previous year. Net sales in Brazil increased
by US$3.6 million, or 14.8% (+11.2% constant currency),
year-on-year.

Year ended December 31, 2023, vs. Year ended
December 31, 2019

The Group’s net sales in Latin America increased by 25.6%
(+71.6% constant currency) during the year ended December
31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.

When compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, all of
the Group’s key markets in Latin America recorded net sales
increases for the year ended December 31, 2023, including:
Brazil +43.6%, (+81.0% constant currency), Chile +10.2%,
(+31.1% constant currency) and Mexico +27.1%, (+15.7%
constant currency).

iLiz, [

Ex
BZE2023F12A31ALFEEBE2022F12A31HLESF
EL®

AEEEZE2023F12 A1 AILEFERT T MM EE FERE
F2022F 12 A31 B IEFEHMN40.7 B EBETk24.1% (I &
MR B EAPEN25.7%) °

BTN HE FEIRFEE M2 0B EETHAT A% (RTEE
T%Ep ERIHNN29.4%) - EFEZE2023F 12 A31HILFE
Eﬁiﬁ SRR EFNT.7TABEILHK13.9% (I NEEREAE

:Et,HJJi‘jJuﬂ 1%) - EFHHSHE FBIZRFHMN3.6BEETHK
14.8%(TET\' AIE R EESTERIEIN11.2%) ©

BZE2023F12A31ALFEHEBZE2019F12A31HLEF
B

AEEEZE2023F12 A1 ALEFERT T EMMBEE FERE
Z2019F 12 A31 HIEFEHN25.6% (& [E R EAEE A
#AN71.6%) °

AEEEHE20283F12A31ALFEEN T EMOMBEEEN
SRS HEE FEYEEHE2019F12A31ALEFE LT B
iE B IN43.6% (IR & 0E R EEFTH AL I181.0%) »
FIHEHN10.2% (32~ 8 [ R L A S :éEIJi%bus1.1%)&ﬁ%i
R27.1% (R EE R L LS EREIN15.7%) ©



Countries G
The following table sets forth a breakdown of net sales in Latin  T&RHFIEHE2023412 431 H &20224F12 A
America by geographic location for the years ended December 31, 31H IFEERIbEU BRI DR T ZMNEEF
2023, and December 31, 2022, both in absolute terms and as a FERA4H - DUBHE KGR AHE FEA DL
percentage of total regional net sales. HIFR -

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BALEE

2028 vs. 2022

2023 F £12022 F LH R
Percentage
Percentage increase (decrease)
increase excl. foreign
Percentage Percentage (decrease) rr

Net sales by geographi ion™: US$ millions  of net sales US$ millions sales #hn Cpt )

R B 2 5 ey EHE FEEO BEBERT HEREASL ER- = AR A DL Btk
Mexico Z& P EF GIES 34.2% 48.7 28.8% 47.1% 29.4%
Chile & 7 63.2 30.2% 55.5 32.9% 13.9% 11.1%
Brazil® B 5@ 27.9 13.3% 24.3 14.4% 14.8% 11.2%
Other® EAth® 46.7 22.3% 40.2 23.9% 16.2% 50.2%
Net sales $H& F58 209.5 100.0% 168.8 100.0% 24.1% 25.7%

Notes 7t

(1) The geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the country from which its products were sold and does not necessarily
indicate the country in which its end customers were actually located.
AEEHEFENMBUESH —RIMEEERNER - YT —ERKHEFERMENER -
(2) Excludes any sales made to distributors in Brazil from outside the country.
TREL R BRI E AN D A E L O ERHE o
(8) The net sales figure for the “Other” geographic location includes sales in Argentina, Colombia, Panama, Peru, Uruguay and sales to third-
party distributors in Brazil from outside of Brazil.
[HAh i EMHE FREEBRIERMIBE - Sat: B25  WERSNFEELNHEAREEAFIINAEFRRANE =75 HEEL
(4) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.
BRIAEEREEFE 2 MEFERIEFRSFTEIE - RUEMEB 2 NAFEXEEFRARELEERFENTIIERFEMS -

&' . .
Xtrem Berkeley Backpack, Maryland Backpack and Gamma Backpack
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWEED AT

Brands

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net sales of the Samsonite
brand in Latin America increased by US$14.8 million, or 19.9%
(+24.2% constant currency), compared to the previous year. Net
sales of the Tumi brand in Latin America increased by US$5.6 million,
or 86.4% (+71.2% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales of
the American Tourister brand in Latin America increased by US$7.4

million, or 27.9% (+29.4% constant currency), year-on-year.

Product Categories

Net sales in the travel product category for the year ended December
31, 2023, increased by US$17.5 million, or 19.8% (+22.8% constant
currency), compared to the previous year. Total non-travel product
category net sales increased by US$23.2 million, or 28.8% (+29.0%

constant currency), compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales of business products increased by US$7.9 million, or
39.3% (+40.1% constant currency), year-on-year. Net sales of casual
products increased by US$7.5 million, or 19.9% (+20.0% constant
currency), year-on-year. Net sales of accessories products increased
by US$0.3 million, or 1.3% (-3.0% constant currency), compared to
the previous year.

b

EE2023F12A31BIFE - FTHAERE
RETEMNNHEE FEREAFIEMNI4888
FEITR19.9% (21 B [E = E A+ & AN
24.2%) o TumiGm R T EMNBHE F 1%
FEM5.6E8ETK86.4% (IR THERHE
HELFERIEANT1.2%) > American Tourister
MR T EMOEE FEIRFEM7 48 E
FEL27.9% (BT EEREEFE RN
29.4%) °

EmiEh

IRiEERIBRIHE2023F12 A31 B IEFEH

HEFER AT M7 5BEETH19.8%

(R B IE R E S ERIEIN22.8%)  FEHRIE
MR A E FHEREIE 202212 A 31

HIEFEIEMN23.2F EETK28.8% (I &

M = EOEST B ABE I129.0%) ©

AHERMNEEFHERFEM7.0BEETTH
39.3% (I & fE R E L H A HIN40.1%) °
KEERNHEEFHEIRFEM7. 5 5EET
19.9% (3 T IE R EEFTH AIE 1120.0%) ©
@E#%Miﬁ%“%ﬁ@iiibuo.sﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
8,1.3% (BT EEREENE AR 3.0%) °

Samsonite Virginia FW24 Backpack
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Distribution Channels

Net sales in the wholesale channel increased by US$28.3 million, or
31.4% (+29.2% constant currency), for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC channel, which includes company-operated
retail stores and DTC e-commerce, increased by US$12.4 million, or
15.7% (+21.8% constant currency), to US$91.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$78.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Net sales in the DTC retail channel increased by US$9.6 million,
or 13.7% (+18.7% constant currency), during the year ended
December 31, 20283, compared to the previous year. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Group added 14 new company-
operated retail stores in Latin America. This was partially offset by
the permanent closure of 5 company-operated retail stores. This
resulted in a net addition of 9 company-operated retail stores in Latin
America during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to
a net reduction of 1 company-operated retail store during the year
ended December 31, 2022. The total number of company-operated
retail stores in Latin America was 178 as of December 31, 2023,
compared to 169 as of December 31, 2022, and 226 as of December
31, 2019. On a same store, constant currency basis, retail net sales in
Latin America increased by 16.5% for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group’s
same-store analysis includes existing company-operated retail stores
that have been open for at least 12 months before the end of the
relevant financial period.

Total DTC e-commerce net sales increased by US$2.8 million, or
31.6% (+46.9% constant currency), to US$11.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$8.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

NUEVA COLECCION ROYALE

Relatos
Maleta

Saxoline Royale Collection

S EHRE

HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE - LB REAH
ERRERE E2022F12 A31 B LFE AN
28.83E&®EETLKG1.4% (IR TN FEREEGFE
Bl A129.2%) °

DTICRE(BEEETEEKDICETFHE)
M E FHEAEE2022F12A31HIEFER
78 TEHBETTEMI2.4F5EETH15.7% (3%
HiERFEEERIEIMN21.8%) EEHE2023
E12ﬂ31 BIEFEMNANAAEET -

HZE2023F12A31HILFE ' DTCEERE
SHE R EFIEMN6HEERTH13.7% (I
TEAE REEFERIENN18.7%) - B FE2023
¢12H31E¢¢F REBMRRLT E M8
1ARBETEE B KABESREES
EIEFTIKY o L‘Lfﬁth%/JH@zizozsim
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J& o FR2023F 12 A31H R T EMBEE
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2022612 A31HIEFEHER16.5% ° A& H
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DI2EANREEETES -
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SAXOLINE®

DESDE 1969
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Cost of sales increased by US$225.4 million, or 17.7%, to US$1,499.6
million (representing 40.7% of net sales) for the year ended December
31, 2023, from US$1,274.2 million (representing 44.2% of net sales)
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Gross profit increased by US$577.3 million, or 36.0%, to US$2,182.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from US$1,605.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, due to increased net
sales year-on-year and higher gross profit margin. The gross profit
margin was 59.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared
to 55.8% for the previous year. The 350 basis point increase in gross
profit margin was driven mainly by year-on-year gross profit margin
improvements in all regions and because Asia, the region with the
highest gross profit margin, increased its share of total net sales.
This increase in gross profit margin was also driven by an increased
proportion of total net sales attributable to the higher-margin Tumi
brand, an increased proportion of total net sales attributable to direct-
to-consumer net sales, and overall reduced promotional discounts.

Sams&nite

) R&D

HERETRER
HERAMEEZ2022F 12831 BILFEN
1,274 288 ET (HHE FEEM44.2%) 150
225 4B &R ITLHIT. 7% EH E2023%12 A31
AIEFEM1,4909.6 B 8%t ((hEEFEN
40.7%) °

HREEFRERFENRENE LA - £F S
HZE2022F 12 A1 HIEFEM1,605.48E
F T IN577.3 B EXT36.0% E & £ 2023
F12A31HIEFER2,182.8FEET - H=E
202312 A31HIEFEMENE%59.3%
2R /A55.8% ° EFIE EFAI50@ER =
EHNAAMENEMNEGERFNRE - ARKE
FMEHEEOEMNRELHEFEPOGEL L
Ft o ERRBRIZBRFERE S H Tumi &
PR REEFEANEL LA EEEREE
ERHE FREEAEE FEROME L L RE
SHITINREGE R D o

a. b
Samsonite Red TOIIS Blossom Spinners
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Distribution Expenses

Distribution expenses increased by US$220.3 million, or 27.3%, to
US$1,027.6 million (representing 27.9% of net sales) for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from US$807.3 million (representing
28.0% of net sales) for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Distribution expenses as a percentage of net sales remained relatively
consistent year over year.

Marketing Expenses

The Group spent US$241.5 million on marketing during the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$156.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, an increase of US$85.5 million, or
54.8%. As a percentage of net sales, marketing expenses increased
by 120 basis points to 6.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023,
from 5.4% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group will
continue to invest in marketing to drive further net sales growth.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by US$28.3 million,
or 12.7%, to US$250.2 million (representing 6.8% of net sales) for the
year ended December 31, 2023, from US$221.9 million (representing
7.7% of net sales) for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
decrease in general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of net sales reflects the increase in net sales year-on-year as well
as disciplined expense management, partially offset by inflationary
pressures.

-

American Tourister Carter Backpack, Little Curio Spinner,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWEED AT

Impairment Reversals

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the non-cash
impairment reversals for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the
“2023 Impairment Reversals”), and for the year ended December 31,
2022 (the “2022 Impairment Reversals”).

(UKBEEETZS)

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

BB E

TEREHEE2023412 A31 A IEFEMNIER
SIRERD ([2028FRERER |) REZ2022
F12A31 B ILFENIFERIRERD ([2022
FIRERD ) B o

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2023

Impairment (reversals) charges recognized on: Functional Area

BMIATHIAERHFE (BL) B8F - gl

Tradenames &% (84.0) (81.7)

Lease right-of-use assets & gL E Distribution %4 - 1.8

Property, plant and equipment

W% - B MEE Distribution % 5 - (0.1)

Other EAth ™ Distribution %% - 7.8

Total impairment reversals

PERIERE IR R (84.0) (72.2)
Note #H##

(1) Other impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2022, were attributable to the disposition of the Group’s Russian operations on

July 1, 2022.

HE2022F12 A1 AL FENEMAEERNERANRNEER2022F7 A1 B HEELMBTER -

In accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 36,
Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”), the Group is required to evaluate
its intangible assets with indefinite lives at least annually. The Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets with indefinite
lives to determine whether there is any indication of impairment
below its carrying value (resulting in an impairment charge), or
when an event has occurred or circumstances change that would
result in the recoverable amount of intangible assets, excluding
goodwill, exceeding its net impaired carrying value (resulting in an
impairment reversal). The Group is also required to perform a review
for impairment indicators at the end of each reporting period on
its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives. If there is
any indication that an asset may be impaired or there may be an
impairment reversal, the Group must estimate the recoverable amount
of the asset or cash generating unit ("CGU").

2023 Impairment Reversals

Based on valuations performed by a third-party specialist engaged
by the Company in conjunction with its annual assessment during the
fourth quarter of 2023, management determined that the recoverable
amounts of certain intangible assets exceeded their net impaired
carrying values during the year ended December 31, 2023, resulting
in the reversal of certain non-cash impairment charges that had been
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Group
recognized non-cash impairment reversals totaling US$84.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2023, for certain tradenames.
The increase in recoverable value for these tradenames is attributable
to the continued improvement in net sales and profitability.
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2022 Impairment (Reversals) Charges

Based on valuations performed by a third-party specialist engaged
by the Company in conjunction with its annual assessment during the
fourth quarter of 2022, management determined that the recoverable
amounts of certain intangible assets exceeded their net impaired
carrying values during the year ended December 31, 2022, resulting
in the reversal of certain non-cash impairment charges that had been
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Group
recognized non-cash impairment reversals totaling US$81.7 million
during the year ended December 31, 2022, for certain tradenames.
The increase in recoverable value for these tradenames is attributable
to the continued improvement in net sales and profitability.

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities
in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group
subsequently completed the disposition of its Russian operations on
July 1, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group
recognized non-cash impairment charges related to the disposition
of its Russian operations totaling US$11.9 million, of which US$4.0
million related to lease right-of-use assets and US$0.1 million for
property, plant and equipment associated with the retail stores in
Russia, and the remaining US$7.8 million related to the disposition of
the Group’s Russian operations.

Based on an evaluation of company-operated retail stores during
the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group determined that the
recoverable amounts of certain retail stores, which represent individual
CGUs, exceeded their corresponding net impaired carrying amounts,
resulting in impairment reversals being recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Group recognized non-cash impairment reversals totaling US$2.4
million, which were comprised of US$2.2 million for lease right-of-use
assets and US$0.2 million for property, plant and equipment, including
leasehold improvements related to such stores.

See note 5 Impairment Reversals to the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

Other Expense

The Group recorded other expense of US$3.8 million and US$0.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022, respectively. Other expense for the year ended December
31, 2023, included losses on the disposal of property, plant and
equipment along with certain other miscellaneous expense items.
Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2023, also included
restructuring reversals (the “2023 Restructuring Reversals”) of US$0.6
million as the Group determined that a portion of its restructuring
accrual was no longer needed. Other expense for the year ended
December 31, 2022, included restructuring charges (the “2022
Restructuring Charges”) of US$1.3 million, primarily attributable to
the disposition of the Group's operations in Russia, as well as certain
other miscellaneous income and expense items. These other expenses
were partially offset by gains from the disposal of assets and gains on
lease exits/remeasurements.
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Operating Profit

The Group reported an operating profit of US$743.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$492.1 million for
the previous year, an improvement of US$251.5 million, or 51.1%.

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s
operating profit, as reported, to operating profit, as adjusted, for the
years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

OPERATING PROFIT
R

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLFE

(KEEET25)

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

2023

g s A
HE2023F12A81HILFE - AEBZ2HL
EmFT743.7THEEIT RAFM49218EE
TLE251.5 B EETHE1.1% °

TRENNHZE2023%F12 A31H N 2022912 A
S1HEFEAEEZSRILE G F ELHAER
4S5 I R T BR -

Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
currency
effects®

Percentage
increase
(decrease) il
& Crid)
Epaid

Operating profit, as reported SR EmF 743.7 492.1 51.1% 53.6%
Impairment Reversals ER R (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Restructuring (Reversals) Charges B4 (BE) &A (0.6) 1.3 nm nm
Operating profit, as adjusted ARG ERT 659.1 421.2 56.5% 59.4%

Notes 5%

(1) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BTRERAEAE2IIMEERIFIFRSFTET A  RUBMER 25N AFZEERMHLMLRFEEN T HEXRGERS o

nm Not meaningful.
EBEE -

Net Finance Costs

Net finance costs increased by US$29.2 million, or 22.5%, to
US$158.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from
US$129.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This
increase was primarily attributable to an US$11.3 million increase in
interest expense on loans and borrowings driven by higher interest
rates year-on-year, an increase in interest expense on leases of
US$8.8 million, an increase in the non-cash charge associated with
redeemable non-controlling interest put options of US$3.8 million
year-on-year due to improved financial performance of the Group’s
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that are subject to put
options, and a non-cash charge of US$4.4 million to derecognize the
deferred financing costs associated with the Refinancing (as defined
in Management Discussion and Analysis — Indebtedness). The impact
from higher interest rates in 2023 was partially offset by the lower
principal amount of outstanding debt during the year. The Group
refinanced its senior credit facilities in June 2023. See Management
Discussion and Analysis — Indebtedness.
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TREINEHE2023F12 A31H K 2022912 A
1BIEFEMNMEERLEAMA -

The following table sets forth a breakdown of total finance costs for
the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALFE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (AXBEEZETZ5) 2023
Recognized in profit or loss: RIBEPHER
Interest income FE WA 14.3 8.8
Total finance income B SUR A 4R 58 14.3 8.8
Interest expense on loans and borrowings ERRERHFSMAZ (101.8) (90.6)
Derecognition of deferred financing costs BB E BRI TER

associated with the Refinancing R AL E R A (4.4) -
Amortization of deferred financing costs AT B A B AN §H (3.4) (4.8)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBENMEFRE (27.7) (18.9)
Change in fair value of put options ROREREZ N BEZE) (21.8) (18.0)
Net foreign exchange loss SNE B8 F 5 (10.2) (7.6)
Other finance costs HEii &R (3.6) 1.6
Total finance costs Bi7s B AR (173.0) (138.3)
Net finance costs recognized in profit or loss REBEPERNIEERFE (158.7) (129.5)

BR B 18 B¢ Al aa F

HZE2023F 12 81 BILFE - AEEHERKk
FrS3TiAEF584.9H 8 XL - REFHI362.6
BEXILKE222.3HE%ET561.3% °

Profit before Income Tax

The Group recorded a profit before income tax of US$584.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$362.6 million
for the previous year, an improvement of US$222.3 million, or 61.3%.

TREWNHZE2023F12 A31H F20224F12 A
31 B IEFEAREE 2 R FTS AT F) B 48
TR R ATEHANE MR -

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s
profit before income tax, as reported, to profit before income tax, as
adjusted, for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
KR FT 8B AR 7
Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
Percentage currency
Year ended December 31, increase

BE12A1HLEE

(A BEZETZ2) 2023 2022

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

Profit before income tax, as reported S MOBRFTEBRTEF] 584.9 362.6 61.3% 62.6%
Impairment Reversals W 8] (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Restructuring (Reversals) Charges S (BE) EH (0.6) 1.3 nm nm
Derecognition of deferred financing costs B2 EEEFARIAL 1E TR

associated with the Refinancing JERE B A A 4.4 - n/a n/a
Profit before income tax, as adjusted L EEIR BIBR PSR A 504.8 291.6 73.1% 74.7%

Notes 5%
(1) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.
RTAEERIEAE 2N EERIFIFRSTHELA  RUEHEB 2N AFEE X ERPELEHREEN THERFHME -
n/a Not applicable.
T#EA -
nm Not meaningful.
mEE -
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Income Tax Expense

The Group recorded income tax expense of US$134.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to income tax expense of
US$24.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The income
tax expense recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023, was
due mainly to the US$584.9 million reported profit before income tax,
combined with tax impacts from changes in unrecognized deferred tax
assets, and the profit mix between high and low tax jurisdictions. The
income tax expense recorded during the year ended December 31,
2022, was due mainly to the US$362.6 million reported profit before
income tax, combined with tax impacts from changes in unrecognized
deferred tax assets and the profit mix between high and low tax
jurisdictions.

The Group’s consolidated effective tax rate for operations was 23.0%
and 6.7% for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022, respectively. The increase in the Group’s effective tax rate year-
on-year was mainly the result of changes in unrecognized deferred
tax assets, and changes in the profit mix between high and low tax
jurisdictions. Excluding the effect of the changes in unrecognized
deferred tax assets, the consolidated effective tax rate for operations
would have been 26.9% for the year ended December 31, 2023.
Excluding the effect of the changes in unrecognized deferred tax
assets, the consolidated effective tax rate for operations would have
been 32.1% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The effective
tax rate is calculated using a weighted average income tax rate from
those jurisdictions in which the Group is subject to tax, adjusted
for permanent book/tax differences, tax incentives, changes in tax
reserves and changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets in each jurisdiction are analyzed for recoverability
at each reporting date and derecognized to the extent that it is
no longer probable that the assets will be utilized in future taxable
periods. The analysis considers both positive and negative evidence.
In 2023, the Group’s results showed an increase in profit before
income tax reported during the year. As a result, the Group began
to recognize certain deferred tax assets that were previously
unrecognized in the amount of US$22.7 million. In 2022, the Group’s
results showed an increase in profit before income tax reported
during the year. As a result, the Group began to recognize certain
deferred tax assets that were previously unrecognized in the amount
of US$104.2 million.
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Profit iz Al

Profit for the Year FREF

Profit for the year ended December 31, 2023, was US$450.3 milion #HZE2023F 12 A31 B It FEREHFI A450.3
compared to US$338.3 million for the year ended December 31, HBHEZXIT B BKEHE2022F12A31HIEFEN
2022, an improvement of US$112.0 million, or 33.1%. 338.3EBE XN ZE=112.0883%7T533.1% °

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s profit ~ F&RZ%IEZE2023%12 431 H &2022F12 A
for the year, as reported, to profit for the year, as adjusted, for the 318 [FFEAREE 2 ROF NG F EEFHEER

years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. B N FI BB o
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
FREF
Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
Percentage currency
Year ended December 31, increase effects
HZE12A31BLLEE (decrease) iR
- #mCEd) #0 ( )
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZTZ2) 2023 2022 Bt BokO
Profit for the year, as reported ZWMEFE R T 450.3 338.3 33.1% 34.2%
Impairment Reversals BB D (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Restructuring (Reversals) Charges S48 (#E) &A (0.6) 1.3 nm nm
Derecognition of deferred financing costs  E255 g & fA B8 4% | T RIE T AL
associated with the Refinancing (=N 4.4 - n/a n/a
Tax impact By e 19.4 19.4 (0.2)% 0.2)%
Profit for the year, as adjusted KRHEENFRET 389.6 286.8 35.8% 37.2%

Notes 7t

(1) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.
BRAEERLEAFT2INEERIFIFRSTHELA - RUEMEE 2N AFEEERPEEBLHRFEN FHERFHMAE -

n/a Not applicable.

TEA °
nm Not meaningful.
EEE -
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Profit Attributable to the Equity Holders

Profit attributable to the equity holders was US$417.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$312.7 million for
the previous year, an improvement of US$104.3 million, or 33.3%.

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s profit
attributable to the equity holders, as reported, to profit attributable to
the equity holders, as adjusted, for the years ended December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022.

RERE AELER

HZE2023F 12 A31HILFE - WEFEAME
ERMNAB470BEERT  BAFHS127E8E
ELRNE104.3HEETTHE3.3% °

TXRE5EZE2023F12 A31 B K2022512 A
1A EFEAEE 2R KRIEFFAREEF
LA R R RO IRAER ARG S T RO ¥R o

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS

IR A B R
Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
Percentage currency
Year ended December 31, increase
BZ12A31HLLEE (decrease)
1890 b
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (XEEZETZ3) 2023 2022
Profit attributable to the equity holders, SHRABIEREA
as reported FE(REF 417.0 312.7 33.3% 34.6%
Impairment Reversals BB D (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Restructuring (Reversals) Charges BH (BR) BR (0.6) 1.3 nm nm
Derecognition of deferred financing costs ~ E2FE g & FARI 4% 1 FERIR LT
associated with the Refinancing A& AR 4.4 - n/a n/a
Tax impact Biis g 19.4 19.4 (0.2)% (0.2)%
Profit attributable to the equity holders, KA BENIRERSB AL
as adjusted el 356.3 261.2 36.4% 37.9%

Notes 5%

(1) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BIBERAEAE2IINEERIFIFRSFTET A  RUBHER 2N AFEEERBELALRFEEN T HEXRGTEMRS -

n/a Not applicable.
T

nm Not meaningful.
BmEE -

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share were US$0.289 for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to US$0.218 for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The weighted average number of shares used
in the basic earnings per share calculation was 1,444,491,686 shares
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 1,437,575,062
shares for the year ended December 31, 2022. Diluted earnings
per share were US$0.287 for the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to US$0.217 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
weighted average number of shares outstanding used in the diluted
earnings per share calculation was 1,453,260,449 shares for the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to 1,439,740,642 shares for
the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
of intangible assets (“Adjusted EBITDA”), a non-IFRS measure,
improved by US$237.0 million, or 50.2%, to US$709.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$472.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. Adjusted EBITDA margin,
a non-IFRS measure, was 19.3% for the year ended December 31,
2023, compared to 16.4% for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA margin was primarily due to
continued net sales improvement and the increase in gross profit
margin, as well as disciplined expense management.

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s profit
for the year to Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022:

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A1BLEFE

KA EEBITDA

REFFIE - B - MEREFEESHANHL
FEEF ([ FAEEBITDA] - —EIEIFRSH £
TH)MREZE2022F12 A31HILFEH472.3
BEXEITHE237.088ETHL502%2HE
202312 A31BILFEM709.3EEETT © &l
£2023%F12 A31 B It FE KK AEEBITDAT
HE (—IBIEIFRSFTETR) 519.3% * MESE
202212 A1 A IEFERIR16.4% © &L FE
EBITDAFE RN E X EHNHE FREFENRE
REFME EAARBEEERZ A

TRENAEFEHZEZ2023F12 8318 &
2022F 12 A31 HIEFEMF AN @ F E LA
EBITDABYETBE -

Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
currency

Percentage

increase
(deorease) i

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (X BEEZET 2023 2022
Profit for the year FE R F 450.3 338.3 33.1% 34.2%
Plus (minus): Gl -
Income tax expense FriSFiR X 134.6 24.3 454.7% 458.0%
Finance costs Bi%EA 173.0 138.3 25.1% 34.2%
Finance income U A (14.3) (8.8) 62.9% 121.1%
Depreciation e 39.8 34.9 13.9% 14.2%
Total amortization Hipaess 152.5 140.5 8.6% 9.3%
EBITDA EBITD/—\ 935.9 667.6 40.2% 42.2%
Plus (minus): nGat)
Share-based compensation expense MH&HS‘ZHE’J%’T@NF@& 14.8 13.8 7.4% 7.0%
Impairment Reversals B B (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Amortization of lease right-of-use assets & {F F#E & & #5H (133.5) (118.2) 13.0% 13.8%
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBENFERAX (27.7) (18.9) 46.7% 48.1%
Other expense( HEAnpazo 3.8 0.3 nm nm
Adjusted EBITDAR & FFEEBITDAR 709.3 472.3 50.2% 54.0%
Adjusted EBITDA margin® K EEBITDAR B &R ® 19.3% 16.4%

Notes 7T
(1) Other expense per the consolidated statements of income.

fmAakERPHEMEY -

(2) Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges.
Adjusted EBITDA includes the lease interest and amortization expense as a result of the Group’s adoption of IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) to

account for operational rent expenses.

EAEEBITDARIEIFRSFT 2T A - EMBRZERA BRAREEURE TEMIEBRSERNTE - CHAREBTDARERAARSERMIFRSE16

SRAE (TIFRSH165E ) MERMAEN B R - MEAALEREMRX -

(8) Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by net sales.

LHEEBITDATE R AIEIFRSETE T A LAKFAZEBITDAK ASHE T EF1E -

(4) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under

comparison to current year local currency results.

BT EEREEGE 2N EARIFIFRSHET R  BRUEMER 20| WAF ERARMAEE AL RF M FEER

nm Not meaningful.
BEE -

<SG o
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The following tables present reconciliations from profit (loss) for the  T&R&(F&E E2023F12 431 H %2022 12 5
year to Adjusted EBITDA on a regional basis for the years ended 31 H M EiRitEEE LT ERER (E18)
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022: B/C R EBITDARI I BR -

Year ended December 31, 2023
B Z2023F12831HILEE

North Latin
America Europe America Corporate
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (M B#EZET25!) dEEM BN AT EM b1=E
Profit (loss) for the year FREF (E518) 197.6 148.6 94.5 35.4 (25.7) 450.3
Plus (minus): nom) -
Income tax expense (benefit) FriSHif s (3 e) 53.0 45.9 33.9 (18.3) 20.1 134.6
Finance costs B %8 A 10.8 13.0 8.8 10.1 130.3 173.0
Finance income A (3.5) (1.0) (1.4) (4.2) (4.3) (14.3)
Depreciation e 15.5 9.6 12.1 2.4 0.3 39.8
Total amortization Bres4aEs 44.2 60.3 33.1 12.4 2.6 152.5
EBITDA EBITDA 317.5 276.4 181.0 37.8 123.2 935.9
Plus (minus): O -
Share-based compensation LARR 1 =2 1+ 89
expense R 0.0 1.9 3.1 0.0 9.8 14.8
Impairment Reversals pEREEE{E! - - - - (84.0) (84.0)
Amortization of lease right-of-use HEFEAEEE
assets ey (40.4) (51.9) (28.7) (12.3) (0.2) (133.5)
Interest expense on lease liabilites ~ FAEABEHF B (6.1) (12.6) (5.8) (3.2) (0.0) (27.7)
Inter-company charges (income)’  ARMER (KA)O 69.1 42.4 (1.4) 4.1 (114.2) -
Other expense®? HEppze (0.8) 2.0 (0.5) 2.8 0.3 3.8
Adjusted EBITDA® #EFFEEBITDA® 339.3 258.1 147.8 29.1 (65.0) 709.3
Adjusted EBITDA margin® L REEBITDARE R ® 23.8% 20.4% 19.0% 13.9% nm 19.3%
Notes sF##

1)

@

Inter-company charges (income) by region include intra-group royalty income/expense and other cross-charges that eliminate in
consolidation.

BB EHWRRMER (KA) BEEENBHERRA X ERES AR EGEERS -

Other expense per the consolidated statements of income.

FARBERTHEMES -

Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges.
Adjusted EBITDA includes the lease interest and amortization expense as a result of the Group’s adoption of IFRS 16 to account for
operational rent expenses.

ICTHEEBITDARIFIFRSFHE T A - HMBZEKAK BEAREEURE THMFRSBERNTE - KHREBTDARERAAREERMNIFRSE 16
SEPTEBMEER SR HEMA Y - UERAKLEESMY -

Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by net sales.

KA EBITDARME R AIEIFRSEHE T & - LA HEEBITDAR LS & F 8t B 1S -

Not meaningful.

BEE -

American Tourister DashPop Spinners
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F12A31 B LFE

Latin
America

North
America

JE=M

Europe
BOM

Corporate
T ENM =3

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (X B#EZET25)

Profit for the year F R 83.6 123.6 105.4 14.4 11.3 338.3
Plus (minus): o)
Income tax expense (benefit) Frisfi Y (Ex) 11.6 41.0 (12.2) 1.5 (17.6) 24.3
Finance costs M5 ER 6.9 10.0 11.1 3.6 106.7 138.3
Finance income BT ON (2.2) 0.2) (0.5) (1.7) (4.2) (8.8)
Depreciation e 12.7 9.6 10.2 2.2 0.3 34.9
Total amortization #inege 41.9 56.8 28.7 10.4 2.7 140.5
EBITDA EBITDA 154.6 240.8 142.7 30.3 99.1 667.6
Plus (minus): L) -
Share-based compensation LARRAD S A9
expense MRS (2.1) 1.9 1. 0.0 13.0 13.8
Impairment (Reversals) Charges EE () &R - (2.3) 10.7 - (80.7) (72.2)
Amortization of lease right-of-use HEFEREEE
assets b (34.7) (48.6) (24.4) (10.3) 0.2) (118.2)
Interest expense on lease liabilites A& & BN S5 (4.1) 9.2) (3.5) (2.0) (0.0) (18.9)
Inter-company charges (income) NRIMER (Ao 48.9 34.8 (0.6) 2.8 (86.0) -
Other expense® Hibfxze 2.5 (1.2) (2.3) 0.2 1.1 0.3
Adjusted EBITDA® EAEEEBITDA® 165.1 216.2 123.7 21.0 (53.7) 472.3
Adjusted EBITDA margin® R EEBITDARE R ® 18.0% 19.3% 18.3% 12.4% nm 16.4%

Notes 5%

(1) Inter-company charges (income) by region include intra-group royalty income/expense and other cross-charges that eliminate in
consolidation.

ZitEEHHARMER (WA BEEENTINERKRA /X RRGEE ARRHENEMBERY -

(2) Other expense per the consolidated statements of income.

HFEWERPOHEMASL -

(3) Adjusted EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other non-cash charges.
Adjusted EBITDA includes the lease interest and amortization expense as a result of the Group’s adoption of IFRS 16 to account for
operational rent expenses.

KB EBITDARIEIFRSEHE LA - Hiifr 2 HMA - BAREEURETEMIFRSERNTE - KHBEBITDARIEEAEERMNIFRSE16
SEATEBMBEER S RBHMY  UEFALEReHE -

(4) Adjusted EBITDA margin, a non-IFRS measure, is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by net sales.
CHHREEBITDARIE R AIEIFRSETE T A « LAL HREBITDAR LASH &S FH E 15 -

nm Not meaningful.

The Company has presented EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA margin because it believes that, when viewed with its results

RATIZFIEBITDA -~ 48 FHEEEBITDA R AE A=
EBITDARE®R - AEMBEEREELEERA
(IRIRIFRSE FTAERIREL) K B4 5 F 31T £
R ZEAETAESREESZEH - BN
FRETHRAKERBERTEAEEBNBE -
EBITDA - & FEEBITDA K&K FAREBITDAFE
ERAEBARTEELERE KRR S 82
TNEZEEIEE -

of operations as prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and with the reconciliation to profit for the year, these
measures provide additional information that is useful in gaining a
more complete understanding of its operational performance and of
the trends impacting its business. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA margin are important metrics the Group uses to
evaluate its operating performance and cash generation.

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-
IFRS measures and as calculated herein may not be comparable to
similarly named measures used by other companies and should not
be considered comparable to profit for the year in the Company’s
consolidated statements of income. These measures have limitations
as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation from, or
as a substitute for, an analysis of the Company’s results of operations
as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

At EHEBITDA « & AR EBITDAR LA
HEBITDAFE X AIEIFRSFHE L E » RMA
BEMARAEREUGENEIE TAETT
8 BTEHEAATEADRGAENGERTF
RHEMHE - ZS5FETEEANPINITAEH
B - TEER BB N EARA RRIE
IFRSEEHEAIFT 2 MA L EELEN DT -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Adjusted Net Income RAREFUA

Adjusted Net Income, a non-IFRS measure, increased by US$96.3 & £2023%F 12 431 B It FE AL AR FIA
million, or 32.5%, to US$392.4 million for the year ended December (—IEFFIFRSitE LA ) &HE ZE2022412 A 31
31, 2023, compared to US$296.0 million for the year ended December B IF EE#I296.0 B &E X TIENN96.3 B E =TT
31, 2022. The improvement in Adjusted Net Income was primarily due  5(32.5% £392.4 G &% T o KLHAEFWAL
to improved net sales and gross profit, as well as disciplined expense ETXZHREEFENLEFNRSALEKER
management. FISZ ATER ©

The following table presents the reconciliation from the Group’s profit ~ T&RZ%IE E2023412 431 H &20224F12 A
attributable to the equity holders to Adjusted Net Income for the years 31 B IFFE RN E BARAE B A FEAE 4 F EL4E

ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. BRI ABEER o
Percentage
increase
(decrease)
excl. foreign
Percentage currency
Year ended December 31, increase effects®
BZE12A31BLEE (decrease)
- #mCE>) 4)
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETZ2) 2023 Epaid Eppdd
Profit attributable to the equity holders & 1 5B A FE 4G 5 F) 417.0 312.7 33.3% 34.6%
Plus (minus): Gl -
Change in fair value of put options AR 55 A AR h Hi R
included in finance costs Z AR BEZE 21.8 18.0 20.9% 20.9%
Amortization of intangible assets EAE#R 19.0 22.3 (14.8)% (14.7)%
Derecognition of deferred financing EEFE AR IE
costs associated with the TERIE T
Refinancing BhE AR 4.4 - n/a n/a
Impairment Reversals RAERE (84.0) (72.2) 16.3% 16.3%
Restructuring (Reversals) Charges BH(BE)ER (0.6) 1.3 nm nm
Tax adjustments(” FRIEFEO 14.7 13.9 5.6% 5.5%
Adjusted Net Income® LR FERAO 392.4 296.0 32.5% 33.8%

Notes 1%
(1) Tax adjustments represent the tax effect of the reconciling line items as included in the consolidated statements of income based on the
applicable tax rate in the jurisdiction where such costs were incurred.
RARZEERN AU AEEMERZRRNERHEFAGARERNERRENHBZE -
(2) Represents Adjusted Net Income attributable to the equity holders of the Company.
EARRIRER A AEGEREFRA -
(3) Results stated on a constant currency basis, a non-IFRS measure, are calculated by applying the average exchange rate of the year under
comparison to current year local currency results.
RTSEREENEZ2INEERIFIFRSHETLAR  RUEHEB 2N AFE X ERARLBLRFEN TIERTEMG -
n/a Not applicable.
TEA -
nm Not meaningful.
EmEE -

High Sierra Fairlead Travel Duffel/Backpack and Fairlead 34” Wheeled Duffel
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Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share, which are non-IFRS
measures, were US$0.272 and US$0.270 per share, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$0.206 and
US$0.206 per share, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2022. Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated
by dividing Adjusted Net Income by the weighted average number of
shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations,
respectively.

The Company has presented Adjusted Net Income and adjusted basic
and diluted earnings per share because it believes these measures
help to give securities analysts, investors and other interested
parties a more complete understanding of the Company’s underlying
financial performance. By presenting Adjusted Net Income and the
related adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share calculations,
the Company eliminates the effect of a number of costs, charges
and credits and certain other non-cash charges, along with their
respective tax effects, that impact reported profit attributable to the
equity holders.

Adjusted Net Income and adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share
are non-IFRS measures and as calculated herein may not be comparable
to similarly named measures used by other companies and should not
be considered comparable to profit attributable to the equity holders
or basic and diluted earnings per share presented in the Company’s
consolidated statements of income. Adjusted Net Income and the
related adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share calculations have
limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation
from, or as a substitute for, an analysis of the Company’s results of
operations as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

HE2023F12 A3 H L FENLEARGHRE
AREERF (BIEIFRSHETIER) 2RI AER
0.272% T} 0.2703% 7T + MBIE2022F 12 A
31BIEFER SR AEAR0.206% 7T £ 0.206
ETT o KABRBREARARE SR EACHE
FRADRIBRAERERRESRFEMA
B INETFHRMNE B FESD -

ARBE2NNEHBEFRAREHBRERELR
HEaEN  HEAGHEFETAEDESD
B REERHEMMNSHETERZR THEA
RAWABP BRI - 2NEREFRARE
MEHBEREAREERANER - AQF
kR R E 2 A AT A ARG H N8 Z B
A BRMEBRARETEMIERSER (&
REZENRETE) NZE -

R ENEAEFRARCHABGRANR
NESERF AIEIFRSEI2 T A - KU AT EHE A
ARFMERAEUGENTETAETHER - B
TR BRI AN BGRAERER 2 KM
BAAEHEFNRERERREEABFILE -
KAEFRARBAEHARTREARAREER
MetEER—ELOMIABERRME - TER
R AEN R SRS AN A FIRIRIFRS & 5 22 Al Fy
EROEEEBERDHN ©

Gregory Alpaca Gear Box and Alpaca Gear Basket
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management policies
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to provide
returns for the Company’s shareholders, and to fund total capital
expenditures, normal operating expenses, working capital needs and
the payment of obligations. The Group’s primary sources of liquidity
are its cash flows from operating activities, invested cash, available
lines of credit and, subject to shareholder approval, the Company’s
ability to issue additional shares. The Company believes that its
existing cash and estimated cash flows, along with current working
capital, will be adequate to meet the foreseeable future operating and
capital requirements of the Group at least through March 31, 2025.

Cash Flows

Cash flows generated from operating activities improved by 92.4% to
US$534.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared
to US$277.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
US$256.5 million increase in cash flows generated from operating
activities year-on-year primarily relates to the increase in Adjusted
Net Income and changes in working capital as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by an increase in interest
paid on borrowings and lease liabilities and income taxes paid.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash flows used in
investing activities were US$110.1 million and were related to total
capital expenditures of US$110.1 million, (comprised of US$99.3
million for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and
US$10.8 million for software purchases). The Group selectively
added new retail locations, remodeled certain existing retail locations
and made investments in machinery and equipment to support new
product innovation. For the year ended December 31, 2022, net
cash flows used in investing activities were US$62.8 million and were
related to total capital expenditures of US$62.8 million, (comprised
of US$51.6 million for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
and US$11.2 million for software purchases). The Group intends
to continue to spend on property, plant and equipment to upgrade
and expand its retail store fleet as well as to invest in core strategic

functions to support continued sales growth during 2024.

Samsonite Re.Classic Luggage, BlackJack Tote Bag
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Net cash flows used in financing activities were US$347.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, and were largely attributable
to cash outflows associated with the Refinancing (as defined in
Management Discussion and Analysis — Indebtedness) and repayment
of US$113.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Group’s New
Senior Credit Facilities, consisting of US$100.0 million in voluntary
payments and US$13.0 million in required quarterly amortization
payments. In conjunction with the Refinancing, the Group paid
US$17.1 million in deferred financing costs that will be recognized
over the term of the borrowings. Net cash flows used in financing
activities also included US$139.6 million in principal payments on
lease liabilities. The cash flows used in financing activities during the
year ended December 31, 2023, were partially offset by proceeds
from share option exercises of US$26.8 million.

Net cash flows used in financing activities were US$881.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, and were largely attributable to
the repayment of US$751.4 million of outstanding borrowings under
the Prior Senior Credit Facilities (as defined in Management Discussion
and Analysis — Indebtedness), consisting of US$704.8 million in
voluntary prepayments and US$46.6 million in required quarterly
amortization payments. Net cash flows used in financing activities also
included US$131.3 million in principal payments on lease liabilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group delivered Free
Cash Flow of US$284.5 million compared to US$83.5 million for
the previous year, an increase of US$201.0 million, or 240.6%. As
of December 31, 2023, the Group had US$716.6 million in cash and
cash equivalents, compared to US$635.9 million as of December 31,
2022. Cash and cash equivalents are generally denominated in the
functional currency of the applicable Group entity.

Note

(1) Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash generated from (used in) operating
activities less (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment and software (“total
capital expenditures”) and (ii) principal payments on lease liabilities (each as set
forth on the consolidated statements of cash flows).

HZE2023F12A31BILFE - EFEBFTH
REMEFEAIMTSEEEL  TEHMNE
AREAEENReRE (TEREEENH N
AT — BE) REEREEHELEERBIE
THREZERI1.08EETL  2FEEREN
F100.0BEBET KM EFEHIBENZ13.08
BET - NERENRARK  REBEXZN17.1
BEETEEMEXS » EBEERAR AR
ReMETHARSREFENCERES
BRI RS 139.6 BEETT ° HE20234F12
AB1ALLFE  mEAEBHMARSREN DA
TR BRAEFTSFIE26.8 B B ELATIREY -

HZE2022F12A31ALFE - #EEHM
AREREFEASSIAEEETL T2HR
ERBATELEERB(TRREEENmE
A —BE)ETHRERERTS14B8ESE
L BIEEFERAIEERIBT04.8EEELR
HEFTEBHENR4I66E8ET - - MEETH
FIRAREREFENRIEHEEENAESMNR
131.3B8XET °

HZE2023F12A31HILEFE  A5BEERA
HRESMEN2845BEET BRAFHE35H
BRI MN201.08 EETK240.6% ° 12023
F12A318  FEENRE IR eEEMA
716.6 BB FEJT ' MM2022F12 A31HAIA
635 9ABET - R LBEEB/BYW — MUK
SEEREANIEELME -

(1) BERBRERETERELETYME (FMA)RLF
HRE(NBENE BEREBARRBUMEER
(TEAMXEE]) RMHBEABENES TR (D HIM
SARSRERMH)

Lipault Pop-up Store at Nice, France
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B RED A

Indebtedness

The following table sets forth the carrying amount of the Group’s loans
and borrowings as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

&\

December 31,

2023

TREHIRNEBR2023F 12 A31 H M 20224F
12A31BNERRERNERE -

December 31,
2022

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (UXEEZETZ5) 2023%F12H31H 2022412 A31H
New Term Loan A Facility FIATEEE N RhE 790.0
New Term Loan B Facility FBEHEREE 597.0
New Senior Credit Facilities MBS IE B AA 1,387.0 -
Prior Term Loan A Facility BEATHE RS - 580.0
Prior Term Loan B Facility BEBTE MEKEB - 534.9
2021 Incremental Term Loan B Facility 2021 FIEBTHERRR - 463.1
Prior Senior Credit Facilities BEELEERS - 1,578.0
Total Senior Credit Facilities BEEERBEE 1,387.0 1,578.0
Senior Notes™ BEEEO 386.3 374.6
Other borrowings and obligations Hib R R EH 50.7 67.0
Total loans and borrowings EFRIEFKAE 1,824.0 2,019.6
Less deferred financing costs R T R A AR (17.0) (7.8)
Total loans and borrowings less deferred financing costs B KGR ERERIEE R E R A 1,807.0 2,011.8

Note #H#E

(1) The value of the Senior Notes, when translated from Euros into US Dollars, will change relative to the fluctuation in the exchange rate

between the Euro and US Dollar at stated points in time.
ERAZBRARMTRE RETH -

Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facilities Agreement
On June 21, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the Company and certain
of its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries entered into the
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “New Credit
Agreement”). The New Credit Agreement amended and restated in its
entirety the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated April 25,
2018 (as amended from time to time prior to the Closing Date, the
“Prior Credit Agreement”), and provides for (1) a new US$800.0 million
senior secured term loan A facility (the “New Term Loan A Facility”),
(2) a new US$600.0 million senior secured term loan B facility (the
“New Term Loan B Facility”) and (3) a new US$850.0 million revolving
credit facility (the “New Revolving Credit Facility”). The credit facilities
provided under the New Credit Agreement are referred to herein as
the “New Senior Credit Facilities.”

The Prior Credit Agreement provided for (1) a US$800.0 million
senior secured term loan A facility (the “Prior Term Loan A Facility”),
(2) a US$665.0 million senior secured term loan B facility (the “Prior
Term Loan B Facility”), (3) a US$495.5 million term loan B facility (the
“2021 Incremental Term Loan B Facility”) and (4) a US$850.0 million
revolving credit facility (the “Prior Revolving Credit Facility”). The credit
facilities provided under the Prior Credit Agreement are referred to
herein as the “Prior Senior Credit Facilities.”
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On the Closing Date, the Group borrowed US$100.0 million under
the New Revolving Credit Facility and used the proceeds of such
borrowing, plus the proceeds from the New Term Loan A Facility and
the New Term Loan B Facility, along with cash on hand, to repay
the entire principal amount of its outstanding borrowings under the
Prior Credit Agreement, plus transaction expenses (the transactions
entered into on the Closing Date pursuant to and in connection with
the New Credit Agreement are collectively referred to herein as the
“Refinancing”).

As of December 31, 2023, no amounts were outstanding on the New
Revolving Credit Facility.

Interest Rate and Fees

Interest on the borrowings under the New Term Loan A Facility, the
New Revolving Credit Facility and the New Term Loan B Facility began
to accrue on the Closing Date.

In respect of the New Term Loan A Facility and the New Revolving
Credit Facility, the interest rate payable from the Closing Date until
the delivery of the financial statements for the first full fiscal quarter
commencing on or after the Closing Date was based on the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), with a SOFR floor of 0%, plus
a 10 basis-point credit spread adjustment, plus 1.375% per annum
(or a base rate plus 0.375% per annum), and thereafter is based on
the lower rate derived from either the first lien net leverage ratio of
the Company and its restricted subsidiaries at the end of each fiscal
quarter or the Company’s corporate ratings.

In respect of the New Term Loan B Facility, the interest rate payable
with effect from the Closing Date is based on SOFR, with a SOFR
floor of 0.50%, plus 2.750% per annum (or a base rate plus 1.750%
per annum).

As the Company's New Term Loan A Facility, New Revolving Credit
Facility and New Term Loan B Facility have floating interest rates, the
Company calculates interest expense based on the actual benchmark
interest rate plus the applicable margin that was in effect for the
relevant period.

In addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal amount
of borrowings under the New Senior Credit Facilities, the borrowers
pay customary agency fees and a commitment fee equal to 0.2%
per annum in respect of the unutilized commitments under the New
Revolving Facility from the Closing Date until the delivery of the
financial statements for the first full fiscal quarter commencing on or
after the Closing Date and thereafter shall be based on the lower rate
derived from either the first lien net leverage ratio of the Company
and its restricted subsidiaries at the end of each fiscal quarter or the
Company’s corporate ratings.

REKE » AEERFRREERBETMEA
100.0 B BT * YR ERMFFIRERMAE
HEREE N BENERBBMERIEAL
FHAD  ARTHEELREEEHAEATH
RAEEERAERXHER (REMAFEE
BERTRBEFTINRSEAX GRS [ BE
&) -

R2023F 12 A31H » WEEHKAEEZHBER:E
Ea@emE -

NEREA
MATEHEFRE - FTIERESRBRITBEY
EREBRIR T B ERA SR T BB RE -

RTATHERRBRFBEREERBMS -
BEXKAREZEE KA ZERABRNEER
B HERENABREIMERLE - EAFIE
TERERBRIERNE ([SOFRD EE - H
FSOFRTIRA0% © SI10EEZMEREE
AR AR FIEA.375% (R EEFE S e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Amortization and Final Maturity

The New Term Loan A Facility requires scheduled quarterly payments
commencing on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter ended after
the Closing Date, with an annual amortization of 2.5% of the original
principal amount of the loans under the New Term Loan A Facility
during each of the first and second years, with a step-up to 5.0%
annual amortization during each of the third and fourth years and 7.5%
annual amortization during the fifth year, with the balance due and
payable on the maturity date for the New Term Loan A Facility. There
is no scheduled amortization of any principal amounts outstanding
under the New Revolving Credit Facility. The balance then outstanding
under the New Term Loan A Facility and the New Revolving Credit
Facility will be due and payable on June 21, 2028.

If (i) on the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity date of the Senior
Notes (as defined below), more than €150.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of the Senior Notes has not been repaid and/
or refinanced with indebtedness having a maturity date at least 90
days later than the then-stated maturity date of the New Term Loan
A Facility and the New Revolving Credit Facility and the total net
leverage ratio of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries on such
date is greater than 3.00:1.00 or (i) on the date that is 90 days prior
to the maturity date of the Senior Notes, more than US$150 million
in aggregate principal amount of the loans outstanding under the
New Term Loan B Facility have matured pursuant to the Term Loan
B Maturity Springer (as defined below), then the maturity date with
respect to the New Term Loan A Facility and the New Revolving
Credit Facility will spring to a date that is 90 days prior to the maturity
date of the Senior Notes.

The New Term Loan B Facility requires scheduled quarterly payments
commencing on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter ended after
the Closing Date, each equal to 0.25% of the original principal amount
of the loans under the New Term Loan B Facility, with the balance due
and payable on June 21, 2030.

If (i) on the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity date of Senior
Notes, more than €150.0 million in aggregate principal amount
of the Senior Notes has not been repaid and/or refinanced with
indebtedness having a maturity date at least 90 days later than the
then-stated maturity date of the New Term Loan B Facility and after
giving effect to a refinancing of the Senior Notes, the Company and its
restricted subsidiaries have liquidity of less than US$350 million during
the period from the 91st day prior to the maturity date applicable
to the Senior Notes until the maturity date applicable to the Senior
Notes, the maturity date with respect to the New Term Loan B Facility
will spring to the date that is 90 days prior to the maturity date of the
Senior Notes (such circumstances resulting in the such earlier maturity
date being the “Term Loan B Maturity Springer”).
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Guarantees and Security

The obligations of the borrowers under the New Senior Credit Facilities
are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and certain of the
Company’s existing direct or indirect wholly-owned material restricted
subsidiaries organized in Luxembourg, Belgium, Canada, Hong Kong,
Hungary, Mexico, the United States and Singapore, and are required
to be guaranteed by certain future direct or indirect wholly-owned
material restricted subsidiaries organized in such jurisdictions (except
Singapore) (the “Credit Facility Guarantors”). All obligations under the
New Senior Credit Facilities, and the guarantees of those obligations,
are secured, subject to certain exceptions, by substantially all of the
assets of the borrowers and the Credit Facility Guarantors (including
the Shared Collateral (as defined below)).

Certain Covenants and Events of Default

The New Senior Credit Facilities contain a number of customary
negative covenants that, among other things and subject to certain
exceptions, may restrict the ability of the Company and each of its
restricted subsidiaries to: (i) incur additional indebtedness; (i) pay
dividends or distributions on its capital stock or redeem, repurchase or
retire its capital stock or its other indebtedness; (i) make investments,
loans and acquisitions; (iv) engage in transactions with its affiliates; (v)
sell assets, including capital stock of its subsidiaries; (vi) consolidate
or merge; (vii) materially alter the business it conducts; (viii) incur liens;
and (ix) prepay or amend any junior debt or subordinated debt.

In addition, the New Credit Agreement requires the Company and
its subsidiaries to meet certain quarterly financial covenants. For
test periods commencing with the first full fiscal quarter ended after
the Closing Date and thereafter, the Company and its subsidiaries
are required to maintain (i) a pro forma total net leverage ratio of not
greater than 4.50:1.00; provided that such maximum pro forma total
net leverage ratio is subject to a step up of 0.50x from the otherwise
applicable ratio for the six fiscal quarter period following the fiscal
quarter in which a permitted acquisition has been consummated,
and (ii) a pro forma consolidated cash interest coverage ratio of not
The
Financial Covenants only apply for the benefit of the lenders under the

less than 3.00:1.00 (collectively, the “Financial Covenants”).

New Term Loan A Facility and the lenders under the New Revolving
Credit Facility. The Company was in compliance with the Financial
Covenants for the test period ended on December 31, 2023. The New
Credit Agreement also contains certain customary representations and
warranties, affirmative covenants and provisions relating to events of
default (including upon a change of control).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Other Information

The Group incurred US$17.1 million of new financing costs in
conjunction with the Refinancing. Financing costs incurred in
conjunction with borrowings and amendments have been deferred and
are being offset against loans and borrowings. The deferred financing
costs are being amortized using the effective interest method over
the life of the Total Senior Credit Facilities and Senior Notes. Total
deferred financing costs included within total loans and borrowings
amounted to US$17.0 million and US$7.8 million as of December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The amortization of deferred financing costs, which is included in
interest expense, amounted to US$3.4 million and US$4.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022,
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group recorded a
non-cash charge in interest expense in the amount of US$4.4 million
related to unamortized deferred financing costs which were part of
the net carrying value of the Prior Senior Credit Facilities which were
settled.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Group maintains interest rate swaps to hedge a portion of its
interest rate exposure under the floating-rate New Senior Credit
Facilities by swapping certain US Dollar floating-rate bank borrowings
with fixed-rate agreements. On September 4, 2019, the Group
entered into interest rate swap agreements that became effective
on September 6, 2019, and will terminate on August 31, 2024. The
notional amounts of the interest rate swap agreements decrease over
time.

On June 21,
agreements by replacing references to the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) with references to SOFR. As a result, the Group’s
interest rate swaps have effectively fixed SOFR at approximately

2023, the Group amended the interest rate swap

1.1305% with respect to an amount equal to approximately 40%
of the principal amount of the New Senior Credit Facilities as of
December 31, 2023, which reduces a portion of the Company’s
exposure to interest rate increases. The interest rate swap agreements
have fixed payments due monthly. The interest rate swap transactions
qualify as cash flow hedges. As of December 31, 2023, the interest
rate swaps were marked-to-market, resulting in a net asset position
to the Group in the amount of US$14.1 million which was recorded as
an asset with the effective portion of the gain (loss) deferred to other

comprehensive income.
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Prior to the amendments to the interest rate swap agreements
on June 21, 2023, the Group’s interest rate swaps had LIBOR
fixed at approximately 1.208% with respect to an amount equal to
approximately 35% of the principal amount of the Prior Senior Credit
Facilities. As of December 31, 2022, the interest rate swaps were
marked-to-market, resulting in a net asset position to the Group in the
amount of US$30.5 million which was recorded as an asset with the
effective portion of the gain (loss) deferred to other comprehensive
income.

€350.0 Million 3.500% Senior Notes Due 2026

On April 25, 2018 (the “Issue Date”), Samsonite Finco S.a r.l., a
wholly-owned, indirect subsidiary of the Company (the “Issuer”),
issued €350.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.500% senior
notes due 2026 (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes were issued
at par pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated the Issue
Date, among the lIssuer, the Company and certain of its direct or
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Guarantors”).

Maturity, Interest and Redemption

The Senior Notes will mature on May 15, 2026. Interest on the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes accrues
at a fixed rate of 3.500% per annum, payable semi-annually in cash in
arrears on May 15 and November 15 each year.

The Issuer may redeem all, or from time to time a part, of the Senior
Notes at a redemption price equal to 100.000% of the principal
amount of the Senior Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid
interest and additional amounts, if any, to the applicable redemption
date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record
date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date).

Upon certain events defined as constituting a change of control,
the Issuer may be required to make an offer to purchase the Senior
Notes.

Guarantee and Security

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Guarantors on a senior
subordinated basis. The Senior Notes are secured by a second-
ranking pledge over the shares of the Issuer and a second-ranking
pledge over the Issuer’s rights in the proceeds loan in respect of the
proceeds of the offering of the Senior Notes (the “Shared Collateral”).
The Shared Collateral also secures the borrowings under the New
Credit Agreement on a first-ranking basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWEED AT

Certain Covenants and Events of Default

The Indenture contains a number of customary negative covenants
that, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, may
restrict the ability of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries
(including the Issuer) to: (i) incur or guarantee additional indebtedness,
(i) make investments or other restricted payments, (iii) create liens,
(iv) sell assets and subsidiary stock, (v) pay dividends or make
other distributions or repurchase or redeem the capital stock or
subordinated debt of the Company or its restricted subsidiaries, (vi)
engage in certain transactions with affiliates, (vii) enter into agreements
that restrict the payment of dividends by subsidiaries or the repayment
of inter-company loans and advances, (vii) engage in mergers or
consolidations and (ix) impair the security interests in the Shared
Collateral. The Indenture also contains certain customary provisions
relating to events of default.

Other Loans and Borrowings

Certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company maintain credit lines
and other loans with various third-party lenders in the regions in which
they operate. Other loans and borrowings are generally variable-rate
instruments denominated in the functional currency of the borrowing
Group entity. These credit lines provide short-term financing and
working capital for the day-to-day business operations of certain
Group entities, including overdraft, bank guarantees, and trade finance
facilities. The majority of such credit lines are uncommitted facilities.
The total aggregate amount of other loans and borrowings was
US$50.7 million and US$67.0 million as of December 31, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, respectively. The uncommitted available facilities
amounted to US$93.7 million and US$82.1 million as of December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The following represents the contractual maturity dates of the Group’s
loans and borrowings as of December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022.

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)
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December 31,
2023
2023%12A31H

December 31,
2022
2022412 A31H

On demand or within one year BERKR—FR 76.7 118.6
After one year but within two years —ERERMER 36.0 66.6
After two years but within five years MEBBRFR 1,144.3 1,834.4
More than five years BARE 567.0 -
Total Loans and Borrowings BERRERERE 1,824.0 2,019.6
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Cross-currency Swap

The Group previously maintained a cross-currency swap used to
hedge currency risk associated with currency fluctuations between
the Euro and US Dollar. In April 2019, the Group entered into a cross-
currency swap which was designated as a net investment hedge. The
hedge consisted of a US$50.0 million notional loan amount between
the Euro and US Dollar. In August 2022 the Group terminated such
swap. At the time of termination, the cross-currency swap had a fair
market value of US$4.2 million. The gain was recorded as a hedging
gain in finance costs in the consolidated statements of income for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Hedging

The Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries periodically enter into forward
contracts related to the purchase of inventories denominated primarily
in US Dollars which are designated as cash flow hedges. Cash
outflows associated with these derivatives as of December 31, 2023,
are expected to be US$104.2 million within one year.

Other Financial Information

Total Capital Expenditures

Historical Total Capital Expenditures

The following table sets forth the Group’s total capital expenditures for
the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022:

(UXE&*ET25)

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)
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Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALEE

2023

Purchases of fixed assets: BEETEE
Buildings By 0.8 0.1
Machinery, equipment, leasehold Wes - RE - HEWE
improvements and other RIEREA 98.5 51.5
Total purchases of fixed assets ETEEREEE 99.3 51.6
Software purchases R 10.8 11.2
Total software purchases IR AE 10.8 11.2
Total capital expenditures AR LR 110.1 62.8

Total capital expenditures during the year ended December 31, 2023,
were primarily related to new retail locations, remodeling certain
existing retail locations, software purchases and investments in
machinery and equipment to support new product innovation. The
Group intends to continue to spend on property, plant and equipment
to upgrade and expand its retail store fleet as well as to invest in core
strategic functions and invest in software to improve e-commerce
platforms and customer engagement capabilities to support continued
sales growth during 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B RED A

Planned Total Capital Expenditures

The Group’s total capital expenditures budget for 2024 is
approximately US$146.3 million. The Group plans to open new retail
stores, primarily in Asia and Latin America, refurbish existing retail
stores, invest in new product innovation and manufacturing plants,
expand the Tumi distribution center in North America and improve
e-commerce platforms and customer engagement capabilities.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes scheduled maturities of the
Group’s contractual obligations for which cash flows are fixed and
determinable as of December 31, 2023:

(U EEZETZ)

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

Within
1 year

FTEEARH A

REBM2024FEARZBBEREL R146.3
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Over

5 years
HiB5F

Between
2 and 5 years
2F E5F

Between
1 and 2 years

1R 15 E2F

Loans and borrowings BERRER 1,824.0 76.7 36.0 1,144.3 567.0
Open inventory purchase orders AATEFBE 466.6 463.9 2.6 - -
Future minimum contractual HEAENRKKEE

payments under lease liabilities AT 579.3 159.9 131.7 212.7 75.1
Future minimum payments under HHREEEEED

short-term and low-value leases REREARST K 2.8 2.8 - - -
Total A&t 2,872.7 703.3 170.3 1,357.0 642.1

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any material off-
balance sheet arrangements or contingencies except as included in
the table summarizing its contractual obligations above.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
There were no significant investments held that represented 5%
or more of the Group’s total assets and no material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Company recognizes that sound corporate
governance practices are fundamental to the effective and transparent
operation of the Company and to its ability to protect the rights of its
shareholders and enhance shareholder value.

The Company has adopted its own corporate governance manual,
which is based on the principles, provisions and practices set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (as in effect from time to time, the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

Except as described below, the Company complied with all applicable
code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code throughout the
period from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023.

The Company maintains the Samsonite Ethics Reporting Hotline and
website, which are administered by a third-party service provider
and which facilitate reporting of known or suspected violations of
applicable laws or regulations, the Company’s Code of Conduct or
other Group policies. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company implemented an updated whistleblower system that is now
available not only to directors of the Company and employees of the
Group but also to others who deal with the Group (such as customers
and suppliers) and which now satisfies Part 2 D.2.6 of the CG Code.
Previously, the Company’s whistleblower system was only available to
the Group’s employees.

Corporate Culture

Details of the Company’s culture and strategies are disclosed within
The Company’s Culture and Strategy section on pages 3 to 5 of this
Annual Report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted its own policies (the “Trading Policy”)
for securities transactions by directors and relevant employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Group on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they complied with the
required standards set out in the Trading Policy during the year ended
December 31, 2023. Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s interests
in the Company’s shares as of December 31, 2023, are set out on
pages 154 to 155 of this Annual Report.
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The Board of Directors and Senior Management
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company,
and for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. In addition, the Board is
responsible for (i) overseeing the corporate governance and financial
reporting of the Company, (ii) ensuring that the Company establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems, (iii) overseeing the Company’s policies and
procedures on compliance and corporate governance, (iv) overseeing
the Company’s management of environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues, and (v) the training and continuous professional
development of the Company’s directors and senior management. To
assist it in fulfilling its duties, the Board has established three board
committees: the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee (details of which are set out on pages 87 to
91 of this Annual Report).

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and ensuring that
the Board functions effectively and acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) is responsible for the
overall strategic planning and management of the Company.

The Board has established clear guidelines with respect to matters
that must be approved or recommended by the Board, including,
without limitation, approval of the Company’s annual operating budget
and total capital expenditure budget; the hiring or dismissal of the
CEOQO, Chief Financial Officer, Joint Company Secretary or certain other
members of the Company’s senior management team; and approving
and recommending significant transactions.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of potential legal actions against its directors and senior
management.

Composition of the Board, Number of Board
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board consists of eight directors, including one Executive Director
(“ED”), one Non-Executive Director (“NED”), and six Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The biographical details of each director
and their respective responsibilities and dates of appointment are
included in the Directors and Senior Management section on pages
106 to 112 of this Annual Report. None of the members of the Board
is related to one another.
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There were eight meetings of the Board held during the year ended
December 31, 2023. The following is the attendance record of the
directors at Board and committee meetings, as well as at the General
Meetings of shareholders held during the year, and the training record
of the directors during the year:

Board of Audit
Category Directors Committee

Sl E=g ENEER

HE2023F12A31HILFE » EF g #8178
RE&HE e N AFTREEHFESFSEMEZE S
SEMRERAREHWLE  URFRESHE
FOEE

Attendance Training
HFERE A

Continuous

Nomination Remuneration General Professional
Committee Committee Meetings Development

REZES FHESS RRAE HEEXZE

Timothy Charles Parker NED and Chairman 8/8 - 1 - 2/2 Note
FUMERET G
Kyle Francis Gendreau ED and CEO 8/8 - - - 2/2 Note
HEHRITAER R
Claire Marie Bennett INED 8/8 - - - 2/2 Note
BIEHE GR3
Angela lIris Brav INED 8/8 - - 3/3 2/2 Note
B IEHE i
Paul Kenneth Etchells INED 8/8 6/6 11 3/3 2/2 Note
B IENE R
Jerome Squire Griffith INED 8/8 - - 3/3 2/2 Note
B I E GR3
Tom Korbas INED 8/8 6/6 - - 2/2 Note
B IEHE i
Ying Yeh INED 8/8 6/6 11 3/3 2/2 Note
®E B IENE 2
Note R

Each of the current directors received continuous professional development training
during the year ended December 31, 2023, which included training on pertinent
provisions of the Listing Rules and Luxembourg law and other relevant topics. The
directors are also continually updated on significant developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities.

Each INED has provided the Company with an annual confirmation
of his or her independence, and the Company considers each of the
INEDs to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules at all times during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman
should meet at least annually with the INEDs without the presence
of other directors. The Chairman met with the INEDs during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is given to all directors at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is generally given for other
Board meetings. Annual meeting schedules and the draft agenda of
each meeting are normally made available to directors in advance.
Arrangements are in place to allow directors to include items in the
agenda, and final agendas together with board papers are sent to
directors at least 3 days before each regular Board meeting, and as
soon as practicable before other Board meetings, so that the Board
can make informed decisions on matters placed before it. Minutes
of Board and Committee meetings are kept by the Joint Company
Secretary. Draft minutes are circulated to directors for comment within
a reasonable time after each meeting.
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The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board, including the following:

e Six of the eight Directors are INEDs, which exceeds the Listing
Rules requirement for INEDs to make up at least one third of the
Board.

e The Chairmen of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are INEDs, and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee is a NED and is Chairman of the Board.

e The Nomination Committee assesses the independence of
candidates to be appointed or designated as INEDs, and it also
assesses the continued independence of existing INEDs, on an
annual basis.

e All INEDs are required to confirm in writing annually their
compliance with the independence requirements under the Listing
Rules.

e External, independent professional advice is available as and when
required by individual Directors.

e All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent
views and constructive challenges during Board and Committee
meetings.

e No equity-based remuneration will be granted to INEDs or NEDs.

e |f a director or any of his or her associates has a material interest
in a transaction, that director is required to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at the meeting for approving
the transaction.

e The Chairman of the Board meets with the INEDs annually without
the presence of the ED.

e Each director also has separate and independent access to senior
management where necessary.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the above-mentioned
mechanisms are effective in ensuring that independent views are
available to the Board.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company uses a formal and transparent procedure for the
appointment, election and removal of directors, which is set out in
the Company'’s Articles of Incorporation and is led by the Nomination
Committee, which will make recommendations on new director
appointments to the Board for approval.

Each of the directors is engaged on a service contract, with their
appointment subject to re-election. Further details of the appointment,
election and removal of directors are set out in the Directors and
Senior Management section on pages 106 to 112 of this Annual
Report.
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Each director is appointed for a maximum term of three years,
after which, upon recommendation of the Board, such director
may be proposed for re-election by the Company’s shareholders in
accordance with the Articles of Incorporation.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy that provides that
the Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of the Board’s performance
and to support the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives.
Under the policy, all Board appointments will be based on merit in the
context of the knowledge, skills and experience that the Board as a
whole requires to be effective. The Board reviews the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy at least annually.

e Female directors currently comprise three of the eight total
members of the Board. The Board intends that female directors
should comprise at least one-third of the total members of
the Board. Accordingly, the Board considers that the current
composition of the Board meets the Board’s objectives with
respect to gender diversity.

e In considering the Board’s future composition and to ensure
continued gender diversity at the Board level, the Nomination
Committee will engage an executive search firm to help identify
suitable candidates for consideration as Non-Executive Directors
as and when appropriate.

e Details of the gender ratio and measurable gender diversity
objectives in the workforce (including senior management) are set
in out in Directors and Senior Management — Gender Diversity
section on page 117 of this Annual Report.

Induction and Ongoing Development

Each newly appointed director receives a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction to ensure his or her understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and awareness of a director’s
responsibilities and obligations.

All directors participate in continuous professional development
in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
member of the Board received relevant training during the year
ended December 31, 2023, details of which are set out in the section
Composition of the Board, Number of Board Meetings and Directors’
Attendance above.

Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference
which are posted on the Company’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request. Meetings of the Board committees
generally follow the same procedures as for meetings of the Board.
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Audit Committee

The Board has established an Audit Committee and has adopted
written terms of reference that set forth the authority and duties of the
committee. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells (Chairman of the Audit Committee) (INED),
Mr. Tom Korbas (INED) and Ms. Ying Yeh (INED).

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, at least one
member of the Audit Committee possesses appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management expertise
in discharging the responsibilities of the Audit Committee.

All members have sufficient experience in reviewing audited financial
statements as aided by the auditors of the Company whenever
required.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company’s financial reporting process and risk management and
internal control systems, to monitor the integrity of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and financial reporting, and to
oversee the audit process.

There were six meetings of the Audit Committee held during the year
ended December 31, 2023. The following is a summary of the work
performed by the Audit Committee during 2023:

e Reviewed and approved the internal audit work plan for 2023, and
received periodic updates on the status of internal audit activities
from the Company’s Head of Internal Audit;

e Reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of risk
management and internal controls for the year ended December
31, 2022;

e Reviewed arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties;

e Reviewed the annual financial statements (both consolidated and
standalone), annual results announcement and annual report for
the year ended December 31, 2022, and recommended approval
of such documents to the Board;

e Reviewed the independence of the Company’s external auditors
and recommended the re-engagement of the external auditors for
the year ended December 31, 20283;

e Reviewed the Company’s results announcement for the three
months ended March 31, 2023, and recommended approval of

such announcement to the Board;
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e Received an update on the Company’s data security and data
privacy initiatives;

e Reviewed the interim consolidated financial statements, interim
results announcement and interim report of the Company for the
six months ended June 30, 2023, and recommended approval of
such documents to the Board;

e Received an overview of the applicability to the Company of the
European Union’s Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive
(CSRD);

e Reviewed the Company’s results announcement for the three
and nine-months ended September 30, 2023, and recommended
approval of such announcement to the Board;

e Reviewed and approved the plan for and scope of the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2023, and the fee proposal for such audit;

e Approved the non-audit services that can be provided by the
external auditors during the year ending December 31, 2024,
approved certain non-audit services provided by the external
auditors during the year ended December 31, 2023, and received
updates on the non-audit services provided by the external
auditors during the year ended December 31, 2023;

e Met twice with the Company’s external auditors without the
presence of the ED or management; and

e Met with the Company’s Head of Internal Audit without the
presence of the ED or management.

In addition, during the first three months of 2024 the Audit Committee
reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of risk
management and internal controls for the year ended December 31,
2023; reviewed the annual consolidated financial statements, annual
results announcement and annual report for the year ended December
31, 2023, and recommended approval of such documents to the
Board; and reviewed the independence of the Company’s external
auditors and recommended the re-engagement of the external
auditors for the year ending December 31, 2024.
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Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee and has adopted
written terms of reference that set forth the authority and duties of the
committee. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Timothy Charles Parker (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) (NED), Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells (INED) and Ms. Ying Yeh
(INED).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board, to make
recommendations to the Board with respect to any changes to
the composition of the Board, and to assess the independence of
the INEDs. When identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee shall (where applicable and appropriate) use open
advertising or the services of external advisers and consider
candidates from a wide range of backgrounds on merit and against
objective criteria. The Nomination Committee’s policy for evaluating
and nominating any candidate for directorship includes considering
various criteria, including character and integrity, qualifications
(including professional qualifications), skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity aspects under the Board’s diversity policy, potential
contributions the candidate can make to the Board and such
other matters that are appropriate to the Company’s business and
succession plan.

There was one meeting of the Nomination Committee held during the
year ended December 31, 2023. The following is a summary of the
work performed by the Nomination Committee during 2023:

e Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

e Reviewed implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and recommended gender diversity objectives for the
Board;

e Reviewed the time and contribution required from directors;

e Assessed the independence of the INEDs and concluded that each
of the INEDs satisfied the independence requirements applicable
to INEDs;

e Discussed the timing for certain long-serving INEDs to retire from
the Board with the intention that new director candidates be
recruited with the support of a leading, global third-party advisory
and executive search firm to stand for election to the Board over
the next two-to-three years;

e Considered the retirement and re-nomination of directors to stand
for re-election to the Board at the Company’s 2023 annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee and has
adopted written terms of reference that set forth the authority and
duties of the committee. The Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. Jerome Squire Griffith (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) (INED), Ms. Angela Iris Brav (INED), Mr.
Paul Kenneth Etchells (INED) and Ms. Ying Yeh (INED).

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration, to determine the specific remuneration
package of the ED and certain members of senior management, as
well as to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

There were three meetings of the Remuneration Committee held
2023. The following is a
summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during 2023:

during the year ended December 31,

e Reviewed and approved the compensation of members of the
Company’s senior management, including the ED, for 2023;

e Reviewed the progress of relevant members of the Company’s
senior management with respect to the Company’s Share
Ownership Guidelines;

e Reviewed the remuneration of the NED and INEDs for 2023;

e Approved the grant of long-term incentive awards comprised of
performance-based and time-based restricted share units to the
senior managers, including the ED;

e Approved long-term cash incentive awards to certain employees
of the Group (other than the senior managers and the ED); and

e Approved the termination of a supplemental executive retirement
plan under which the ED was the sole beneficiary.

Company Secretaries and Authorized
Representatives

Mr. John Bayard Livingston and Ms. Ho Wing Tsz, Wendy (“Ms.
Ho”) are the joint company secretaries of the Company while Mr.
Kyle Francis Gendreau and Ms. Ho are the Company’s authorized
representatives (pursuant to the Listing Rules).

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Joint Company
Secretaries complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules regarding
professional training.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The following is a general description of the emolument policy of the
Company, as well as the basis of determining the emoluments payable
to the directors.

Director and Senior Management Remuneration

The remuneration of directors is recommended to the Company’s
shareholders by the Board, which receives recommendations from
the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration of directors must
be approved by special resolutions at the annual general meeting of
the shareholders of the Company. The NED and each of the INEDs
received directors’ fees during the year ended December 31, 2023.
The ED did not receive any directors’ fees.

Under the Company’s current compensation arrangements, the ED
and senior management receive cash compensation in the form of
salaries as well as short-term cash incentive opportunities that are
subject to performance targets. The ED and senior management also
receive periodic awards under the Company’s Share Award Scheme
(as defined in Directors’ Report — Business Review — Share Award
Schemes), which may include share options, restricted share units,
or a combination thereof, and which serve as the long-term incentive
component of the Group’s compensation strategy.

Remuneration of the directors (including fees, salaries, discretionary
bonuses, share-based compensation expense and other benefits)
was approximately US$12.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2023.

The aggregate amount of emoluments for the five highest paid
individuals of the Group, including the ED, was approximately
US$21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. No amounts
have been paid to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office, for the year ended December 31, 2023. No directors

waived or agreed to waive any emoluments to which they were
entitled for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Senior Management Emoluments

The following information summarizes the emoluments, by band, of
the members of the Company’s senior management team during the
years ended December 31, 20283, and December 31, 2022:

SREEEMS
THERBMAARRRERERKEEHE
2023412 A31 A K2022F 12 A31 B ILFE
RS KFE SIS -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

HK$0 - HK$5,000,000 0/ 7T —5,000,00078 7T

(US$0 - US$638,635): (03T —638,635%7T) : 0 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$10,000,000 5,000,001 7&7T —10,000,000/% 7T

(US$638,636 - US$1,277,269): (638,636 7T —1,277,2693 7T ) : 1 1
HK$10,000,001 — HK$15,000,000 10,000,001 7C — 15,000,000 7T

(US$1,277,270 — US$1,915,904): (1,277,270%7C — 1,915,904 7T) © 2 2
HK$15,000,001 — HK$20,000,000 15,000,001 7% 7T —20,000,0007# 7T

(US$1,915,905 — US$2,554,538): (1,915,905% ¢ —2,554,53837T) : 5 5
Over HK$20,000,000 #B1820,000,00078 7T

(Over US$2,554,538): (iB3B2,554,538%7T) 2 2

Such emoluments are shown inclusive of the share-based
compensation expense recognized during the years ended December
31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, for all grants made to date for
these individuals. There were no termination benefits paid out during
2023 or 2022 to the Company’s senior managers.

External Auditors and Auditors’ Remuneration
The auditors’ statement about their reporting responsibilities for
the Company’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 163 to 166 of this Annual
Report.

The fees in relation to the audit and related services for the years
ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, provided by
KPMG LLP and its foreign member firms, the external auditors of the
Group, were as follows:

i€ Ty IEH Z 202312 A31 A %2022
F12ANBIEFERBEZR LAZFALE
£ B BT 7 B AR T e R A LA R 1 S 1+ A S BN
& o R2023F 520224 + WARMAR A=K
EIEAB I MBERETR

Ny TSR T
BRARBAMREEARRRGEVBRERNHE®R
AR A AFREI163E166 BB Z
e R o

HZE2023F12 A31 B 202212 A31H It
FE - AEANEEININEZEAIKPMG LLPEXHE
MK B R RIFTIREMEA MABERENE A
I

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

Annual audit and interim review services FEERPREHRS 5.9 5.7
Permitted tax services =R Bi 7% AR S 1.0 1.3
Other non-audit related services! HithIFFRETERERAE 0.3 0.8
Total st 7.2 7.7

Note

(1) Primarily comprised of fees associated with certain diligence and process
assessment projects, as well as various global statutory certification and other
projects.

Secret OMAN $524 Line

(1) TERERETEREETEREFFEEREAR
BEREHOACREMEMARERNER -

SECRET.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
The Board acknowledges that it holds responsibility for:

e CQverseeing the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company with a view of ensuring such
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company; and

e Selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them
consistently with the support of reasonable judgment and
estimates.

The Board ensures the timely publication of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.

Management provides explanations and information to the Board to
enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and other
information to be approved.

The Board strives to ensure a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Company'’s financial reporting, including annual and
interim reports, quarterly results announcements, other price-sensitive
announcements, other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules, reports to regulators and information required to be disclosed
pursuant to statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps
proper accounting records, for safeguarding the Company’s assets
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. For further discussion,
see Directors’ Report — Risk Factors — Risks Associated with the
Company’s Loans and Borrowings.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee
the responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. The Company’s
management, under the oversight of the Board, is responsible for
the design, implementation and monitoring of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.
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Principal Risks

The Company recognizes that effective management of risk is
essential to executing the Company’s strategies, achieving sustainable
shareholder value, protecting the Group’s brands and ensuring good
corporate governance. Accordingly, rather than being a separate
and standalone process, risk management is integrated into the
Company’s business processes including strategy development,
business planning, capital allocation, investment decisions, internal
control and day-to-day operations.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives. The Company aims to take only reasonable risks
that (a) fit its strategy, (b) can be understood and managed, and (c) do
not expose the Company to:

e Material financial loss impacting the ability to execute the
Company’s business strategy or materially compromising the
Company’s financial viability;

e Material interruption to the Company’s business;

e Breaches of applicable laws and regulations; or

e Damage to the Company’s reputation and brands.

As part of the Audit Committee’s review of the Group’s risk
management systems, the Audit Committee considers the principal
risks facing the Group and the nature and extent of such risks. The
Company’s Vice President of Internal Audit facilitates an annual
enterprise risk assessment process in conjunction with the senior
management team in each of the Company’s regions as well as
senior management of the Company’s corporate functions. This
process reviews the significant risks facing the Company’s operations,
including risks related to ESG matters, and records the relevant
activities that are in place to mitigate such risks.

The risks set out below represent the principal risks and uncertainties
that may adversely impact the Company’s performance and the
execution of its strategies. Other factors could also adversely affect
the Company’s performance. Accordingly, the risks described below
should not be considered to be a comprehensive list of all potential
risks and uncertainties. The principal risks are not listed in order of
significance. In addition to the principal risks described below, a
discussion of certain qualitative and quantitative market risks and
risks associated with the Company’s loans and borrowings that may
adversely impact its performance and execution of its strategies is
included on pages 141 to 145 of this Annual Report.

The key steps the Company takes in an effort to mitigate these
principal risks are described below. It is not possible for the Company
to implement measures to address all of the risks it may face, and
there can be no assurance that the steps the Group has taken will
adequately and effectively mitigate the risks it faces.
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Risk A&

Impact &

Mitigation {5 & B& #9151

Deterioration in economic
conditions globally or in the
Company’s major markets, which
could result from economic
cyclicality, political or social unrest,
armed conflict, government actions
in response to outbreaks of
contagious disease, or other events
or conditions that may adversely
affect trading.

KBERY  BUARHLEHS « BEH
58 - TR FE S R 1R 5 R B ERER B
FEbE » REAM AT RESIRGE & TR
ENEMRGHEREHRRARFE
EMHMEERRBIL

Reductions in discretionary consumer
spending could have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s net sales,
profitability, cash flow and financial condition
(including potential impairments of goodwill
and certain other non-current assets).

BEEAUXRHED G HARRNHEE
FE BN  RERERMBRRNEKE
ATHEE (BEBERE THMIERDEE
HERE)

The Company’s multi-brand, multi-category strategy
results in flexibility in the wide range of price points
at which the Group’s products are sold, which helps
make the business more resilient. The geographic
diversity of the Company’s global business helps to
mitigate the impact of local economic challenges.

EARANZmE SEMRBAIRET  AKRENER
EERERZOBMBRE  SEBEABREREL - K

/1
ARZREBHILABEEN - 4O RIERBIHELE
TRERNHTE -

The Company faces increasing
competition in the product lines and
markets in which it operates.

AR BEFRE R E fr R 5 A5 T
EER Q&SRR S

If the Company does not compete effectively
or keep pace with changing consumer
preferences and product trends, it could
adversely affect the Company’s net sales,
profitability and cash flow.

HARRREERHF AL AR EEOHE

ERIFRERBY  AESHARFNHEF
B BANENRRSRBEKTHFE

The Company’s multi-brand, multi-category strategy
results in a wide range of products sold by the
Company at a wide range of price points. This helps
make the Company’s business more flexible and
resilient.

The geographic diversity of the Company’s
global business helps mitigate the impact of local
competitive pressures.

The Company’s focus on innovation, improving brand
equity, and increased investment in marketing helps
to mitigate the risks posed by competition.

EARABNZ @I - ZEREFIRBET  AATNER
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ARARZHREBNMHEEER - BHRERLHFE
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AREDEERR - BRI REEEL NS HIRE - 58
B IE S A R R

Adverse impacts on the travel
industry, especially air travel,
resulting from events such as
terrorist attacks or outbreaks of
contagious disease.

MRS (R Rl RMEIRESE) ERT
LIEZ 3

Sales of travel luggage, which make

up a majority of the Group’s sales, are
significantly dependent on travel as a driver
of consumer demand. Significant adverse
impacts on the travel industry could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s net sales,
profitability, cash flow and financial condition
(including potential impairments of goodwill
and certain other non-current assets).
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Historically, the travel industry has recovered fairly
quickly following the end of travel disruptions, and
accordingly prior disruptions have not had material
long-term adverse impacts on the Company’s
business. The Company’s strategy to grow its sales
of non-travel products, including business and casual
bags and accessories, helps mitigate its vulnerability
to disruptions in the travel industry. The Company’s
geographic diversity also mitigates the impact of
more localized travel disruptions.
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Samsonite Essens Spinners
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Shifts in the distribution channels
through which consumers purchase
the Group’s products. This includes
the increasing prevalence of
e-commerce and other evolving
digital channels in which the
Company has seen an increase in
new market entrants.

HEEBEASBEERBIERNS
HREFMEE  BEELEEMAE
F 7 B T A TN B R 0 BRI SR8
(AR FERZRBAFIMATISE
xEHEZ) -

If the Company’s strategy does not

effectively evolve to keep pace with changing

channel or market dynamics, the Company’s

net sales, profitability and cash flow could be

adversely affected.

Fixed costs (particularly with respect to
leases) associated with the Group’s direct-

to-consu

adverse effect on the Company’s profitability,

mer retail business could have an

cash flow and financial condition (including

potential

impairments of goodwill and certain

other non-current assets).
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The Company has deployed a multi-channel strategy,
with a particular emphasis in recent years on the
Group’s e-commerce capabilities, so that the

Group can meet consumer demand across all major
channels.

The Company’s industry-leading brands, long track
record of innovation, and global economies of scale
that enable substantial investments in product
development, marketing and sourcing are competitive
advantages.

The Company closely monitors the profitability of its
retail stores and its retail lease portfolio to manage
the risks associated with lease obligations.

ARADHES D WEERN  AEAEERRALEE
HEIEER)  LERRMEIN AT RAE
HEEBS -
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FARRBYERATEEMNANE N RATER
& NEEERMBEEAENRR -

#4a

Rising costs for finished goods, raw
materials and components sourced
from third-party suppliers, including
without limitation increased costs
resulting from the imposition by
governments of tariffs on imported
goods.

AE =7 HERRENRLR  RH
B RZHERA LA - BIEETRIK

H;{ﬁiﬁ AR R T SRR A £

Could adversely affect the Company’s ability
to maintain product margins if the Company

is unable

to raise its prices or find suitable,

more cost-effective suppliers. Increasing

prices to

maintain margins could adversely

impact consumer demand for the Group’s
products.
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The Company seeks to maintain and expand

a geographically diverse supplier base and, as
illustrated by the Company’s ongoing, successful
efforts to diversify its supplier base outside China,
has the ability to shift production from one supplier
to another and to other countries. Price increases
are implemented where possible to help maintain
product margins. Products are engineered to
ensure maximum value for consumers by eliminating
unnecessarily costly features. The Company utilizes
in-house manufacturing of hard-side luggage where
doing so is cost effective.
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Risk of third-party suppliers failing
to comply with the Company’s
policies that are applicable to

its suppliers, including its social
compliance policy.
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HIER S HER (215
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Ceasing production from a supplier that

violates t

he Company’s policies could

disrupt supply and result in reduced sales
and increased costs. Violations could also
cause significant damage to the Company’s
reputation and brand image.
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The Group seeks to ensure that all new and existing
third-party finished goods and certain raw material
and component suppliers abide by the Company’s
policies. Supply contracts require compliance, and
the Group’s social compliance audit personnel

visit suppliers on a regular basis and audit their
compliance. Failure to remedy violations of the policy
may result in termination of the relationship with the
supplier. The Group sources from many third-party
suppliers, which may afford it the flexibility to shift
production to a different vendor if needed.
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Risk &k

Impact &

Mitigation {5 & B& #9151

Risk of inability to source, on a
timely basis, in sufficient quantities
and at a competitive cost,

finished goods, or raw materials

or component parts needed for
manufacture by the Group of certain
key hard-side luggage products.

ARBE I LA B T 7] B AR BR R 2 5

BENEKRAAEEMESTER

EEG?%@E%F&%E‘J%M&&%#
VR

Inability of suppliers to deliver, in a timely
and cost-effective manner, products that
meet the Group’s quality standards could
result in damage to customer relationships,
reduced market share, lost sales, lower
profitability and reduced cash flow.

In addition, the Group is dependent on

a sole source supplier for the supply of

the Curv material used to form the outer
shell of several of its important hard-side
product lines. Any disruption in the supply
of Curv material could adversely impact the
production of such products, which could
result in lost sales and market share.

HIERE R AL MBS 2 AR ANz AR & AR E
HERENER ARSRIFTPHE  AE
MHHE  BEHER - HIRAETIEEN R
Rene -
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Bt e SEMMEEERTRIRZE &
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Where possible, the Company maintains alternative
sources of supply. Prospective and current vendors
are reviewed for quality, cost-effectiveness and
adequacy of capacity. Inventory needs and purchase
order requirements are monitored to ensure
appropriate inventory levels are maintained.

The Group is party to an agreement with the supplier
of the Curv material under which such supplier has
agreed to supply the material to the Group. The
Group seeks to maintain an adequate supply of Curv
material to meet inventory needs.

The Group maintains business interruption insurance
in almost all of its key markets to protect itself against
significant revenue or profitability losses resulting
from covered risks.
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Fluctuations in the value of the
US Dollar against the functional
currencies of the Group’s
businesses.

%&gmﬁ%%ﬁmmﬁ%m&@

The Company’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in US Dollars.

The net sales of the Group’s operating
subsidiaries are generated in their local
functional currency, while a large proportion
of each subsidiary’s cost of sales (in the
form of inventory purchases) are incurred in
US Dollars. Fluctuations in the value of the
US Dollar against the currencies in which
its businesses generate revenues could
adversely affect the Company’s US Dollar
reported net sales, gross margin, profitability
and cash flow.
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The Group periodically uses forward exchange
contracts to hedge its exposure to currency risk
on product purchases denominated in a currency
other than the respective functional currency of its
subsidiaries.

Interest on borrowings is largely denominated in the
local currency of the borrowings. Borrowings are

generally denominated in currencies that match the
cash flows generated by the underlying operations.

The Company provides constant-currency
comparisons of period-over-period financial results
in order to provide investors a view to the underlying
performance of the business without distortions
caused by currency fluctuations.
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The Company is dependent upon
certain information technology
systems.

Risk of failure to protect confidential
information of the Group’s
customers or employees, or to
comply with applicable data privacy
laws, or of a breach in the security
of the Group’s or third-party service
providers’ networks, websites,
e-commerce shops or other
information technology systems.
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Technical problems with the Group’s
information technology systems could
negatively impact the timely preparation

of management accounts and forecasts,
which could adversely affect the Company’s
ability to manage its business effectively or
to accurately and timely report its financial
results. In addition, technical problems could
result in delays in delivering products to
customers, which could adversely affect the
Company’s sales and reputation.

Any compromise of the security of the
Group’s or its service providers’ systems, or
a failure to protect customers’ confidential
information in accordance with applicable
privacy laws or otherwise to comply with
such laws, could result in damage to the
Company’s reputation and expose the
Group to business disruption or potential
legal liability, which could substantially harm
its business and results of operations.
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The Group has implemented fully redundant, high
availability hosted solutions for its core Enterprise
Resource Planning (‘ERP”) system.

The Group performs periodic penetration testing

on the Group's systems and major e-commerce
shops. In addition, the Group periodically conducts
cybersecurity assessments with third-party advisors.

The Group has developed an information security
incident response plan and provides information
security training for employees.

It is the Company’s policy to satisfy applicable legal
requirements with respect to data protection and
privacy.

In the United States and Europe, the Group seeks to
maintain Payment Card Industry (“PCI”) compliance to
protect certain sensitive customer data such as credit
card information. The Group’s PCI compliance is
periodically validated using standard protocols. Credit
card information is not retained by the Group.
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Potential disruptions affecting

the Group’s company-owned
manufacturing facilities, distribution
centers or third-party logistics
providers.

FEAREEGEEERE - AT L
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Disruptions to the operations of the
Company’s manufacturing facilities,
distribution centers or third-party logistics
providers from natural disasters, adverse
weather conditions, work stoppages,
accidents or other events beyond the
Company’s control could result in inventory
shortages, delayed, incomplete, inaccurate
or lost deliveries, or damaged goods, which
could adversely affect the Company’s
reputation, net sales, profitability and cash
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The Company maintains property insurance on all
company-owned as well as significant leased facilities
and carries business interruption insurance on the
majority of its business operations to help mitigate
losses from covered risks. Certain company-owned
distribution facilities employ physical protections

such as fire alarms and sprinkler systems, which are
evaluated and upgraded periodically based on the
advice of outside consultants.

The Company has developed, or is in the process of
developing, disaster recovery and business continuity
plans for its key company-owned manufacturing and
distribution facilities.
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Risk &k Impact &

Mitigation {5 & B& #9151

The Company depends on retaining
existing members of management
and key employees, and recruiting
new employees, to implement its
strategies.

ARBFGRBEBRAEEEKE MZ
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If the Company is unable to retain its
management team or key employees, or to

it could affect the Company’s ability to
implement its strategy successfully and
the Company’s profitability and financial
performance could be adversely affected.

attract appropriately qualified new personnel,

The Company maintains competitive compensation
programs, including short-term cash incentive
programs and long-term share-based and cash
incentive awards, that are designed to support
employee retention and recruitment. In addition, the
Company’s supportive culture, employee engagement
efforts and diversity and inclusion initiatives support
the Company’s efforts to retain key employees.
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Legal proceedings or regulatory
matters could adversely impact the
Group’s results of operations and
financial condition.

The Group is subject from time to time

to various legal claims arising out of its
business operations. Additionally, the
Group may, from time to time, be subject to
changes in applicable laws or regulations in
SRR NEETET A LS B ALEE  the jurisdictions where the Group conducts
HOAE & S48 ] B A AR R 38 PR S 52 business operations. Such matters could
2. have an adverse impact on the Company’s
results of operations or could expose the
Group to negative publicity, reputational
damage, harm to customer relationships, or
diversion of management resources.
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The Company’s business works with the Company’s
in-house legal department and outside legal
advisors, where appropriate, to identify significant
legal or regulatory risks and to develop strategies
(contractual, compliance or otherwise) to help
manage such risks.

AR RSB B SRR AR A AR I ROMNRE R
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ESG-related Risks

There is increased focus from the Company’s stakeholders, including
customers, employees and investors, on climate change, more
sustainable products, employee-related topics such as diversity
and inclusion and other ESG-related matters. In addition, a number
of countries in which the Company operates have begun to enact
new regulatory requirements related to topics including climate
change mitigation and risk disclosure, packaging, human rights, and
ESG reporting. Changing regulatory requirements and stakeholder
expectations could result in higher sourcing, operational and
compliance-related costs, and capital expenditures for the Company.

The Company’s business may also be susceptible to risks associated
with climate change, including potential impacts on the Group’s supply
chain such as the availability and pricing of raw materials, as well as
shipping disruptions and/or higher freight costs. Climate change could
also lead to physical risks resulting from the increased frequency
and/or intensity of extreme weather events such as wildfires, storms,
and floods, which could lead to disruption of the Group’s business
operations, as well as risks resulting from policy actions or consumer
choices intended to reduce the use of fossil fuels. In 2022, the
Company conducted a formal climate risk assessment, in line with
recommendations from the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD”), and did not identify any material financial risks.
For full TCFD-aligned disclosures, see the Company’s 2023 ESG
Report.
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The Company’s Vice President, Global Head of Sustainability, who
reports to the CEO, leads a cross-functional Global Sustainability
Council that coordinates the Company’s “Our Responsible Journey”
sustainability initiatives, which are integrated with the Group’s
operations. Our sustainability leadership works together with various
functions at both the corporate and regional levels to identify and
manage ESG-related risks and opportunities.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal
control and is responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains
sound and effective systems of risk management and internal control.

The Company’s internal audit department reviews the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
Each year, the internal and external audit plans are discussed with
and approved by the Audit Committee.

The Board has reviewed the overall effectiveness of the Company’s
systems of risk management and internal control for the year
ended December 31, 2023. The Board has delegated to the Audit
Committee the responsibility of reviewing the Company’s systems of
risk management and internal control and reporting the committee’s
findings to the Board. In conducting such review, the Audit
Committee, on behalf of the Board, has (i) reviewed the Company’s
internal audit activities during the year and discussed such activities
and the results thereof with the Company’s Vice President of Internal
Audit, (ii) reviewed and discussed the scope and results of the annual
audit with the Company’s external auditors, (iii) reviewed the results
of management’s control self-assessment process with management
and the Company’s Vice President of Internal Audit, (iv) reviewed the
results of the Company’s risk assessment with management and the
Company’s Vice President of Internal Audit, and (v) reviewed with
management the results of the Company’s internal management
representation process that was performed in connection with the
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Based on its review, the Board confirms, and management has also
confirmed to the Board, that the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investor Relations

The Company strives to maintain a high level of transparency in
communications with shareholders and investors. The Company keeps
a constant dialog with the investment community through company
visits, conference calls, information sessions and participation in
major investor conferences to communicate the Company’s business
strategies, developments and goals.
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The Company’s annual and interim reports, quarterly results
announcements, the current version of the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation, the Company’s stock exchange filings, video webcasts,
press releases and other information and updates on the Company’s
operations and financial performance are available for public access
on the Company’s website, https://corporate.samsonite.com/en,
and some of them are also available on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). No changes
were made to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation during 2023
other than (i) to reflect changes to the Company’s issued share capital
resulting from the issuance of shares upon the exercise of share
options, and (i) in order to be compliant with the core shareholder
protection requirements in the revised Appendix A1 of the Listing
Rules, to provide that the remuneration of the independent auditor of
the Company is to be decided by the general shareholders meeting of
the Company and that the general shareholders meeting may delegate
to the Board (with authority for the Board to authorize the Audit
Committee) the determination of such remuneration.

The Company encourages its shareholders to attend the Company’s
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and other general meetings to
communicate their views and concerns to the Board directly so as to
ensure a high level of accountability and also to stay informed of the
Company’s strategies, developments and goals.

The 2024 AGM will be held on June 6, 2024. The notice of the AGM
will be sent to the shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the AGM.

The Board reviewed the Company’s shareholders’ engagement and
communication activities conducted in 2023 and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Company.

Disclosure of Inside Information Policy

The Company has adopted a Disclosure of Inside Information Policy
that establishes the Company’s policy and procedures for reporting
and disseminating inside information. This policy sets out the
procedures and internal controls to ensure the timely disclosure of
information on the Group and the fulfilment of the Group’s continuous
disclosure obligations, including:

e the processes for identifying, assessing and escalating potential
inside information to the General Counsel and Joint Company
Secretary;

e restricting access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a “need to know” basis;

e identifying members of senior management who are authorized to
release inside information; and

e requiring all directors, officers and employees of the Group to
observe the Disclosure of Inside Information Policy.
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Whistleblower Policy and System

The Company maintains the Samsonite Ethics Reporting Hotline and
website, which are administered by a third-party service provider and
which facilitate reporting by directors of the Company, employees of
the Group and others who deal with the Group (such as customers
and suppliers) of known or suspected violations of applicable laws or
regulations, the Company’s Code of Conduct or other Group policies.

Shareholders Rights

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting
Pursuant to Article 13.10 of the Articles of Incorporation, any one or
more shareholder(s) who together hold not less than 5% of the issued
and paid-up shares of the Company that carry the right to vote at
general meetings may convene a general meeting by depositing a
written request signed by such shareholders and addressed to the
attention of the Company’s Joint Company Secretary at the registered
office of the Company in Luxembourg or at the Company’s office in
Hong Kong, the addresses of which are set out below.

Such request must specify the objectives of the meeting. If the Board
does not within two calendar days from the date of deposit of the
request proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 28 calendar days, the shareholders signing the request (or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
shareholders signing the request) may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board. No general meeting convened by
request of the shareholders may be held later than three months after

the date of deposit of the request.

-
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Procedure for Shareholders to Make Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may make enquiries to the Board in writing by sending
such enquiries to the attention of the Company’s Joint Company
Secretary at the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg or at
the Company’s office in Hong Kong, the addresses of which are set
out below. The Joint Company Secretary will forward enquiries to the
Chairman of the Board for consideration.

In addition, shareholders in attendance at any general meeting of
the Company’s shareholders may make enquiries at such meeting
to the Chairman of the Board, the chairmen of the various Board
committees, or to other directors in attendance at such meeting.

Procedure for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 13.11 of the Articles of Incorporation, upon a
written request by (i) one or more shareholder(s) representing not less
than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders who at the
date of such request have a right to vote at the meeting to which the
request relates, or (i) not less than 50 shareholders holding shares
in the Company on which there has been paid up an average sum,
per shareholder, of not less than HK$2,000, the Company shall,
at the expense of the shareholders making the request (a) give to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual general
meeting notice of any resolution which may be properly moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting, and (b) circulate to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of any general meeting a
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
in the meeting.

Pursuant to Article 13.12 of the Articles of Incorporation, such request
must be signed by all the shareholders making the request (or two
or more copies between them containing the signatures of all the
shareholders making the request) and deposited at the registered
office of the Company in Luxembourg or at the Company’s office in
Hong Kong, the addresses of which are set out below.

Such request must be deposited (i) not less than six weeks before
the meeting in question in the case of a request proposing that a
resolution be adopted at the meeting, and (ii) not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any request that does not propose
that a resolution be adopted at the meeting.
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In addition, one or more shareholder(s) who together hold at least
10% of the Company’s issued and paid-up shares may request that
one or more additional items be put on the agenda of any general
meeting. Such request must be sent to the registered office of the
Company in Luxembourg, the address of which is set out below, by
registered mail not less than five days before the meeting.

Except pursuant to the procedures described above, a shareholder
may not make a motion at a general meeting.

Procedure for Election to the Office of Director upon
Shareholder Proposal

A shareholder who intends to propose a candidate for election to the
office of director of the Company shall provide the Company’s Joint
Company Secretary with a written notice reflecting its intention to
propose a person for election to the office of director of the Company.

The notice shall be delivered by the shareholder at the registered
office of the Company in Luxembourg or at the Company’s office
in Hong Kong, the addresses of which are set out below, during a
period commencing no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
convening notice of the meeting scheduled for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.
Such notice must be delivered by a shareholder (not being the person
to be proposed) who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.
In addition, the candidate proposed for election shall deliver to the
Company’s Joint Company Secretary a signed written notice reflecting
his willingness to be elected as a director of the Company.

In accordance with Articles 8.1 and 8.5 of the Articles of Incorporation
of the Company, the appointment of the director will be made by way
of a general shareholders’ meeting of the Company and by ordinary
resolution adopted at a simple majority of the votes cast.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to one of the following addresses marked for the attention of
the Joint Company Secretary:

Registered Office in Luxembourg:
13-15 avenue de la Liberté,
L-1931 Luxembourg

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong:
25/F, Tower 2, The Gateway,

Harbour City, 25 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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General

The Board currently consists of eight directors, comprising one
Executive Director, one Non-Executive Director and six Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

In accordance with Code provision B.2.2, as set out in Appendix C1
of the Listing Rules, every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Under Article 8.1 of the Articles of Incorporation of
the Company, the directors shall be elected by the shareholders at
a general meeting, and the term of office of a director shall be three
years, upon the expiry of which each shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2023, Messrs.
Gendreau and Korbas, and Ms. Yeh retired by rotation, and having
been eligible, Messrs. Gendreau and Korbas, and Ms. Yeh offered
themselves for re-election as directors at the 2023 Annual General
Meeting (“AGM”).
elected to a three-year term, and Ms. Yeh was re-elected to a one-

Each of Messrs. Gendreau and Korbas was re-

year term, at the AGM by majority vote.

The terms of Mr. Griffith and Ms. Yeh will expire at the 2024 AGM of
the Company. The terms of Messrs. Parker and Etchells, and Mses.
Bennett and Brav will expire at the 2025 AGM of the Company. The
terms of Messrs. Gendreau and Korbas will expire at the 2026 AGM
of the Company.

Hartmann cCentury Deluxe Collection
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EMETER :

Directors

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the Company’s business. The following table sets out
certain information concerning the directors as at December 31, 2023:

Position Principal Responsibilities®

FEHE?

Date of Appointment, Tenure®

EEAMH 0 FHO

B

Timothy Charles Parker 68 Non-Executive Director and March 2011, 13 years Leading the Board and ensuring
Chairman 2011438 134 the Board functions effectively and
FMITESRER acts in the best interests of the
Company
BEE=E  WRREFSHNE
ERRARARENRITE
Kyle Francis Gendreau 54 Executive Director and Chief ~ As Executive Director: March Overall strategic planning and
Executive Officer 2011, 13 years management of the Group’s
PITESRITHAEH RBIITES : 2011437 * 135F  operations
As Chief Executive Officer: May AN B 2N EERIFE L ERE
2018
RITHARE - 201855 A
Claire Marie Bennett 58 Independent Non-Executive June 2022, 2 years
Director 202267 ' 25
BWAIEITES
Angela Iris Brav 61 Independent Non-Executive June 2022, 2 years
Director 2022%F6 A ' 2F
BWAIEITES
Paul Kenneth Etchells 73 Independent Non-Executive May 2011, 13 years®
Director 2011451 - 1350
BAIEITESE
Jerome Squire Griffith 66 Independent Non-Executive September 2016, 8 years
Director 2016597 - 8F
B IEITESE
Tom Korbas 73 Independent Non-Executive June 2014, 10 years®
Director 201456 7 - 1050
WA IENITES
Ying Yeh 75 Independent Non-Executive May 2011, 13 years®
BE Director 2011551 - 1350
B IENITE S
Notes g

M

Tenure is measured from the date of appointment as a director until the 2024
AGM of the Company and is rounded to the nearest whole year.

FHARZERESE ZBRERRF024FRRE
FRELL YHBESBANESF -

(2) As is usual for a company of this size, the Non-Executive Director and  (2) ZEFHIBEN » WULEEH QR - FEMITESE LB
Independent Non-Executive Directors do not have specific operational FATEFUEBTLEEL  RMBEENFEL
responsibilities but rather, with the benefit of their particular experiences, provide BEMNRAEZESSRHRBIEGRES -
strategic guidance and leadership to the Board.

(3) Each of Messrs. Etchells and Korbas, and Ms. Yeh, has served for more than  (3) Etchellsft4t « Korbas/E £ R E L HEEARAGTES

Tumi Voyageur Vinita Shoulder Bag

nine years as a director of the Company. As Independent Non-Executive
Directors with an in-depth understanding of the Group’s operations and
business, each of them has expressed objective views and provided valuable
independent guidance to the Company over the years and each of them
continues to demonstrate a firm commitment to his/her role as an Independent
Non-Executive Director. In view of this, the Board considers that the long service
of each of these directors would not affect his/her exercise of independent
judgment and he/she will continue to contribute to the Board through his/her
valuable business experience and guidance.

MEHRHCBEIF - WHERBIUIFRITES - 7
BAKBENEENEYE  ZER-ERARFTER
TERATRREENEBYRE  SEBRTRETE
VHMOTEFHORE Bt EFERR - %ZFE
EROERTEFERNSITRBILAL - TEESE
REFGRUBENEBLRIIES -

107

HEBEBERAR F#72023



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENSREER

Executive Director

Mr. Kyle Francis Gendreau, aged 54, has served as an Executive
Director of the Company since its incorporation in March 2011 and as
an executive director of the consolidated group since January 2009.
He has served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
May 31, 2018, and is responsible for the Company’s overall strategic
planning and for managing the Group’s operations. Prior to his
appointment as Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Gendreau served as the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer from January 2009 until May 2018
and was actively involved in the development of the Group’s business
and in implementing the Company’s strategic plan, in addition to
managing all aspects of the Group’s finance and treasury matters. He
continued to serve as Interim Chief Financial Officer from May 2018 to
November 2018. Mr. Gendreau joined the Group in June 2007 as Vice
President of Corporate Finance and as Assistant Treasurer. Prior to
joining the Group, he held various positions, including vice president
of finance and chief financial officer at Zoots Corporation, a venture
capital-backed start-up company (2000 to 2007), assistant vice
president of finance and director of SEC reporting at Specialty Catalog
Corporation, a listed catalog retailer (1997 to 2000) and a manager
at Coopers & Lybrand in Boston (1991 to 1996). Mr. Gendreau holds
a BS in Business Administration from Stonehill College, Easton,
Massachusetts, USA (1991) and is a Certified Public Accountant in
Massachusetts.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Timothy Charles Parker, aged 68, has served as the Chairman
of the Board of Directors since the Company was incorporated in
March 2011. As Chairman, he is responsible for leading the Board
and ensuring that the Board functions effectively and acts in the best
interests of the Company. He served as non-executive Chairman of
the consolidated group from November 2008 until January 2009,
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the consolidated group
from January 2009 through September 2014, and as non-executive
Chairman since October 1, 2014. Mr. Parker has a long history of
managing large businesses. Prior to joining the Company, he was
chief executive of: The Automobile Association (2004 to 2007), the
car-repair firm Kwik-Fit (2002 to 2004), Clarks, the shoemaker (1997
to 2002) and Kenwood Appliances (1989 to 1995). Mr. Parker is
currently a director of Archive Investments. Mr. Parker served as
Chairman of the Board of HM Courts and Tribunals Service from April
2018 until December 2022, as Chairman of Post Office Limited from
October 2015 until September 2022, and as Chairman of the National
Trust, a U.K. Charitable Organization, from November 2014 until
October 2021. He has also previously held non-executive directorships
with Alliance Boots, Compass and Legal and General and was a
member of the U.K. Advisors Board of CVC Capital Partners. Mr.
Parker has also previously advised ministers and senior civil servants
on nationalized industry policy in his capacity as an economist at the
British Treasury (1977 to 1979). Mr. Parker holds a MA in Philosophy,
Politics and Economics from the University of Oxford, Oxford, the
United Kingdom (1977) and a Master’s in Business Studies from
London Graduate School of Business Studies, London, the United
Kingdom (1981).
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Claire Marie Bennett, aged 58, has served as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since June 2022. She has
served as Global Chief Customer Officer of InterContinental Hotels
Group PLC (“IHG"), a global hospitality company listed on the London
Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange, since October
2020. She previously served as Global Chief Marketing Officer of
IHG from October 2017 until October 2020. Prior to joining IHG, Ms.
Bennett spent 11 years at The American Express Company, a New
York Stock Exchange listed credit card services company, in a range
of senior leadership roles including General Manager, Global Travel
and Lifestyle (2013 to 2017), Executive Vice President and General
Manager, Consumer Loyalty (2012 to 2013), Senior Vice President
and General Manager, U.S. Consumer Travel (2009 to 2012) and
Senior Vice President, Global Brand Management (2006 to 2009).
Ms. Bennett also held various marketing and finance positions at
Dell Computer Corporation and Quaker Oats Company (PepsiCo).
Ms. Bennett previously served as a non-executive director of Tumi
Holdings, Inc. (2013 to 2016) and has served on various industry
advisory boards. Ms. Bennett holds an MBA from the J.L. Kellogg
Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University,
Evanston, lllinois, USA (1992) and a BS in Accounting from Indiana
University, Bloomington, Indiana, USA (1987).

Ms. Angela Iris Brav, aged 61, has served as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since June 2, 2022. She served
as President, International of Hertz Global Holdings, Inc., a Nasdag-
listed global rental car company, from November 2019 until April
2022. Prior to joining Hertz, Ms. Brav was Principal and Owner at AB
Consulting & Advisors, a hospitality and entrepreneurial consulting
firm she founded in January 2018. From August 2011 until December
2017, Ms. Brav served as Chief Executive Officer, European Region
for InterContinental Hotels Group PLC (“IHG”), a global hospitality
company listed on the London Stock Exchange and the New York
Stock Exchange. Ms. Brav served as Chief Operating Officer for the
Americas region of IHG from August 2009 until July 2011. She was
previously a senior executive in various operational and strategic
roles at IHG. Ms. Brav previously served as a non-executive director
of U.K.-based Mothercare, Plc, and is a member of the Board of
Trustees of Flagler College, St. Augustine, Florida, USA. Ms. Brav
holds a BBA in Business Management from Baker College, Oswosso,
Michigan, USA (2009).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells, aged 73, has served as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since May 2011. He has
served as an independent non-executive director of Swire Pacific
Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, since May 2017, as a non-executive director
at ETAK International Limited since January 2017, as an advisor to
Cassia Investments Limited, a private equity firm, since November
2012 and as a non-executive director of Cassia Consumer Holdings
Limited since January 2020. Previously, he was an independent non-
executive director of Swire Properties Limited, a leading developer,
owner and operator of mixed use, principally commercial properties
in Hong Kong and the PRC, and of China Foods Limited, a company
engaged in food and beverage processing and distribution, both of
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Etchells also served as a non-executive director
and chairman of Twenty20 Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands which, through its subsidiary companies, is engaged
in the manufacture and sale of eyewear products. Mr. Etchells has
also held various positions at The Coca-Cola Company (1998 to
2010), including deputy president of Coca-Cola Pacific (2007 to 2010)
and president of Coca-Cola China (2002 to 2007). Prior to joining The
Coca-Cola Company, Mr. Etchells held various positions at the Swire
Group (1976 to 1998), including managing director of Swire Beverages
(1995 to 1998), general manager of the Industries Division of Swire
Pacific (1989 to 1995) and finance manager of the Industries Division
of Swire Pacific (1981 to 1989). Mr. Etchells holds a BA in Political
Studies from the University of Leeds, Leeds, the United Kingdom
(1971) and a MA in Asia Pacific Studies from the University of Leeds
(20183).

Mr. Jerome Squire Griffith, aged 66, has served as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since March 2019, before
which he served as a Non-Executive Director from September 2016
until March 2019. Since June 2023, Mr. Griffith has served as the
President and Chief Executive Officer, and as a director, of Brown
Jordan, Inc., a privately held, leading manufacturer of outdoor and
indoor furniture. Mr. Griffith previously served as Executive Vice
Chairman, and as a director, of Lands’ End, Inc., a multi-channel
retailer of clothing, accessories, footwear and home products that is
listed on NASDAQ. He served as Chief Executive Officer of Lands’
End, Inc. from March 2017 until January 2023 and he served as a
director of Lands’ End, Inc. from January 2017 until June 2023. He
has also served as a director of Vince Holding Corp., a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, since November 2013. Mr.
Griffith previously served as the Chief Executive Officer, President
and director of Tumi Holdings, Inc., a company which was listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, from April 2009 to August 2016 and
served as the chairman of the supervisory board of Tom Tailor Holding
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AG, a company listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, from June
2015 to May 2017. From 2002 to February 2009, he was employed
at Esprit Holdings Limited, a global fashion brand, where he was
promoted to Chief Operating Officer and was appointed to the board
in 2004. He was then promoted to President of Esprit North and
South America in 2006. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Griffith worked as
an executive vice president at Tommy Hilfiger, an apparel and retail
company. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Griffith worked as the president of
retail at the J. Peterman Company, a catalog-based apparel and retail
company. From 1989 through 1998, he worked in various positions
at Gap, Inc., a retailer of clothing, accessories, and personal care
products. Mr. Griffith previously served on the board of Parsons
School of Design (2013 to 2020). Mr. Griffith holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in marketing from the Pennsylvania State University,
State College, Pennsylvania, USA (1979).

Mr. Tom Korbas, aged 73, has served as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since March 2021, before which
he served as a Non-Executive Director of the Company from April
2016 until March 2021 and as an Executive Director of the Company
from June 2014 until April 2016. Before his retirement, Mr. Korbas
served as the Company’s President, North America from 2014
until April 2016 and was responsible for the overall management
and development of the Group’s business in the United States and
Canada. Following his retirement in 2016, Mr. Korbas served as a
consultant to the Group’s North America business until December 31,
2018. Mr. Korbas joined the Company in 1997. His previous positions
with the Company include: President, Americas (2004 to 2014), Vice
President/General Manager of the Company’s U.S. wholesale business
(2000 to 2004), Vice President of Sales and Operations (1998 to
2000) and Senior Vice President of Soft-Side and Casual Bags (1997
to 1998). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Korbas was vice president
of operations (1986 to 1997), director of manufacturing operations,
and engineering manager for American Tourister. Mr. Korbas holds
a BS in Industrial Engineering from Northeastern University, Boston,
Massachusetts, USA (1973) and an MBA from Babson College,
Wellesley, Massachusetts, USA (1976).
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Ms. Ying Yeh, aged 75, has served as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since May 2011. Ms. Yeh has extensive
experience as an executive and a non-executive director of major
international corporations. She was the chairman of Nalco Greater
China Region until June 2011. Nalco is one of the world’s largest
sustainability service companies. Ms. Yeh was also a non-executive
director at ABB Ltd (a company listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange,
the stock exchanges in Stockholm (NASDAQ OMX Stockholm) and
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)). She was previously a non-
executive director of AB Volvo (a company listed on the OMX Nordic
Exchange, Stockholm) and InterContinental Hotels Group plc (a
company listed on the main board of the London Stock Exchange).
Prior to joining Nalco, Ms. Yeh worked in various Asian divisions of
Eastman Kodak (1997 to 2009) and also held various positions with
the United States Government, Foreign Service (1982 to 1997). Ms.
Yeh holds a BA in Literature and International Relations from National
Taiwan University, Taiwan (1967).

Changes in Information of Directors

No changes in information concerning Directors of the Company are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

Senior Management

The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of its business. The following table sets out certain
information concerning its senior management:

Name Age
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13.51B() L REHERBE -
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TRBIEHEBREREOETAR -

®E Fie Position B

Kyle Francis Gendreau 54 Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer PAITESEFRITHER

Reza Taleghani 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer THEIEE - MBRERAERE
and Treasurer

Lynne Berard 52 President, North America dEEMEAE

Andrew Dawson 54 President, Tumi North America Tumidb FEME B E

Subrata Dutta 60 President, Asia Pacific and Middle East DAERPREER

Juan Roberto Guzman Martinez 58 President, Latin America NTEMNZBE

(Roberto)

Fabio Rugarli 60 President, Europe B [ 42 &

Frank Ma 553w 61 President, Greater China KRB

John Bayard Livingston 56 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and THREIRE - AERRRER A RWE
Joint Company Secretary

William Albert Morrison 65 Chief Information Officer BB e

Marjorie Whitlock (Marcie) 62 Senior Vice President, Global Human Resources RIAN BRI = R E B E
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Mr. Reza Taleghani serves as the Company’s Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and is responsible for
the Group’s corporate finance, accounting, global investor relations,
external reporting, financial planning and analysis and treasury
functions, as well as mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Taleghani joined
the Group in November 2018. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Taleghani
acted as the president and chief financial officer of Brightstar Corp.,
where he was responsible for global financial operations as well as
managing the financial services and device protection lines of business
from 2015 to 2018. Prior to joining Brightstar Corp., Mr. Taleghani
worked at J.P. Morgan, where he held various leadership roles in
investment banking, commercial banking and asset management from
2009 to 2015. Beyond his banking experience, Mr. Taleghani also
served as the president and chief executive officer of Sterling Airlines
A/S in 2008. Mr. Taleghani holds a BA in Organizational Behavior
and Management from Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island,
USA (1994) and a J.D./M.B.A. from Villanova University, Villanova,
Pennsylvania, USA (1997).

Ms. Lynne Berard serves as the Company’s President, North
America, and is responsible for the overall management and
development of the Company’s business (excluding the Tumi brand)
in the United States and Canada. Ms. Berard was promoted to
her current role in April 2016. Before her promotion, she served as
General Manager and Vice President, Sales and Marketing for U.S.
Wholesale beginning in 2008, and as Vice President, Marketing (2002
to 2008) and Senior Director, Marketing (2000 to 2002). Prior to
2000, Ms. Berard served in several sales and marketing roles with the
Group’s U.S. business. She began her career in 1993 with American
Tourister, Inc., which was acquired by the Group in 1993. Ms. Berard

holds a BS in Business Management from Providence College,
Providence, Rhode Island, USA (1993).

American Tourister Groove Spinners 3-Piece Set
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Mr. Andrew Dawson serves as the Company’s President, Tumi
North America, and is responsible for the overall management and
development of the Tumi brand’s business in North America. He also
has global oversight over the Tumi brand. Mr. Dawson re-joined the
Group in his current role in March 2021. From 2019 until March 2021,
Mr. Dawson served as Chief Sales Officer of Lenox Corporation, a
leading American manufacturer of tableware, giftware and collectible
products. He previously served as Senior Vice President — DTC and
Wholesale, North America for the Tumi business from 2015 until 2019.
Mr. Dawson joined Tumi in 2010 as Vice President of Sales, North
America Wholesale, and was promoted to Senior Vice President, North
America Wholesale in 2015. Prior to joining Tumi, Mr. Dawson held
senior sales positions with several leading consumer brands including
Swarovski (2007 — 2010), Montblanc (2005 - 2007), Ferragamo (2002
— 2005), Gold Toe Brands (1998 - 2002) and Polo Ralph Lauren
(1994 — 1998). Mr. Dawson holds a BS (1996) in Merchandising
Management and Marketing and an AS in Buying and Merchandising
(1991) from the Fashion Institute of Technology, New York, New York,
USA.

Mr. Subrata Dutta serves as the Company’s President, Asia Pacific
and Middle East and is responsible for the overall management and
development of the Company’s business in Asia. Mr. Dutta re-joined
the Group in his current role in October 2022. From 2021 until 2022,
Mr. Dutta served as Group Managing Director of Organic India, an
Indian-based wellness products business. He previously served as the
Company’s President, Asia Pacific and Middle East from April 2016
until December 2020. From 2013 until 2016, Mr. Dutta served as the
chief executive officer of Fabindia Overseas Private Limited, an India-
based company in the apparel, home furnishings, furniture, personal
care and health foods business. He previously served as Managing
Director (2008 to 2012) and Chief Operating Officer (2007 to 2008)
of Samsonite South Asia and Middle East, where he managed the
Group’s business in India, the Middle East, the SAARC (South Asia
Association for Regional Cooperation) countries and East Africa. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Dutta worked as business head of Himalaya
Herbal Healthcare (2005 to 2007), vice president sales and marketing
of Wimco Limited — Swedish Match Group (2002 to 2005), and in a
variety of other sales and marketing management roles for companies
including Elbee Limited (2001 to 2002), Pepsi Foods Limited (2000
to 2001) and Lakme Limited, Lakme Lever Limited and Hindustan
Lever Limited (1990 to 2000). Mr. Dutta holds a BTech with honors
in electrical engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology,
Kharagpur, India (1986) and a PGDM from the Indian Institute of
Management, Bangalore, India (1990).
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Mr. Juan Roberto Guzman Martinez (Roberto) serves as the
Company’s President, Latin America, and is responsible for the
overall management and development of the Company’s business in
Latin America. Mr. Guzman joined the Company in July 2007 when
the Group formed Samsonite Chile S.A. as a joint venture with Mr.
Guzman, following the acquisition by the Group of the Saxoline group
of companies from Mr. Guzmaén’s family. He was promoted to his
current role in May 2014. From 2007 until his promotion in May 2014,
Mr. Guzman served as General Manager of Samsonite Chile S.A., and
he continues to be responsible for the management of the Group’s
business in Chile. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Guzman served
in various roles for the Saxoline group including general manager
(1998 to 2007), deputy general manager (1996 to 1998), and finance
and administration manager (1989 to 1996). From 1988 to 1989,
he worked as operations manager for Salomon Brothers Chile. Mr.
Guzman holds a degree in business engineering from Pontificia
Universidad Catolica de Chile, Santiago, Chile. He also attended the
Senior Executive Program at the London Business School.

Mr. Fabio Rugarli serves as the Company’s President, Europe, and
is responsible for the overall management and development of the
Group’s business in Europe. Mr. Rugarli re-joined the Company in
his current role in May 2019. He previously served as the Company’s
President, Europe from 2009 through 2016. Mr. Rugarli joined the
Company in 1989. His previous positions with the Group include
General Manager for Samsonite ltaly (2002 to 2009) and Marketing
and Sales Director for the luggage division in Italy (1996 to 2001). Mr.
Rugarli holds a degree in Business Administration from the University
Bocconi, Milan, Italy (1988).

Mr. Frank Ma serves as the Company’s President, Greater China,
and is responsible for the overall management and development of the
Group’s business in mainland China and Taiwan. He was promoted
to his current role in January 2015. Mr. Ma was the Vice President of
Samsonite Greater China (2007 to 2015). His previous positions with
the Company include General Manager of Samsonite China (1999 to
2007) and Operations Manager of Samsonite China (1998). Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Ma held responsibilities in plant operations
and process design with CP Group, Cargill Corp. & Shandong
Chemical Design Institute. He holds a Master’s of Engineering from
Tianjin University, China (1988) and an MBA from Canberra University,
Australia (2004).
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Mr. John Bayard Livingston is Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Joint Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Livingston
is responsible for all of the Company’s legal matters worldwide
and provides counsel to senior management and the Directors on
matters of corporate governance. Mr. Livingston joined the Group
in July 2006 and was Vice President and General Counsel for the
Group’s Americas division until September 2009 when he became
Vice President and General Counsel of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Livingston was in-house counsel (2002 to 2006) at Reebok
International Ltd. and was an associate in the corporate department
of Ropes & Gray (1995 to 2002). Mr. Livingston holds a BA in Political
Science from Colgate University, Hamilton, New York, USA (1989),
and a JD from Boston College Law School, Newton, Massachusetts,
USA (1994).

Mr. William Albert Morrison serves as the Company’s Chief
Information Officer and is responsible for developing, structuring and
implementing the Groups’ global information technology strategy and
outsourced Information Technology Shared Services. Mr. Morrison
was promoted to his current role in March 2020. He previously served
as the Group’s Vice President of Information Technology, North
America (2016 to 2020), Senior Director of Information Technology,
North America (2014 to 2016) and Director of Information Technology,
North America (2009 to 2014). Prior to joining the Group in 2009,
Mr. Morrison was the Chief Information Officer at Tweeter Home
Entertainment Group (2001 to 2008), Vice President of Information
Technology, Software Development at Bradlees Stores Inc. (1998
to 2001) and Chief Information Officer/Vice President at Hit or
Miss Stores (1983 to 1998). Mr. Morrison holds a BS Degree from
Bridgewater State College, Bridgewater, Massachusetts, USA (1980).

Ms. Marjorie Whitlock (Marcie) serves as the Company’s Senior
Vice President, Global Human Resources. Ms. Whitlock is responsible
for global management compensation planning, senior leadership
succession planning, hiring management talent and development of
training programs to support the growth of the Group’s direct-to-
consumer business. Ms. Whitlock was promoted to her current role
in July 2017. From 2008 until her promotion in 2017, Ms. Whitlock
served as senior vice president human resources, for the Tumi
business. Before joining the Tumi business, Ms. Whitlock worked as
a regional manager for a number of fashion brands’ retail operations.
Ms. Whitlock holds a BA in Communication from the University of
Maryland, College Park, Maryland, USA (1983).
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Gender Diversity

The Group’s global workforce is approximately 50% female and 50%
male. The chart below summarizes the share of women at key levels
across the Group as of December 31, 2023.

PERCENTAGE OF WOMEN ACROSS THE BUSINESS'
SERPLHEHESL

(GOAL: by 2030, we will achieve gender balance by ensuring
that women represent at least 45% of the members of our
management team at the director level and above. We will
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The Company has established a goal to achieve gender balance in key
roles by 2030. Accordingly, the Company’s objective is that women
represent at least 45% of the members of its management team at
the director level and above by 2030. The Company will also seek to
maintain gender balance across its entire workforce. The Company
is not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make
achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.

Relationships between Directors and Senior

Managers
None of the directors or senior managers is related to any other
director or senior manager.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWE

The Directors have the pleasure in submitting their Annual Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

All references herein to other sections or reports in this Annual Report
form part of this Directors’ Report.

Business Review

Principal Activities

Samsonite International S.A. (the “Company”), together with its
consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”), is principally engaged in the
design, manufacture, sourcing and distribution of luggage, business
and computer bags, outdoor and casual bags and travel accessories
throughout the world, primarily under the Samsonite®, Tumi®,
American Tourister®, Gregory®, High Sierra®, Lipault® and Hartmann®
brand names as well as other owned and licensed brand names.

Before 2012, the Group’s business was primarily centered on the
Samsonite brand, focused largely on travel luggage, and distributed
principally through the wholesale channel. Over the last decade, the
Group has strategically diversified its business in order to reduce
its reliance on any single brand, market, channel of distribution or
product category, and in line with the goal of not just building a
bigger business, but a stronger one as well. Today, the Group has
a more balanced business, built around a portfolio of diverse yet
complementary brands and offering its customers a competitive mix
of products sold through multiple distribution channels. The Company
believes this diversification considerably strengthens its resilience and
provides a platform for sustained growth.

The Group sells its products through a variety of wholesale distribution
channels, through its company-operated retail stores and through
e-commerce. The principal wholesale distribution customers of the
Group are department and specialty retail stores, mass merchants,
warehouse clubs and e-retailers. The Group sells its products in Asia,
North America, Europe and Latin America.

Strategy

Details of the Company’s strategy for the year ended December 31,
2023, are set out in The Company’s Culture and Strategy section on
pages 3 to 5 of this Annual Report.

Financial Results of Operations and Financial Condition
Details of the Group’s financial results of operations and financial
condition as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, are set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis (‘“MD&A”) section
on pages 28 to 82 of this Annual Report. Reconciliations for any
referenced non-IFRS measures are also presented within the MD&A
section.
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Financial Results and Financial Highlights

The Group’s financial results and financial highlights as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2023, are set out in the Summary Financial
Results and Financial Highlights sections on pages 8 to 13 of this
Annual Report.

Investment in Advertising and Promotion

The Group spent US$241.5 million on marketing during the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$156.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, an increase of US$85.5 million, or
54.8%. As a percentage of net sales, marketing expenses increased
by 120 basis points to 6.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023,
from 5.4% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Group will
continue to invest in marketing to drive further net sales growth.

Introduction of New and Innovative Products to the Market
The Group continued to focus on innovation and ensuring that its
products reflect local consumer tastes in each region. Innovation and
a regional focus on product development are key drivers of sales
growth and are the means to deliver quality and value to the Group’s
customers.

Future Prospects
The Group’s medium to long-term growth strategy will continue as
planned, with a focus on the following:

e Ensure the Company’s well-diversified family of brands attracts
consumers at a wide range of price points in the travel and non-
travel luggage, bag and accessories categories.

¢ Increase the proportion of net sales from the Company’s direct-to-
consumer e-commerce channel.

e Increase investment in marketing to support the Company’s
brands and initiatives.

e Continue to leverage the Company’s regional management
structure, distribution expertise and marketing engine to extend
its brands into new markets and penetrate deeper into existing
channels.

e Continue to invest in research and development to develop lighter
and stronger new materials, advanced manufacturing processes,
exciting new designs, more sustainable collections and innovative
functionalities that deliver tangible benefits to consumers.

e Continue to incorporate the Company’s ESG philosophy into its
core business practices through “Our Responsible Journey” to
lead the transformation of the luggage industry with respect to
sustainability and treat all stakeholders with fairness and respect.

MBERERDIERE

AEBMN2023F12 A1 B REEZALFE
MU BEERV R EHNAFRFESEI1ZH
AN E RS E A -

RENREEBERERE
NEBREE2023F12 A31 B IFFEN L Y
XX B241 6B EETT - BEZE2022912 A31
HIEFER156.08 &X g M85 6B 83X T
3054.8% o EHMAT(NIHE FEMNBE DL HE
E2022F12 A31 AL FEH5.4%3E 11201
A EHZE2023F12 A31 B IEFEH6.6% °
AEEBEEETEHERE  UHBIHEEFHE
H—HIER o

RuSEHERRAIRER

REB B ZIN AN R ERE MRS R
MEHEEERRK o 8% RE IR IR E M
BRHERERNTIES ) YA ALRKEER
RHUHEENEREENER °

RRATR
AEEKEBLRRFAIEREPRBERR
B - RIFFEER AT HEA TE -

o BERARANZITMEARWSIIKE R
FIREITEM - MEREMRRTRER
RHHEE -

e EAXRREEEMMAHEEEEFHERE
HIHEFREMIGLL -

o EMEHIRE  UXIHARBR MK
RITE -

o BEBHEARNTMNMEEIRERE HHEHH
EUREHS N BERBRBRERT
% WIRZEREGRE -

o MERANMFTEME URBEREEDR
FERENHYE - SENRERM - AR
SINRF R EEZAREERRIAR
RHBESERE R B RE -

e BREBEARBIAEMEZIR]  #EBEHE
ARABNZOEFHERERE  HER

ERES  SIETTFETERERRE
B WEBENTHEREERARHNE -

HEBEBRAER DR F52023 119



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

£58

HE

The Company aims to increase shareholder value through sustainable

revenue and earnings growth and free cash flow generation.

Near-term Focus:

With such a strong performance in 2023, the Group is excited
about its growth prospects for 2024. The Group believes it is well
positioned to outpace the market, supported by its leading brands,
unrivaled global sourcing and distribution infrastructure, and its
ability to invest in product innovation, sustainability and marketing.

The Group expects global travel and tourism growth to remain
healthy in 2024. Asia is expected to continue to see travel growth,
as outbound travel from China continues to improve. In markets
that reopened earlier, including North America and Europe, travel
is expected to see steady growth closer to historical trends, with
relatively stronger prospects in Europe from the ongoing return of
Chinese travelers.

The Group intends to increase investment in marketing during
2024, targeting advertising spend of approximately 7.0% of its net
sales to drive future net sales growth across all brands.

The Group will maintain disciplined expense management on its
fixed SG&A expenses. The Group expects to deliver fundamentally
higher profitability as it benefits from its more efficient cost
structure and strong growth from its higher-margin brands and
regions.

As the luggage industry’s sustainability leader with the scale to
transform the industry, the Group will continue its path on “Our
Responsible Journey” and deliver progress towards its goals.

With significant liquidity of US$1.6 billion at December 31, 2023,
and total net leverage ratio at its lowest level since the acquisition
of Tumi in 2016, the Group is confident that it has the capacity to
support the growth of its business in the years to come.

The Board recommends that a cash distribution in the aggregate
amount of US$150.0 million be made to the Company’s
shareholders from its ad hoc distributable reserve, subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on June 6, 2024.

Industry

Below is a discussion of growth expectations relating to the bags and

luggage industry™ and travel and tourism forecasts®.

In this industry update, certain comparisons for the year ended

December 31, 2023, are made with both the year ended December
31, 2022, and the year ended December 31, 2019. Comparisons to

the year ended December 31,

2019, are provided because it is the

most recent comparable period during which the bags and luggage

industry was not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Products!"

During 2023 worldwide demand for bags and luggage improved
compared to 2022, driven mainly by continued recovery and growth
in leisure and business travel. In 2023 worldwide sales of bags and
luggage® were estimated at US$161.1 billion compared to US$149.8
billion in 2022 and US$155.2 billion in 2019. It is anticipated that
worldwide demand for bags and luggage products during 2024
will exceed 2023 demand, with global sales expected to grow by
approximately 8.0% from 2023 to an estimated US$174.0 billion.

Global luggage sales increased to an estimated US$21.2 billion in
2023 from US$18.6 billion in 2022. Compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019, global luggage sales were slightly lower, primarily
due to the slower travel recovery in Asia, with 2023 net sales coming
in approximately US$0.8 billion lower than 2019 global luggage net
sales of US$21.9 billion. It is anticipated that worldwide demand for
luggage products will continue its growth trajectory in future years,
with estimated global luggage sales expected to reach US$23.5 billion
in 2024, US$25.5 billion in 2025, US$27.4 billion in 2026, US$29.2
billion in 2027 and US$31.1 billion in 2028.

Global sales of bags and luggage products are expected to grow by a
compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of approximately 6.9% from
2023 to 2028, with global luggage product sales forecasted to grow
by a CAGR of approximately 8.0% over the same time frame.

Travel and Tourism®?

During 2023 global passenger arrivals were estimated to have
increased by 34% to 1,286 million arrivals, compared to 960 million
global passenger arrivals during 2022, primarily due to strong pent-
up demand to travel. Global passenger arrivals during 2023 were 12%
lower than pre-pandemic global passenger arrivals in 2019 (when
there were approximately 1.5 billion global passenger arrivals).
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During 2023 passenger arrivals in Europe, the world’s most visited
region, reached 94% of pre-pandemic levels, supported by robust
intra-regional demand and travel from the United States. Arrivals in
the Americas (North America, the Caribbean, Central America and
South America combined) reached 90% of global passenger arrivals
in 2019, backed by solid domestic and intra-regional demand. Global
passenger arrivals in Asia reached 65% of pre-pandemic levels, with a
gradual recovery since the beginning of 2023 following the reopening
of several country borders and travel destinations. Travel performance
among Asia’s sub-regions was mixed, with the southern parts of Asia
recovering quicker than the northern sections of Asia, due to strong
demand from European source markets that are closer to the southern
parts of Asia.

Based on current trends, the UNWTO® estimates that global
passenger arrivals are expected to return to pre-pandemic levels in
2024, with initial estimates suggesting growth of 2% above 2019
global passenger arrivals. The unleashing of pent-up demand,
increased air connectivity, and a stronger recovery of Asian markets
and destinations are expected to help in the full recovery by the
end of 2024. Europe is expected to experience strong passenger
arrivals in 2024 due primarily to Paris hosting the Summer Olympics
in July and August. Strong travel from the United States, backed by
a strong US Dollar, is expected to continue to benefit destinations in
the Americas and beyond. Chinese outbound and inbound tourism is
expected to continue to improve in 2024, due to visa facilitation and
improved air capacity. Sustainable practices and adaptability will also
play an increasing role in travel destinations and consumer choice
during 2024,
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This forecast remains subject to the pace of recovery in Asia and
to the evolving economic and geopolitical headwinds, which may
continue to pose significant challenges to the recovery of international
tourism and confidence levels. Persisting inflation, high interest rates,
volatile oil prices and potential disruptions to trade could continue to
impact transportation and accommodation costs in 2024.

The Group’s management pays close attention to travel and tourism
forecasts in order to ensure that the Company’s regions, channels
and product categories are well positioned for sales and profit growth,
and industry leadership. The Group is also fully aware of the consumer
trends that shape the bags and luggage industry, and is committed
to ensure that its multi-brand, multi-category and multi-channel
strategies continue to be successfully aligned with these trends.

Notes

(1) Source: Euromonitor International, Personal Accessories 2023 edition, Market
sizes — historical sales and sales forecasts, USD million, year-over-year exchange
rates, current prices, year-base 2023.

(2) Source: United Nations World Tourism Organization (‘UNWTO”) World Tourism
Barometer, January 2024.

(38) Bags and luggage, as defined by Euromonitor, includes handbags, backpacks,
business bags, crossbody bags, duffel bags and cases which serve common
everyday purposes or specific functions during travel, sports or formal occasions.
Sports equipment bags, such as golf, tennis and bowling, insulated food and
beverage bags and musical instrument cases are excluded.

Samsonite Black Label sBL Richmond Il Collection
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of the Company’s purchases that were attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers was less than 30% during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

The percentage of the Company’s net sales that were attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers was less than 30% during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

To the knowledge of the directors, none of the directors, their
associates, or any shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers.

Major Locations and Principal Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, percentage
ownership and significant non-controlling interests as of December 31,
2023, are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Intellectual Property

The Group is the registered owner of the Samsonite, Tumi, American
Tourister, Hartmann, High Sierra, Gregory, Lipault, Kamiliant, ebags
and Xtrem trademarks as well as certain other local brands and
trademarks. The Group’s Samsonite, Tumi and American Tourister
trademark registrations in its principal geographic markets are of
material importance to its business. The trademark registrations in the
United States and elsewhere will remain in existence for as long as the
Group continues to use and renew the trademarks on a timely basis.
The Group registers its main brand trademarks (Samsonite, Tumi
and American Tourister) widely throughout the world and in particular
in countries where products are marketed, sold or manufactured.
The Group also registers its sub-brands (such as Samsonite Red
and Samsonite Black Label) as well as key product lines and feature
names (such as Cosmolite, Silhouette and Smartfix).

The Group seeks patent protection where appropriate for inventions
embodied in its products and design protection for a number of its
unique designs. New, potentially patentable ideas from its research
and development teams are subjected to patentability and non-
infringement analyses before a decision is made to pursue a patent.
Emphasis on innovation and design is a significant component of the
Group’s competitive strategy in applicable portions of its business,
particularly with respect to hard-side luggage products and luggage
product features. Patents, pending patent applications and design
registrations cover features, designs and processes in various of the
Group’s product lines.
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The Group’s anti-counterfeiting activities include online monitoring
and customs recordals, liaising with customs and other officials,
and other enforcement activities intended to monitor, identify and
take action against counterfeit goods. The Group also monitors
factories in China where many counterfeits originate and monitors
and takes enforcement actions on online marketplaces, social media
and fake websites. From time to time, third parties have sought to
imitate the Group’s patented or design-protected products or to
trade off the reputation of its brands. The Group aggressively takes
action to enforce its intellectual property rights against such third-
party infringers by filing take-down notices, sending “cease and
desist” letters, filing opposition and cancellation proceedings, and, if
necessary, bringing civil suits or pursuing criminal action against the
infringing party. The Group identifies infringers through its business
teams in the various regions who are in the marketplace evaluating
third-party activity; through trademark watch services; through
professional investigators; through online monitoring; and through
customs officials who work with the Group to detain potentially
infringing product at border locations. The Group respects valid third-
party intellectual property rights, but will vigorously defend itself
against any inappropriate third-party claims. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, while the Group has taken infringement actions
and defended against infringement allegations, no infringement of the
Group’s patents or trademarks, and no allegations of infringement
claimed against the Group, had a material adverse effect on the

business or reputation of the Group.

Competition

Competition in the luggage industry tends to vary across different
parts of the world and is highly fragmented. The Group has significant
regional competitors in each of its markets (Asia, North America,
Europe and Latin America). However, the Group is one of the few

companies in its industry that operates on a global scale.

Throughout its regional markets, the Group competes based on
brand name recognition, reputation for product quality, product
differentiation, new product innovation, customer service, high quality
consumer advertising campaigns and quality to price comparisons.
The Group is well established in the distribution channels critical to
luggage distribution. The Group also invests in marketing campaigns
in order to enhance consumer awareness of the Company’s brands

and drive sales growth.

AEENITREDERERLER  BEBR
HEBHANMAEMEERESR  ULAMBEERES -

BRIRITEETREMNIVEES - AEBRE
REFPETREROTEIR - ARSEHE L

i IR N R AU TS R AT ER L,
ETE) c EZATRABREAEENENE
MEAERFZERENERKF AELRIER

2 AEERBRRTY  BREIBERE
o BRISERMEZ LR - RBHREREUB

BFF - AR (WERE) HREERIREFRN
FIMERFRBESTR - HZE=ZDREERTA
KSENANMBERE - ARERHEREENTAE

FEEBN SR KEEEEMS LAHES

EENEREREL  AREMERERRE  BAR
¥MFABAE  BBBELER URBEREH
ABBEAREESERE ARSI gENR
BED ASBBESEERMNE=FHHERE -
EHRE= EEﬂTm“mh%Lﬁ%ﬁh
%o REZE2023F12A31HIEFE  BEA

‘il*ﬁkﬁ&@&ﬁ“‘ - B SLRERIZR L
RoERILAKESENABENIT/ME AL
B REEHOEE  HAKENEBHBE

W EERCE RPN &

FRF
ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ?&ﬁﬁxfﬂxﬁ$@ :
WABRDE - REBEEZETS (M -
M- B ;ﬂ‘l‘\&%ﬁT%@;ﬂ‘l‘\)i’iﬁixﬂ’ﬁiﬂ@%ﬁ%
HF oA ARBERZITERIBERREE
AR Z— °

MBAEENLETS  EERBNEE - E

mEENGEE EREZRL  FMEMAIH - B
BER®  BEHBERSAHLMEELE I EA

BHFERY - ARBECHEHTFHEIHEBAE
EMDHEREEVIREMMS - REBTRER
BIHEE - ARAADFBBEREE ZRN
MEE - WiHEBHEER -

HEBEBRAER DR F52023 125



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The manufacture of soft-side luggage is labor intensive but not capital
intensive. As a result, barriers to entry by competitors in this market
have historically been relatively low. In recent years the demand for
hard-side luggage has significantly outpaced the demand for soft-side
luggage. This has resulted in a reduction in the number of factories
and skilled laborers producing soft-side luggage, which could
result in capacity constraints for prospective new market entrants.
Nonetheless, the soft-side luggage market remains fragmented and
competitive.

While the manufacture of hard-side luggage is more capital intensive
and there have historically been relatively fewer finished goods
vendors, the significant increase in demand for hard-side luggage
has resulted in an increase in hard-side manufacturing capacity. This
has made it relatively easier for new competitors to enter the hard-
side luggage market. The Group has several significant competitors
worldwide, as well as a number of regional competitors, in the hard-
side luggage market.

Legal and Regulatory Matters

Regulatory Compliance

The Group operates in the consumer products wholesale and direct-
to-consumer business, a business generally characterized by lighter
regulations than more manufacturing-intensive businesses. The Group
is required to secure licenses and permits to operate its owned
manufacturing facilities in Belgium, Hungary and India, and its office
in Ningbo, China. The Group’s in-house legal department provides
oversight and coordination of compliance with the rules, regulations
and laws to which it is subject, both at the corporate level as well as
at the regional level.

The Company believes that all members of the Group have obtained
and currently maintain all necessary permits and licenses which are
material to the Group’s production and sales activities, and that
the Group is in compliance in all material respects with the rules,
regulations and laws to which its business is subject. The Group did
not experience any material labor disputes during the year ended
December 31, 2023, and the Group believes it is in compliance in all
material respects with the labor laws of the jurisdictions in which it
operates.

Competition Regulations

The Group, like all large companies, is subject to various competition
laws and rules, including laws and rules on merger control, restrictive
agreements and abuse of dominance or monopolization. The Group
works to ensure that it complies with these laws and regulations.
If the Group was to be deemed to have a dominant position in a
particular market segment, and was deemed to have abused that
dominant position, it could be subject to regulatory action. In addition,
if the Group was to pursue certain acquisitions of businesses it may
be subject to competition regulations depending on the degree to
which the business is a competitor in the markets in which the Group
operates.
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Anti-Corruption

As a global company, the Group is subject to anti-corruption laws in
many of the countries in which it operates, including the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act and other applicable laws.
In general, these laws prohibit requesting, accepting, giving or offering
anything of value to or from anyone to reward improper performance
of an official duty or to obtain an unfair business advantage.

The Company has adopted a Global Anti-Corruption Compliance
Policy that requires all of the Company’s directors, officers,
employees, agents and representatives to comply with all applicable
anti-corruption laws. The policy, which has been distributed to relevant
personnel worldwide, provides guidance on how to ensure compliance
under various scenarios that may be encountered. In addition, training
on compliance with anti-corruption laws is provided periodically to
appropriate personnel.

The Company’s legal department provides guidance on compliance
with the Global Anti-Corruption Compliance Policy and applicable
laws, and the Company’s internal audit department, as part of its
routine internal audit activities, helps to assess compliance with the
policy. In addition, management in each of the Company’s regions
certifies compliance with the policy as part of the Company’s internal
management representation process that is completed in connection
with the periodic publication of consolidated financial statements.
The Company is not aware of any material violations of applicable
anti-corruption laws during the year ended December 31, 2023,
nor is it aware that it has been subject to any investigation by any
governmental authority of any alleged or suspected violation of such
laws.

Gregory Stout Backpack and Amber Backpack
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Environmental Protection

The Group’s operations throughout the world are subject to
national, state and local environmental laws and regulations. These
environmental laws and regulations govern the generation, storage,
transportation and emission of various substances. With respect
to emissions, the Company’s policy is to comply with relevant laws
and regulations in regards to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste. The Company tracks and monitors energy
consumption and emissions (air and greenhouse gases), discharges
into water and land, and waste (hazardous and non-hazardous,
as defined by local laws) at each of its owned and operated
manufacturing facilities. Energy consumption is also monitored at
distribution centers, regional offices, and retail stores. In 2023 the
Company had no known material instances of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding emissions. With respect to the
use of resources, the Company’s policy is to comply with relevant laws
and regulations in regard to the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water, and other raw materials. Furthermore, the Company
continuously aims to implement energy use and water efficiency
initiatives. The Company monitors its use of resources mostly through
its reporting to the national, regional, and local governments where
it maintains owned and operated manufacturing facilities and where
such reporting is required. The Company believes that the Group was
in compliance in all material respects with the environmental laws and
regulations to which its business is subject in 2023.

From time to time the Group has incurred, or accrued for, cleanup
or settlement costs for environmental cleanup matters associated, or
alleged to have been associated, with its historic operations. In 2023
such expenses did not have a material effect upon the Group’s cash
flow or financial position. Unknown, undiscovered or unanticipated
situations or events may require the Group to increase the amount it
has accrued for any environmental matters.

Regulation of Materials

REACH

The Group’s operations in Europe are subject to the hazardous
materials regulations known as REACH (Registration, Evaluation,
Authorization and Restriction of Chemical substances), the European
Union regulation on chemicals and their safe use. The Group is
required to gather information on the chemical substances used both
in its own production and in imported goods, and to communicate
to the Group’s customers if hazardous substances on the list of
Substances of Very High Concern (“SVHC”) are used in its products.
If the Group uses more than one ton of a substance on the list of
SVHC, and if this substance has not been registered for the particular
use it is making of such substance, the Group is required to notify the
European Chemicals Agency (‘ECHA”). The Group does not believe it
is currently required to notify the ECHA of any substance it uses.
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Regulation of PFAS

Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances, commonly known as
“PFAS,” are part of a large family of man-made chemical substances
that may be used in manufacturing certain products including water
and/or stain resistant fabrics and textile treatments. Laws and
regulations have been, or are being, adopted that prohibit or limit the
use of PFAS in certain consumer products. For example, U.S. states
such as California and New York have begun adopting standards for
acceptable levels of PFAS in certain consumer products, including
textile-based products, and the European Union is considering
proposed PFAS restrictions. The Group is proactively engaging with
its suppliers to ensure all raw materials and finished products comply
with the applicable regulatory requirements. The Group is requiring
its suppliers of products to be sold in the U.S. to certify compliance
with applicable requirements with respect to PFAS, and suppliers’
compliance with this requirement will be independently monitored and
verified.

Proposition 65
Proposition 65 is a California hazardous chemicals regulation that

provides a list of chemicals that, if such chemicals are included in
products, must either be included in amounts that pose no significant
risk of cancer or are significantly below levels observed to cause birth
defects or other reproductive harm, or the products must be labeled,
disclosing to the consumer that the product contains a chemical
determined by the State of California to cause cancer, birth defects
or other reproductive harm if a consumer has significant exposure
to such chemical. Similar to REACH, this list of chemicals includes
phthalates. Proposition 65 is enforced through civil litigation in the
State of California.
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Data Privacy and Security

The Group depends on digital technologies for the successful
operation of its business, including without limitation in connection
with corporate email communications to and from employees,
customers and vendors, systems utilized in connection with the
design, manufacture and distribution of the Group’s products, digital
marketing efforts, collection and retention of customer data and
employee information, the processing of credit card transactions by
third-party payment processors, online e-commerce activities and
interaction with the public through social media. Such activities often
require the secure storage and transmission of personal or confidential
information. This information is increasingly subject to legislation and
regulations in numerous jurisdictions globally, which are typically
intended to protect the privacy and security of personal information,
such as the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU)
2016/679) enacted by the European Union, the California Consumer
Privacy Act and the California Privacy Rights Act enacted by the State
of California in the U.S.,
(LGPD) and the Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL) enacted
by China.

the Brazilian General Data Protection Law

Sustainability

The Company’s Vice President, Global Head of Sustainability leads
the Company’s sustainability initiatives, which engage with the
Company’s key stakeholders including customers, investors, suppliers,
employees and the communities in which the Group operates. The
Vice President, Global Head of Sustainability reports directly to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who is actively engaged in setting
the direction and ambition of the Company’s sustainability efforts.
The Vice President, Global Head of Sustainability works with a Global
Sustainability Council comprised of leaders representing the Group’s
regions, key brands and key functions to drive accountability and
ensure alignment of the Company’s sustainability efforts. The Board of
Directors oversees the Company’s management of ESG issues.

In 2020, the Company launched “Our Responsible Journey,” a global
strategy and commitment to lead the luggage industry in sustainability.
“Our Responsible Journey” focuses on three strategic pillars that were
defined based in part on a comprehensive materiality assessment
conducted with a third party. These strategic pillars are:

e Product — the Company seeks to apply circular economy principles
and continuously innovate to create ever more sustainable
products;

e Planet — the Company’s aim is to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from its operations and its value chain, and minimize its
impact on the environment; and

e People — the Company will provide a culture of inclusion and
engagement, with professional development opportunities for all
employees.
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In 2023, the Company conducted its first comprehensive double
materiality assessment with a third party. Based on the results, the
Company is now evaluating certain of its sustainability goals. For
additional information on the double materiality assessment, see the
Company’s 2023 ESG Report.

The pillars of the Company’s sustainability strategy are supported by
a foundation of strong governance. The Company encourages good
practice within and beyond its direct business through its principles
and policies.

The Company takes product responsibility seriously in all its
operations and has comprehensive approaches to customer service,
data protection and privacy, intellectual property, product quality,
and product testing. The Company’s 2023 ESG Report highlights
the policies and practices through which the Company seeks to
responsibly manage its business worldwide. The Company has
published on the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange its 2023 ESG Report at the same time as this Annual
Report.

Economic Conditions

Details of potential economic conditions that could impact the Group’s
results of operations and financial condition are disclosed within
the Risk Management and Internal Control section of the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 94 to 101 of this Annual Report.

Human Resources and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a full-time equivalent
headcount of approximately 12,100 worldwide. The Group regularly
reviews the remuneration and benefits of its employees according to
the relevant market practice, employee performance and the financial
performance of the Group.

The Group is committed to helping its employees develop the
knowledge, skills and abilities needed for continued success, and
encourages professional development throughout each employee’s

career.

Tumi Alpha Card Case, Passport Cover, Watch Case, Travel Case
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Share Award Schemes

On September 14, 2012, the Company’s shareholders approved the
2012 Share Award Scheme (as amended from time to time), which
was valid for a term of 10 years from October 26, 2012 (being the
adoption date under the terms of the 2012 Share Award Scheme),
until its expiration on October 26, 2022. No further awards may be
granted under the 2012 Share Award Scheme, but all outstanding
awards granted thereunder prior to its expiration remain outstanding
in accordance with their terms.

On December 21, 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved the
2022 Share Award Scheme, which is valid for a term of 10 years from
January 5, 2023 (being the adoption date under the terms of the 2022
Share Award Scheme), until its expiration on January 5, 2033.

The purpose of both the 2012 Share Award Scheme and the 2022
Share Award Scheme is to attract skilled and experienced personnel,
to incentivize them to remain with the Group and to motivate them
to strive for the future development and expansion of the Group by
providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the
Company. Awards under both the 2012 Share Award Scheme and
the 2022 Share Award Scheme may take the form of either share
options or restricted share units (‘RSUs”), which may be granted at
the discretion of the Remuneration Committee to executive directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, managers employed or engaged
by the Group, and/or employees of the Group.

As of January 1, 2023, no awards could be granted pursuant to the
2022 Share Award Scheme because the term of the 2022 Share
Award Scheme did not commence until January 5, 2023. As of
December 31, 2023, the maximum aggregate number of shares in
respect of which awards could be granted pursuant to the 2022 Share
Award Scheme was 51,734,215 shares, representing approximately
3.57% of the issued shares of the Company at that date. As at
February 29, 2024, being the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum
aggregate number of shares in respect of which awards could be
granted pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme was 53,226,013
shares, representing approximately 3.67% of the issued shares of
the Company as at that date. Under the 2022 Share Award Scheme,
an individual participant may be granted awards pursuant to the
2022 Share Award Scheme in respect of a maximum of 1.00% of the
Company'’s total issued shares in any 12-month period. Any grant of
awards to an individual participant in excess of this limit is subject to
independent shareholders’ approval.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the number of shares that may be
issued in respect to outstanding awards granted under all of the Share
Award Schemes (being the 2012 Share Award Scheme and the 2022
Share Award Scheme) was 91,858,757 shares (assuming maximum
level vesting of outstanding PRSUs (as defined below)). The dilutive
effect of such was 6.33%, being the number of shares divided by the
weighted average number of shares for the same period.
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Share-based compensation cost of US$14.8 million and US$13.8
million was recognized in the consolidated statements of income,
with a corresponding increase in equity reserves, for the years ended
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Details of the accounting standard and policy adopted for share
options and RSUs are set out in notes 3(n)(vi) and 14(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the material matter
relating to Share Award Schemes that was reviewed and/or approved
by the Remuneration Committee was the approval of the restricted
share units granted on June 8, 2023, under the 2022 Share Award
Scheme. The performance-based restricted share units (“PRSUs”)
granted on June 8, 2023, are subject to performance vesting
targets. With respect to the time-based restricted share units
(“TRSUs”) granted on June 8, 2023, the Remuneration Committee
determined that it was appropriate for the TRSUs to not be subject to
performance vesting targets because the TRSUs aid in the retention of
the senior managers to whom they were granted since the underlying
shares will vest over a period of time. Long-term performance is
incentivized, and the interests of such senior managers and the
Company’s shareholders are aligned, as the value of the TRSUs
depends on the market value of the Company’s shares. The shares
underlying the TRSUs also help the relevant senior managers to meet
their applicable share ownership levels under the Company’s Share
Ownership Guidelines.

Share Options

The Company may, from time to time, grant share options to certain
key management personnel and other employees of the Group. The
exercise price of share options is determined at the time of grant by
the Remuneration Committee in its absolute discretion, but in any
event shall not be less than the higher of:

a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

c) the nominal value of the shares.

The Company may, at its discretion, require a grantee to pay a
remittance of HK$1.00 (or such other amount in any other currency as
the Remuneration Committee may determine) as consideration for the
grant of an option at the time of acceptance of an option grant.

Expected volatility is estimated taking into account the historic average
share price volatility. The expected cash distributions are based on
the Group’s history and expectation of cash distribution payouts.

B E2023F12 431 H %2022 12 A31 H 1L
FE - DHABI48BBXTRIBEEEERT
A LA RS A7) 32151 O 367 BN B 52 B PR & MR 2 2 R i
R WARRESE AN s o

FRBERELIRBIBROEMCRBO G E
AIMBER F 15 E R &7 A B 5 R M 5 3(n) (vi) &
14(b) °

FMEES

HZE2023F12A31HILFE FEEZE
BIK s it e R EE AR SR AT BB E RS
B AR E2022F Ik h RN 178 N7 20234F 6
A8 BEEHME RGN ERL - ’R2023F6 A8
B 1% B0 48 U 80 52 PR IR 17 Bz ([ 48 44
SREIRDEN ) REREBEEIZORG - 5t
202346 A8 B % [ 1 RF [ #6852 [R B i 1 &8
iz ([EFEEZ RGN ER ) ME - FHE
EEETE - FEBEZRGRMOEMTZEN
FBEEENRVBRE  REARKHEEBHIR
IR B BN BEERBNSREEA
8 ERRABRMNE—BRE[MEFEHEE - &
A B ] 1 80 52 PR 5 AR D BB AL M B EBUR R AR
ARGOTE AL SBRAESE  UWFEZE
BREEABHEARRBRENNSHE— o 5
e 4 80 52 PR 1 A% A BB AL AT R M9 IR 15 TR A Bh R
HESAEEABRMEARTRFRESIREDN
HRRRRKTE -

B
ARBATNKAREEETEEEEABRRE
fifE B B RE - BARERTTRER KL
mEFMEZE g2 RBIEET  HEEMBERT
TMRERU T ZERNESE :

a) REHBABRZATIENSHBRERMIIK
U E

b) ERFHAMAMEXAMIMTENE
RIREXRMIIRNDFHEHE &

o) BMHE(E -

AR B A BO1E B RAR AR VIR BB B
SAS1.00B TR (RFMEB S IRLETE 2
MERMEMEREHEZ e EARHBE
Ptz KB -

TEHR 8 R AR M 2 S BB R R M &t o
BEHHR N RRRAEENR & 7 RN AL
NMIEHETE -

HEBEBRAER DR F52023 133



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

HZE20283F 12 A1 HILFE - BREMNGFE
REEHIT -

Particulars and movements of share options during the year ended

December 31, 2023, were as follows:

Number of share options HH &% B Closing price
Exercise immediately
As of As of price per  preceding the
Name/category  January 1, Granted  Exercised Lapsed  December 31, share date of grant
of grantee 2023  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2023 (HK$) (HK$)
REANEE / 120235 period period® period 20235  Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period SROEE BERLBAN
£5 1418 HagY  ARfke BRAX 128318 RitA BRE (itid ] (Bx)  WHE(ER)
CONNECTED
PERSONS
BEAL
Directors E%
Timothy Parker 2,368,749 - (2,368,749) - - January 8, 2013 January 8, 2014 - January 8, 2014 - 17.36 16.90
201351 78H January 7, 2017 January 7, 2023
2014F188HE 201451A8AZ
201741478 2023%51A7H
Timothy Parker 1,821,615 - (1,821,615) - - January 7, 2014 January 7, 2015 - January 7, 2015 - 23.30 23.30
201451A7H January 6, 2018 January 6, 2024
01561A7HE 201551 A7AE
201851868 2024%176H
Kyle Gendreau 2,506,600 - - - 2,506,600 January 7, 2015 January 7, 2018 - January 7, 2018 - 23.31 23.30
20151 A7H January 6, 2020 January 6, 2025
201851A7HE 201851A7HZ
2020%1A6H 2025%1A6H
Kyle Gendreau 216,683 - - - 216,683 January 7, 2015 January 7, 2016 - January 7, 2016 - 23.31 23.30
201551778 January 6, 2019 January 6, 2025
201651A7AZ 2016F1A7RZ
201951 A6H 2025%176H
Kyle Gendreau 1,230,464 - - - 1,230,464 May 6, 2016 May 6, 2017 - May 6, 2017 - 24.91 24.00
20165468 May 5, 2020 May 5, 2026
2017654602 201755R6HF
202055750 2026%5 750
Kyle Gendreau 952,676 - - - 952,676 May 26, 2017 May 26, 2018 - May 26, 2018 - 31.10 30.45
017557268 May 25, 2021 May 25, 2027
201855A26H% 018558260%
2021554258 200758258
Kyle Gendreau 1,336,988 - - - 1,336,988 October 11, 2018 October 11, 2019 - October 11, 2019 - 27.06 2595
2018%10A118 October 10, 2022 October 10, 2028
2019F10A11AZE 019F108118Z
2022510 F 108 2028F10A108
Kyle Gendreau 1,644,930 - - - 1,644,980 June 17, 2019 June 17, 2020 - June 17, 2020 - 16.04 16.18
201968178 June 16, 2023 June 16, 2029
2020%56F170% 202056 A17H%
2023567168 200956 F16H
Kyle Gendreau 7,346,180 - - - 7,346,180 November 18,2020  November 18,2021 - November 18, 2021 - 15.18 11.90
2020F11F18H November 17, 2024 November 17, 2030
2021511 F18HE 20215115186 %
20245115178 2080%118178
Kyle Gendreau 5,481,920 - - - 5,481,920 June 17, 2021 June 17, 2022 - June 17, 2022 - 20.76 17.40
2021456 A178 June 16, 2025 June 16, 2031
2002F6R17HE 200256 R17HZ
2025%6 7168 203156A16R
Kyle Gendreau 5,659,328 - - - 5,669,328 May 26, 2022 May 26, 2023 - May 26, 2023 - 17.97 16.14
2022%5A268 May 25, 2026 May 25, 2032
200355260 % 2003552602
20065258 203245508258
Tom Korbas 32,351 - (32,351) - - January 7,2014 January 7, 2015 - January 7, 2015 - 23.30 23.30
201451778 January 6, 2018 January 6, 2024
01551A78Z 201551A70%
2018%1A6H 2024%5176H
Tom Korbas 714,182 - - - 714,182 January 7, 2015 January 7, 2016 - January 7, 2016 - 23.31 23.30
201551778 January 6, 2019 January 6, 2025
201651A7AZ 2016F1A7HZ
201951 A6H 2025%176H
Total Directors 31,212,716 - (4,222,715) - 26,990,001
FEEh
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Number of share options BEREHE Closing price

Exercise immediately
As of As of price per  preceding the
Name/category January 1, Granted  Exercised Lapsed  December 31, share date of grant
of grantee 2023  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2023 (HK$) (HK$)
EEANRE/ 2023 period period® period 1420235  Date of grant Vesting Period Exercise period SROEE REELAAN
£5) 1818 HRgE  BRGEe HBREX 128318 HiA BRA T (Bn)  WwE(ER)
OTHERS £
Employees 306,250 - (305,249 (1) - January 8, 2013 January 8, 2014 - January 8, 2014 - 17.36 16.90
E& 2013F1A8H January 7, 2017 January 7, 2023
01451 A8AZE 20145148HZ
201751A78 202351478
Employee 108,522 - (108,522) - - Juyt, 2013 July 1, 2014 - July 1, 2014 - 18.68 18.68
E& 2013%7A18 June 80, 2017 June 30, 2023
01457A18E 01457A1HZ
201756 A308 2023%56A30H
Employees 2,487,404 - (1,740,285 (45,223) 701,896 January 7, 2014 January 7, 2015 - January 7, 2015 - 23.30 23.30
E& 201481A78 January 6, 2018 January 6, 2024
01551 A7AE 201551 A7AE
201851568 2024%176H
Employees 5,014,678 - (536,919) (659,747) 4,418,012 January 7, 2015 January 7, 2016 - January 7, 2016 - 23.31 23.30
E& 2015%1A78 January 6, 2019 January 6, 2025
2016F1A70% 201651 A7HZ
201951568 2025%176H
Employees 3,906,005 - - - 3,906,005  January 7, 2015 January 7, 2018 - January 7, 2018 - 23.31 23.30
E& 20151478 January 6, 2020 January 6, 2025
2018%1A7RE 201851A7AF
2020%176H 2025%176H
Employees 7,912,191 - (97,728) (135,362) 7,679,101 May 6, 2016 May 6, 2017 - May 6, 2017 - 24.91 24,00
B8 201655568 May 5, 2020 May 5, 2026
201755A6RF 201755R6H%
202055750 202655750
Employees 2,213,466 - - - 2,213,466  May 6, 2016 May 6, 2019 - May 6, 2019 - 24.91 24,00
E& 2016%556H May 5, 2021 May 5, 2026
201955A6R% 201955602
202145750 2026%5A5A
Employee 62,160 - - - 62,160  May 11, 2016 May 11, 2017 - May 11, 2017 - 24.23 24,05
E& 201658118 May 10, 2020 May 10, 2026
01755/110% 0178581182
2020557108 2026557108
Employee 74,979 - (74,979) - - June 16, 2016 June 16, 2017 - June 16, 2017 - 2319 2045
E& 2016467168 June 15, 2020 June 15, 2026
0175671602 017568168%
2020567158 2026567158
Employees 8,161,880 - - (193,384) 7968496  May 26, 2017 May 26, 2018 - May 26, 2018 - 31.10 3045
B8 2017557268 May 25, 2021 May 25, 2027
018554260 % 2018557260 %
2001558258 2007658258
Employees 3,747,960 - (13,032) (106,612) 3,628,316 October 11, 2018 October 11,2019~ October 11, 2019 - 27.06 25.95
E& 20185104 1A October 10, 2022 October 10, 2028
019510118 2019F10F11HZE
20224105108 2028%10A10A
Employee 1,194,180 - - - 1,194,180  December 4, 2018 December 4,2019-  December 4, 2019 - 25.00 25.00
E& 201812848 December 3, 2022 December 3, 2028
201951254R8% 20195124R%
2022412838 202851238
Employees 5,701,553 - (1,673,151) (44,759) 3,983,643  June 17,2019 June 17, 2020 - June 17, 2020 - 16.04 16.18
E& 2019F6A178 June 16, 2023 June 16, 2029
202066 A17HE 200056A1702
200356 F16H 2029467168
Employees 125,992 - - - 125,992 November 22, 2019 November 22, 2020 - November 22, 2020 - 16.62 16.44
E& 2019115228 November 21,2023 November 21, 2029
2020F11F220% 202051152282
2023%11A21A 2020%114218
Employess 8,382,660 - (1,204,508) - 7,088,152 November 18, 2020 November 18, 2021 - November 18, 2021 - 15.18 11.90
E8 2020511 F18H November 17,2024 November 17, 2030
2021%11418AZ  2021%11518AZ
20245114178 2030F11 A178
Employees 7,907,588 - (508,690) - 7,398,898 June 17, 2021 June 17, 2022 - June 17, 2022 - 20.76 17.40
B8 200167178 June 16, 2025 June 16, 2031
02%56A170% 022%56A178%
2025567168 2031567168
Employees 7,671,424 - (216,000) - 7455424 May 26, 2022 May 26, 2023 - May 26, 2023 - 17.97 16.14
B8 200258268 May 25, 2026 May 25, 2032
2023%55726H% 2003552682
2026557258 203255A258
Employee 535,536 - - - 535,536 October 10, 2022 October 10, 2028 - October 10, 2023 - 20.59 19.58
B8 2022%10A10A October 9, 2026 October 9, 2032
202%F10A10BE  2023F10A108E
2026510498 2032410798
Total Employees 65,513,428 - (6,569,063) (585,088) 58,359,277
Ea&
Total @ 96,726,144 - (10,791,778) (585,088) 85,349,278
.0
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Notes 5F##

(1) No grant has been made to (i) any related entity participant or service provider with options and awards granted in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued shares over the 12-month period ended December 31, 2023, and (i) any other participant with options and awards
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit, as such terms are used in the Listing Rules.

R () IR S E B2 HE RIS ERE B L BRA AR N B E2023F 12 A31 BiE 1218 A B B #1711 0.1% 2 BEARIE [ 228 ¢ K (i) F 1

Hih28EF BB % ERIRE BEERZR (N EMRAD AAFAS)

(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no cancellations of share options.

BE2023F 1231 HIEFE - SEBEREEHNBEREAE -

(8) The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the date of exercise by the participants was HK$23.87.

ZR2METTE R SRR I TERTER23.87ETT

Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”)

The Company may, from time to time, grant RSUs, including TRSUs
and PRSUs, to certain key management personnel and other
employees of the Group. The vesting of the RSUs is subject to the
continuing employment of the grantee and, in the case of PRSUs,
to the Company’s achievement of pre-established performance
goals. The closing market price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant is used to determine the grant date fair value. The
Company has historically granted PRSUs with either (a) market-
based performance conditions or (b) non-market-based performance
conditions. Where the performance-based award incorporates a
market-based performance condition, the grant-date fair value of such
award is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. These fair values
are recognized as expense over the requisite service period, net of
estimated forfeitures, based on expected attainment of pre-established
performance goals for PRSUs with market-based performance
conditions, or the passage of time for TRSUs. For awards with
market-based performance conditions, the expense is recognized
over the requisite service period with no adjustment to the expense
recognized for actual achievement. For awards with non-market-based
performance conditions, the expense is recognized over the requisite
service period with an adjustment to the total expense recognized for
actual shares vested. Actual distributed shares are calculated upon
the conclusion of the service and performance periods.

No amount is payable to the Company for the grant or acceptance of
RSU awards or at the time of vesting of the RSU awards.

RSU awards, including TRSUs and PRSUs, were granted during the
year ended December 31, 2023, and are discussed further below. No
RSUs were granted during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Time-based Restricted Share Units

TRSUs granted by the Company are subject to pro rata vesting over
a three-year period, with one-third of such TRSUs vesting on each
anniversary of the date of the grant, subject to the grantee continuing
to be employed by, or continuing to provide services to, the Group
on the applicable vesting date. Expense for TRSUs is based on the
closing market price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
discounted by the present value of expected future dividends, and is
recognized ratably over the vesting period, net of expected forfeitures.
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On June 8, 2023, the Company awarded TRSUs with respect to 202346 A8H - $ RNAIRAR BT
2,628,576 shares to the executive director of the Company and ZEEZENMAEEETSREBAERE SN
certain senior managers of the Group. 2,628,576 B A 15 HY B Fﬁﬁl‘f’]xﬁi%ﬂﬂxf" =Ry

Particulars and movements of TRSUs during the year ended #HZE2023F12A31BIEFE @ KHEEHZR
December 31, 2023, were as follows: I BRI R BT

Number of TRSUs K B# % RHERMENHE

Closing price
Vested and immediately
converted preceding
to ordinary Purchase the date of
As of shares As of price per grant
January 1, Granted during the Lapsed December 31, share (HK$)
Name/category 2023 during the period during the 2023 (HKS)  BEBHAR
of grantee #2023 period® BRAEER period #2023%  Date of grant Vesting period SRABE HikmE
BRANEE /B 1A18 HhzLe  EBRALER PR 12A318  HitA FRE (%) (%7)
Directors £
Kyle Gendreau - 1,256,108 - - 1,266,103 June 8, 2023 1/3 of TRSUs will vest on each 0.00 21.05
202356 A8H of June 8, 2024, June 8, 2025,
and June 8, 2026
A2 —HNEREBRRHRR
ih #ARIR202456 88 »
202556 A8H 2202656 A8H
i
Total Directors - 1,256,103 - - 1,256,103
£ Hy

Number of TRSUs Ky #53% RAIR & fu 8 B

Closing price
Vested and immediately
converted preceding
to ordinary Purchase the date of
As of shares As of price per grant
January 1, Granted during the Lapsed December 31, share (HKS$)
Name/category 2023 during the period  during the 2023 (HKS)  RERLAA
of grantee 120235 period® HARER period #2023 Date of grant Vesting period SRABE HlmHE
REANEE /85 1818 BAREY ERHAEZER BRER 12A318  #®H4A BRA (B7) (1)
Others Zf
Employees - 1,372,473 - - 1,372,473 June 8, 2023 1/3 of TRSUs will vest on each 0.00 21.05
ES 202356 A8H of June 8, 2024, June 8, 2025,
and June 8, 2026
=57 —HBREDERHRY
frf 5 Bl 202456 A8H -
2025¢6ﬂ85&2026¢6ﬂ85
5B
Total Employees - 1,372,473 - - 1,372,473
Ea4a:t
Total@ - 2,628,576 - - 2,628,576
.0
Notes 5t

(1) No grant has been made to (i) any related entity participant or service provider with options and awards granted in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued shares over the 12-month period ended December 31, 2023, and (i) any other participant with options and awards
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit, as such terms are used in the Listing Rules.
BERG)TMEEER2EEAREEEREDBARARREZE2023412 A31 B 1L121E A BRI S 3T 0.1% 2 M AHE K 588 © K (i) (T 7]
Hip 2 8ER BB 1%E5IRE 2 B R EZE (md ETRADAAFAR) -

(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no cancellations of TRSUs.

BZE2023F12A31 B L FE - SRR AT RGN B EHNBRELE -

(3) The fair value of the TRSUs at the date of grant was HK$20.89. Details of the accounting standard and policy adopted for TRSUs are set
out in note 14(b) Share-based Payment Arrangements to the consolidated financial statements. No performance targets are applicable to the
TRSUs.

AR B R R BT RGN B AR EER20.898 T o KRR HIRG B KM ST ERRBOR 2 S EH NGRS W BRI 14(b)
VARG SZ A 22k © R B 1R NE P IR P M 2R AR £ B8 4L -
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Performance-based Restricted Share Units

PRSUs vest in full on the third anniversary of the date of grant,
subject to the grantee continuing to be employed by, or continuing
to provide services to, the Group on the vesting date, and only to
the extent certain pre-established performance targets are met.
Expense related to PRSUs with non-market-based performance
conditions is recognized ratably over the performance period, net of
estimated forfeitures, based on the probability of attainment of the
related performance targets. The potential number of shares that
may be issued upon vesting of the PRSUs ranges from 0% of the
target number of shares subject to the PRSUs, if the minimum level
of performance is not attained, to up to 200% of the target number
of shares subject to the PRSUs, if the level of performance is at or
above the predetermined maximum achievement level. For any PRSUs
granted with market-based performance conditions, the expense
is recognized over the vesting period based on the fair value as
determined on the grant date utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation.

On June 8, 2023, the Group granted PRSUs with respect to a target
number of 2,628,576 shares to the executive director and certain
senior managers of the Group, assuming target-level achievement
of the performance conditions applicable to the PRSU grants. Such
PRSUs will cliff vest on June 8, 2026, based on the achievement of
pre-established performance goals determined by reference to the
Group’s annual long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) Adjusted EBITDA
(“LTIP Adjusted EBITDA”) growth rate targets set at the time of the
grant, which growth rate targets are expressed on a constant currency
basis compared to the previous year. For purposes of the PRSUs
granted on June 8, 2023, LTIP Adjusted EBITDA is defined as the
Company’s consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization of intangible assets, as adjusted to eliminate the
effect of a number of costs, charges and credits and certain other
non-cash charges. LTIP Adjusted EBITDA includes the lease interest
and amortization expense as a result of the Group’s adoption of IFRS
16 to account for operational rent expenses and excludes annual cash
bonus expenses and cash long-term-incentive award expenses.

When setting the performance targets, the objective was for the
targets to be sufficiently challenging to create appropriate pay-for-
performance alignment as expected by the Company’s shareholders,
within parameters that are likely to be perceived by the grantees to
be achievable in order to create appropriate incentives. The annual
LTIP Adjusted EBITDA growth rate target for each year included in the
three-year performance period was established by the Remuneration
Committee and was communicated to the recipients of the PRSUs
in the grant notices. At the end of each year, the extent to which the
annual growth target has been achieved will be determined in respect
of 1/3 of the total PRSUs granted.
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In making such determination, the Remuneration Committee shall
adjust either the performance goals or the calculation of the LTIP
Adjusted EBITDA to reflect the following occurrences affecting
the Company during the performance period (to the extent such
occurrences affect the year-over-year comparability of LTIP Adjusted
EBITDA):

e the effect of changes in laws, regulations, or accounting principles,
methods or estimates;

e changes to amortization of lease right-of-use assets resulting from
the write down or impairment of such assets or the reversal of
impairments;

e the planned, unrealized LTIP Adjusted EBITDA associated with a
business segment, division, or unit or product group that is sold or
discontinued (where such sale or discontinuation was unplanned);

e results from an unplanned acquired business and costs related to
such unplanned acquisition;

e restructuring and workforce severance costs pursuant to a plan
approved by the Board and the Company’s chief executive officer;
and

e unusual and infrequently occurring items as defined by the IASB
IFRS Accounting Standards and any other unusual and exceptional
events outside the ordinary course of business, provided that such
adjustment is guided by the principles of the Company’s long-term
incentive program and alignment of shareholders’ and participants’
interests.

OTONO INVIERNO 2024
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Details of the payout levels with respect to each year included in the

three-year performance period are set out below:

Payout levels (% of shares underlying PRSUs)
RAFRFE (LR SRR BEMMIRRBNE D)

2023 against 2022 2024 against 2023 2025 against 2024

(1/3 weighting)
2023 F B2022F
#H(ZE92—HE)

(1/3 weighting)
2024 F 82023 F
B (Z=a2—HE)

(1/3 weighting)
2025 F 812024 F
HE (Z=a2—HE)

Maximum LR 200% 200% 200%
Target B 100% 100% 100%
Threshold TR 25% 25% 25%
Below Threshold BER TR 0% 0% 0%

Vesting levels will be interpolated for actual performance between
payout levels.

PRSUs will vest only upon completion of the three-year performance
period to the extent the annual targets have been satisfied. PRSUs will
ensure that there is linkage between the Company’s stated long-term
strategic and financial goals and executive compensation.

The maximum number of shares underlying the PRSUs granted on
June 8, 2023, is 5,257,152 shares.

Particulars and movements of PRSUs (at target level vesting) during
the year ended December 31, 2023, were as follows:

Number of PRSUs &3 #1% R HR AL #A

BEKFBREEREREEIRE MK FE

iE °

AR BB BAER = FERRER
% DERFEEGNERRERE - B3H
R IR B BALAS AR A R R FTR] AR R
RS R 8175 B AR B TIR A B ROFT BN 48 -

20234 6 A8 B 1% A 4E MU A R HI A% 1D
BN RN RDEE A5,257,1520% -

HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE - AU =R
DB (IR BIZKTFEREB) s R EsunT -

Initial or
target number
of shares
for PRSUs
granted during Change Closing price
the period® due to Purchase immediately
As of BAREH  performance As of price preceding the
Name/category January 1, IS AEER condition Vested Lapsed  December 31, per share date of grant
of grantee 2023 HAZRA  achievement during during 2023 (HKS) (HKS)
ERAKSES/ R02BE RAEUNEER REXKEEH the period the period R2023%  Date of grant Vesting period® SRIBE  BRELANN
EA 1A1A it R BEMEY HNER BRAN 128818 RitA 1 0 (Bx) Wfe (#7)
Directors E%
Kyle Gendreau - 1,256,103 - - - 1,256,103 June 8, 2023 PRSUs will vest on June 8, 0.00 21.05
2023E6A8H 2026
ERBBTRARNEER
202656/ 8R5E
1,256,103 - - - 1,256,103

Total Directors -

it

Number of PRSUs &3 #i% RHRAELHA

Initial or
target number
of shares
for PRSUs
granted during Change Closing price
the period® due to Purchase immediately
As of BAREA  performance As of price  preceding the
Name/category of  January 1, 1% AEEN condition Vested Lapsed  December 31, per share date of grant
grantee 2023 HUZRA  achievement during during the 2023 (HKS) (HKS)
RRANES R2023%F RABUMER RENKHER the period period R2023%  Date of grant Vesting period(4) SRIWE  BRELANN
£ 1818 it L BEMES HNEE LIPS 128318 BB | B (B7) e (#7)
Others £t
Employees - 1,372,473 - - - 1372478 June 8, 2023 PRSUs will vest on June 8, 0.00 21.05
&8 202356787 2026
ERBATRARNBAR
202656A8R5E
Total Employees - 1,372,473 - - - 1,372,473
B
Total @ - 2,628,576 - - - 2,628,576
@00
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No grant has been made to () any related entity participant or service provider with options and awards granted in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued shares over the 12-month period ended December 31, 2023, and (i) any other participant with options and awards
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit, as such terms are used in the Listing Rules.

A () IR E B2 A SRS E S B L BIRA AR N B E£2023F 12 A31 BHiE 1218 A B B #1719 0.1% 2 BEARIE I 828 ¢ K (i) (F 1
Hip 285X BB 1%E5IR 2 BEAE R ZE (K ETRRD AAFAE) -

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no cancellations of PRSUs.

HZE2023F12 431 HILFE - AR AT R G0 BALT M B REE -

The PRSUs granted during the year have certain pre-established performance targets. The fair value of the PRSUs at the date of grant was
HK$20.17. Details of the accounting standard and policy adopted for PRSUs are set out in note 14(b) Share-based Payment Arrangements
to the consolidated financial statements.

RERREOERHBIBHRMNECAEETRARENEN T - RELANERHBZRHBNDEML AR EBR2017ET - ERHHBR
MR I AR 17 AL SR A & T ERI RBUR 2 S IE HUNAR & S IR M iE14(0) AR D A 8k ©

(4) Subject to satisfaction of applicable performance targets.
ARFABEANEREE -

Shares underlying an award of share options, TRSUs or PRSUs that
lapse without the issuance of such shares upon vesting of such
award may be available for future grant under the 2022 Share Award
Scheme. During the years ended December 31, 2023, and December
31, 2022, there were no cancellations of share options, TRSUs or
PRSUs.

Risk Factors

Details of the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties that may
adversely impact the Company’s performance and the execution of
its strategies are disclosed within the Risk Management and Internal
Control section of the Corporate Governance Report on pages 94 to
101 of this Annual Report.

Qualitative and Quantitative Market Risks
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from
customers. Maximum exposure is limited to the carrying amounts of
the financial assets presented in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. However, management
also considers the demographics of its customer base, including
the default risk of the industry and the country in which customers
operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new
customer is analyzed individually for credit worthiness before the
Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are
offered.
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In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according
to their credit characteristics, including aging profile and the existence
of previous financial difficulties. Trade and other receivables relate
mainly to the Group’s wholesale customers. Customers that are
graded as “high risk” are placed on credit hold and monitored by
the Group and future sales are made on an approval basis. Further
information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk as of December
31, 2023, is set out in note 21(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Financial Guarantees
The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only on behalf of
subsidiaries. No other guarantees have been made to third parties.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in
meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities.

The Group’s primary sources of liquidity are its cash flows from
operating activities, invested cash, available lines of credit and,
subject to shareholder approval, the Company’s ability to issue
additional shares. The Company believes that its existing cash
and estimated cash flows, along with current working capital, will
be adequate to meet the foreseeable future operating and capital
requirements of the Group at least through March 31, 2025. See note
21(c) to the consolidated financial statements for the maturity profile
of outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2023.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts a portion of its business in currencies other
than the US Dollar, the functional currency of the Company and the
currency in which the consolidated financial statements are reported.
Accordingly, the Group’s operating results could be adversely affected
by foreign currency exchange rate volatility relative to the US Dollar.
The Group’s foreign subsidiaries generally use the local currency
as their functional currency. The Group periodically uses forward
exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to currency risk on product
purchases denominated in a currency other than the respective
functional currency of its subsidiaries. The forward exchange
contracts typically have maturities of less than one year. Although the
Group continues to evaluate strategies to mitigate risks related to the
fluctuations in currency exchange rates, the Group will likely recognize
gains or losses from international transactions. Changes in foreign
currency exchange rates could adversely affect the Group’s operating
results.
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The Group is exposed to currency risk on purchases and, from time
to time, borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than
the respective functional currencies of its subsidiaries. Interest on
borrowings is generally denominated in the local currency of the
borrowing entity. Borrowings are generally denominated in currencies
that match the cash flows generated by the underlying operations of

the borrowing entity.

The Group is exposed to currency risk upon maturity of its cross-
currency swaps that have been designated as net investment hedges.

A sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to currency risk is set
out in note 21(d)(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group monitors its exposure to changes in interest rates on
borrowings on variable-rate debt instruments. The Group has entered
into interest rate swap agreements as hedges to manage a portion
of its interest rate risk. See note 21(d)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as of
December 31, 2023.

Tax Rates and Liabilities

The Group is subject to income taxes in many jurisdictions. The
Company records tax expense based on its estimates of taxable
income and required reserves for uncertain tax treatments in multiple
tax jurisdictions. At any one time, multiple tax years are subject to
audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these audits and
negotiations with taxing authorities may result in a settlement which
differs from the Company’s original estimate. As a result, the Company
expects that throughout the year there could be ongoing variability
in its quarterly effective tax rates as events occur and exposures are
evaluated. In addition, the Company’s effective tax rate in a given
financial statement period may be materially impacted by changes in
the mix and level of earnings. Further, proposed tax changes that may
be enacted in the future could impact the Company’s current or future
tax structure and effective tax rates.
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International proposals to reform tax laws could significantly impact
how the Group is taxed on its earnings in many of the countries in
which it operates. Although the Company cannot predict whether,
or in what form, these proposals may become law, if enacted into
law, they could have an adverse impact on the Company’s effective
tax rate, income tax expense, and cash flows. The Group operates
in locations around the world that apply various tax rates. Tax law
changes in the U.S. related to the corporate alternative minimum
tax and the Pillar Two guidelines proposed by the Organization
for Economic Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”), an
international association of 38 countries, including the U.S., would
change long-standing tax principles. The OECD guidelines will likely
introduce tax uncertainty as countries amend their tax laws to adopt
certain parts of the guidelines. Recently, substantially all member
countries of the OECD/G20 Inclusive Framework agreed to certain
tax principles, including a global minimum tax of 15%. The European
Union unanimously approved a Directive in December 2022 that
requires Member States to transpose the Pillar Two guidelines into
domestic law by the end of 2023, with an effective date of 2024 for
the income inclusion rule (“lIR”) and 2025 for the under-taxed payment
rule (“UTPR”). The Company continues to monitor these changes
and evaluate the potential impact they may have on the Company’s
effective tax rate, income tax expense, and cash flows.

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes
(“IAS 127), International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules. The
Company has applied the exception to the requirements of IAS 12,
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules, for an entity to
recognize and disclose information about the deferred tax assets
and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. See note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Other Market Price Risks
See note 21(d) to the consolidated financial statements for the
Group’s exposure to market risks as of December 31, 2023.

Risks Associated with the Company’s Loans and Borrowings

The New Credit Agreement and the Indenture require the Company
and its subsidiaries to comply with certain restrictive covenants,
including certain Financial Covenants under the New Credit
Agreement.

Under the Financial Covenants, the Company’s total net leverage ratio
as of the last day of each test period must not exceed 4.50:1.00 and
the Company’s consolidated cash interest coverage ratio must not be
less than 3.00:1.00.

144

Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023

HMEBENERRERAT U RN EREEME
BERARNBABBRATIRAEESTATLE - HA
AAREEBNZEREST I ARNBRE AL
RERE  BUORBIFTAERE  JREEHARR
WEEMRE  FEHHAIRREREEETH
FE o REFNEAZIMERASERXNLR
Ko IOEAFEEREMAM ([OECD)) (B
ZEAENKSSEBRRABIR HE) 17 H A HEE
EERUESERES - ENERBOEEN
EEE S RBFENFURER - OECDA
BEFTHAEGTERTBBOTHEEN  BAS
BIERBEANRMEERTHOETHS - &
i OECD,/ Z+HSEEB A HIERMN LT
BEXREBHREETHKERER - BE15%0%2
RERHEE - BUBER2022%12 A — 8t —
BHES B BEHRR2023FFRATHE X
AR B AR - WABARA(TIR]) A
£ B EIAR2024F - RSB AI(TUTPRY)
R4 A BB B2025F « AR REEE AIZEE
bt WHHEEHARREEMRE IEHAX
RE&REMBELE -

202345 F ' IASBEHIASE 125 AHE ] AT 75
B (NASE1258)) REIBRF N E — SH T
EHAY o RN A)E BB IASEA 257 BIRR B UK
B — SR ZREARAEROFIIMER - %A
ERERBERRBEE AT S RAIRT
FISHEERBENER - E—PilRE2H
REMBHRRMTT18 -

HihmiZEER R
BREAEER2023F12 A31 B H AR -
E2ERA NSRRI E21(d)

BEAQTERREREAER
MEEHHERROREARAREMEARA
BTETRAUERE  BEAEEBENET

BIT5EGE -
REBEPHRE - ARBREERHRE &R

—BW@FERLXT15HE184.560:1.00
BARRAINGEEREF ERELEAFERN
3.00:1.00 ©



A prolonged downturn in the Company’s business could result in
a breach of the total net leverage ratio and/or minimum interest
coverage ratio covenants, which, if not cured or waived, could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations. The principal risks associated with the
Company’s leverage include the following:

e the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing in the future
for acquisitions, total capital expenditures, general corporate
purposes or other purposes could be limited;

e the Company’s borrowings under the New Credit Agreement
accrue interest at variable rates, and increases in certain
benchmark interest rates would increase the Company’s cost of
borrowing (note, however, that the Group maintained interest rate
swaps with respect to approximately 40% of the principal amount
of the borrowings under the New Credit Agreement at December
31, 2023, which reduces a portion of the Company’s exposure to
interest rate increases);

e the Company’s leverage could increase its vulnerability to declining
economic conditions;

e failure to comply with any of the covenants under the New Credit
Agreement or the Indenture could result in an event of default
which, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations
and may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern;

e financial and restrictive covenants under the New Credit
Agreement, and restrictive covenants under the Indenture, could
adversely affect or limit the Company’s ability to, among other
things, implement business plans, react to changes in economic
conditions, or return capital to the Company’s shareholders
(whether through cash distributions, share repurchases, or
otherwise); and

e a substantial portion of the Company’s cash and cash flow from
operations must be used to pay principal and interest on the
New Senior Credit Facilities and interest on the Senior Notes
until maturity, therefore reducing the cash flow available to fund
the Company’s operations, total capital expenditures and other
business opportunities.

In addition, as a result of the risks described above, the Company
may be required to raise additional capital, and access to and the
cost of financing will depend on, among other things, global economic
conditions, conditions in the global financing markets, the availability
of sufficient amounts of financing, the Company’s future prospects, its
credit ratings, and the outlook for the travel industry as a whole. If the
Company’s credit ratings were to be downgraded, or general market
conditions were to ascribe higher risk to the Company’s credit rating
levels, the travel industry, or the Company, the Company’s access to
capital and the cost of debt financing could be negatively impacted.
The interest rate the Company pays on its New Senior Credit Facilities
is affected by the Company’s credit ratings. Accordingly, a downgrade
may cause the Company’s cost of borrowing to increase.
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Working Capital Ratios EEESHR
Inventory Analysis BEESW

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s average & &(7|&E2023F12 931 H k2022412 5
inventories, cost of sales and average inventory turnover days for the 31 HIFFEAREEFHEFE - HEK AN FH
years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022: GFEREHSNBME -

Year ended December 31,
BE12A31HLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETZ2)

Average inventories( FigFEO 691.8 518.0

Cost of sales SHERA 1,499.6 1,274.2

Average inventory turnover days® FHEFEREEAH 168 148
Notes st

(1) Average inventories equal the average of net inventory at the beginning and end of a given period.
FEFERSNE TR RARNFEFENTIHE -

(2) Average inventory turnover days for a given period equals average inventory for that period divided by cost of sales for that period and
multiplied by the number of days in the period.

FEHRRNFEERES A BASRZBHNTFOFERAZPENEERAS  BRAZBHENAR -

The Group’s average inventories increased in 2023 (US$695.9 A&KER2023F/MFFE (1A2023F12 8

million as of December 31, 2023, compared to US$687.6 million as 31 H A695.9B & XL + MAM20224F12 A31

of December 31, 2022) compared to 2022 (US$687.6 milion as of HAI&687.6 8 &%k ) 820224 (20224

December 31, 2022, compared to US$348.4 million as of December 12831 H A687.6 H&%E L + MMN20214F12

31, 2021) to meet increased customer demand. A31HRIA348.4B &%) EELBEM L -
LU B IR HR -

American Tourister Find Fun Everywhere Brand Campaign
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Trade and Other Receivables

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s average trade
and other receivables, net sales and turnover days of trade and other
receivables for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December
31, 2022:

P Uk BR R % EL {th FE U SR TE
TREHNEZE2023512 A31 H }2022F 12 A
31 B 1L E 7R & B T 9 e W AR R R L B R
B - SHEFRE LA R R MOAR B K M FE W kB A
EHHHENME -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (UXBEEZETZ5)

Average trade and other receivables!” S 35 W B R R Lt FE R TE ) 305.3 248.6
Net sales SHEFRE 3,682.4 2.879.6
Turnover days of trade and other receivables® FEUBR IR & E A FE U R IE S B & @ 30 32

Notes 5%

(1) Average trade and other receivables equal the average of net trade and other receivables at the beginning and end of a given period.
S35 LT R R T At R MK R T A S A T R P A ) e B R R MR BR R L At R R TR R R T B o

(2) Turnover days of trade and other receivables for a given period equals average trade and other receivables for that period divided by net

sales for that period and multiplied by the number of days in the period.

R T HA 0 Y B LA B R e LA R MR R 8 BRS04 B R 0 T 45 R BR R e LA FE MR R A 2 R O B 5 R R - BARCARZ IR A B o

The Group’s average trade and other receivables increased in 2023
(US$319.6 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to US$290.9
million as of December 31, 2022) compared to 2022 (US$290.9
million as of December 31, 2022, compared to US$206.2 million as of
December 31, 2021) due to increased net sales and timing of receipts
compared to the previous year. The turnover days of trade and other
receivables for the year ended December 31, 2023, has improved
slightly compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, due to
improved timing of collections.

Trade receivables as of December 31, 2023, are on average due
within 60 days from the date of billing.

Trade and Other Payables

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s average trade
and other payables, cost of sales and turnover days of trade and other
payables for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022:

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETLE2)

NS B 2023 G #) T ¥ E KRR K % L A P IR
18 (7202312 A31HA319.6 E&EZETT © MK
202212 A31HAIA290.9H BT ) #2022
& (HA2022F 12 A31HA290.9HEX7T '
72021412 431 HAA206.2 5 E3E7T) B ATl
M TYERRHE R R WGRE R A
B BGREFE A AT - 8122023412831 H
LEF ) R U BR S0 I E A B U R IE A A 88 B 21
BEZE20224012 A31 B ILFEERE -

R2023F12 A31 HWMEKRBERFH ERIEKSE
A EfE 60 H A EIHE -

FEASBRFR R L fth FE A FRIE
TREFEZE2023F12 A31 HKX2022912 A
31 B I FE ARG B 15 e AR 3R K2 Ho At JE A< 3K
I8~ $H B BN DA R JE AT BR BRI EL i JE < RRIB R
HEHENOME -

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALFE

Average trade and other payables!” 34 £ BR 3R R E At E A BRI 751.8 653.7
Cost of sales SHERAR 1,499.6 1,274.2
Turnover days of trade and other payables® FEAST AR 3R M FE AN BTE A 8 H 2@ 183 187

Notes 7+

(1) Average trade and other payables equal the average of trade and other payables at the beginning and end of a given period.
S AT BR R N EL b A< SR IR AR S5 505 TE A EA ) % HA SR P AT BR AR S L At AN SR IE ) 19 4 o

(2) Turnover days of trade and other payables for a given period equals average trade and other payables for that period divided by cost of

sales for that period and multiplied by the number of days in the period.

R T HA 8 R FE A BR R T B FE N FORIE 8 B SRS N Z MR TR R R BN SRR AZ SR E KA - BRAZSBOAL -
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The Group’s average trade and other payables increased in 2023
(US$725.1 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to US$778.5
million as of December 31, 2022) compared to 2022 (US$778.5
million as of December 31, 2022, compared to US$529.0 million as of
December 31, 2021) due to inventory purchases to support the sales
growth and the timing of payments related to such purchases.

Trade payables as of December 31, 2023, are on average due within
105 days from the invoice date.

Gearing Ratio

The following table sets forth the Group’s loans and borrowings
(excluding deferred financing costs), total equity and gearing ratio as
of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022:

(UBEEZETZS))

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

AN E R 2023 F #) I 19 FE A BR 5Kk I H b FE A
I8 (7A2028F 12 A31 B A725.1 BB =T
Mm2022F12 A31BAIR778.56AEET) K
20224 (FR2022%4 12 A81 B A778.56 &%
7T v MMR2021F12 A31BAIA529.08 8%
TL)BREM - THRASFEENIER KE
ZEREEENNREEMETESRE -

M2023F12 A31 HMER RN FH AN EE
HEEEH105 B EIE] -

L
TREIAREBR2023F12 A31 B K 2022
F12A31 ANERRER (MBIEZEFRE K
K) -~ SR NERLE

December 31,

2023
2023%12H31H

December 31,
2022
2022412 A31H

Loans and borrowings (excluding deferred financing B RER \

costs) (H B I ST B B AR AR ) 1,824.0 2,019.6
Total equity AT 1,517.7 1,079.6
Gearing ratio” BRLLEO 120.2% 187.1%

Note #H#E

(1) Calculated as total loans and borrowings (excluding deferred financing costs) divided by total equity.

BERRAERER (MR EERERA) FRAESERE -

The gearing ratio decreased primarily due to the decrease in loans
and borrowings and increase in total equity.

Subsequent Events
Details of the events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2023,
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributions to Shareholders

The Company will evaluate its distribution policy (the “Dividend and
Distribution Policy”) and distributions made (by way of the Company’s
ad hoc distributable reserve, dividends or otherwise) in any particular
year in light of its financial position, the prevailing economic climate
and expectations about the future macro-economic environment and
business performance. The determination to make distributions will
be made upon the recommendation of the Board and the approval
of the Company’s shareholders and will be based upon the Group’s
earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital and other reserve
requirements and any other conditions which the Board deems
relevant. The payment of distributions may also be limited by legal
restrictions and by the Credit Agreement, the Indenture or other
financing agreements that the Group may enter into in the future.
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The Board recommends that a cash distribution in the amount of
US$150.0 million, or approximately US$0.1034 per share, based
upon the number of shares outstanding as of the date hereof (the
“Distribution”) be made to the Company’s shareholders from its ad
hoc distributable reserve. The Distribution will be paid net of applicable
Luxembourg withholding tax. The current rate of Luxembourg
withholding tax to be applied to the recommended cash distribution
to shareholders is 15%. While previous cash distributions made to the
Company’s shareholders were not subject to withholding tax, there
has been a change in the applicability of Luxembourg tax law since
the Company last made a distribution to shareholders in 2019.

Shareholders should seek independent professional advice in relation
to the procedures and timing for obtaining a refund of, or tax credit
with respect to, Luxembourg withholding tax, if applicable.

The per share amount of the Distribution is subject to change in
the event that any new shares are issued pursuant to the exercise
of outstanding share options and vesting of restricted share units
and conversion before the record date for the Distribution. A further
announcement will be made on the record date of the Distribution in
the event that the final amount per share changes. The payment shall
be made in US Dollars, except that payment to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members in Hong Kong shall be paid
in Hong Kong Dollars. The relevant exchange rate shall be the opening
buying rate of Hong Kong Dollars to US Dollars as announced by the
Hong Kong Association of Banks (www.hkab.org.hk) on the day of the
approval of the Distribution.

The Distribution will be subject to approval by the shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company. For determining the entitlement to
attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of Members of the Company
will be closed from May 31, 2024, to June 6, 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
The record date to determine which shareholders will be eligible to
attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM will be June 6, 2024. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on May 30, 2024.

EE2EZARFAATHIRFHEHRAQ KRR
EH150.0 BB XL ERLI0.1034E 7T (1R
BRARHEBRNBTEINRDEEFE) W
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Subject to the shareholders approving the recommended Distribution
at the forthcoming AGM, such Distribution will be payable on or
about July 16, 2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members on June 17, 2024. To determine eligibility for
the Distribution, the register of members will be closed from June 13,
2024 to June 17, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to receive
the Distribution, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch Share
Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on June 12, 2024,

Segment Information

An analysis of the Company’s performance by operating segment
for the year ended December 31, 2023, is set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the Group’s and the Company’s reserves during
the year ended December 31, 2023, are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 170 to 171 of this Annual
Report and in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

As of December 31, 2023, reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to approximately US$1.7 billion as shown in
the statutory financial statements of Samsonite International S.A. and
calculated in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

Charitable Donations

Donations made for charitable and other purposes by the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2023, amounted to US$0.8
million.

Bank Loans
As of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the Group had
bank loans that were repayable over the following period of time:

FREREERRAFTKg LIERZZE SR
% ZOIRER2024F 7 A16 AR T
720246 417 BATIRR LMK - HEE
EREWIDIREER » ARFIHHE202456
HA13BE202446 A17H (BEEEMB)E
EREROBPERTFE  ZHARBE TR
ERRGHBEER - REEEBKMDIE - A7
RGBS EREEREVAR202456
R12B T TR =19 ZAXEARATNE
BROBEERIRBEBPRBELFELBRA
B MIA AT AEFERRNBER183KATH
DA7HE1712-1716 F - UHIBERLFE -

o EBE
NAEHE2023F12 A1 HILFEHREED
F8| DM EES ARG M IEHREM T4 -

okt

fit 8

AEENRARRREZ2023F12A31 I

AW A REEER NG M MAME23 -

A it 2 Ik &

M2023F12A318 » BUFEFERBERA
ALATE BB R K AT R RARBE AR Al (G Az
ERMADESL  IHEIIRTRENFEE
HBITEET »

ZEBX
AREBREE2023F12 A31HIEFEELHD
HELEMBRA0SHEET °

WITER
KEBERH2023F12 531 H %2022 12 A31
BHRITERAE L T EREE

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETZ5) 2023%12A31H 2022412 A31H
On demand or within one year BERKR—FR 76.7 118.6
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 36.0 66.6
After two years but within five years MEERERFR 1,144.3 1,834.4
More than five years AFE 567.0 -

1,824.0 2,019.6
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Five Year Financial Information

A summary of the consolidated results and assets, liabilities, equity
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years is as follows:

hFBEER
AEBEBERAEFRFENGAEENREE -
BfE  WENIEERERBENT -

December 31,
12A31H

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETTZE2)
Net sales IHEFRE 3,682.4
Gross profit EF 2,182.8
Gross profit margin EHE 59.3%
Operating profit (loss) mEER (E8R) 743.7
Profit (loss) attributable to: LATR AL FE(S
sm ) (E518) -

Equity holders AR HERE A A 417.0

Non-controlling interests FEPE IR 33.3
Total assets BEHRE 5,111.8
Total liabilities BfEEEE 3,594.1
Equity attributable to equity holders MRS B ARG A 1,451.0
Non-controlling interests JEIERRRE RS 66.7

2,879.6 2,020.8 1,536.7 3,638.8
1,605.4 1,101.5 706.3 2,016.8
55.8% 54.5% 46.0% 55.4%
4921 132.7 (1,266.2) 283.0
312.7 14.3 (1,277.7) 132.5
25.6 9.2 (10.3) 20.9
4,721.1 4,854.3 5,162.2 5,541.3
3,641.5 4,127.7 4,493.2 3,539.8
1,031.8 689.7 634.1 1,951.0
47.8 36.9 34.9 50.5

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Incorporation or the laws of the Grand-Duchy of
Luxembourg.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide that the Company
shall keep indemnified to the extent permitted by law, among others,
its directors and any attorney in fact it may appoint against any
reasonable costs and expenses incurred by them by virtue of their
involvement in legal proceedings or suits initiated against them by
reason of their current or former holding of office as a director or
attorney in fact or at the request of the Company or of any other
company of which the Company is a shareholder or creditor, except
where they are found to be grossly negligent or to have breached their
duties to the Company. In the event of any extra-judicial compromise
settlement, the Articles of Incorporation provide that a director or
attorney in fact is only to be indemnified if the Company is informed
by its legal counsel that the director or attorney in fact has not failed
in his or her duties to the Company. The Company has arranged for
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against its directors and senior management. Save as disclosed
above, the Company is not a party to any permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company.

Management Contract

The Company is not a party to any management contract under which
any person undertakes the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company where
such contract is not a contract of services with any director of the
Company or its subsidiaries or any person engaged in the full-time
employment of the Company or its subsidiaries.

BrRiEER
ARTGEMA T ERMA) AEFREA QS
AL 4 B S AR »

BEFFR BRI
ARRCGEMARZBRARN)RE - EEEFA
MEE T - ARRIAR (AR EE) R E B Al
SOBEETEF LRI AR MR LA
REFAFABEREELNEFNEEERAL
fisx @ REARBRARAR/EP —BBERK
BRANEMEMARNEREFEBFIRLT @
WEFEHBERE  ERFLAEBRERZNE
RBEHARRBNE TS ERR - ERDENR
SN AERIE R T - CGEMAZERR AR IRE
AAREGEBREZRBEREMNZESTINIE
AT EEZEREHFRRBNEENERT T ER
HBERE ARFACHEEEREREEE
EHNBELARFRRBAENRR © R
BREIN  ARRAIFARRUEMN —BEFH
8 B I T RO TR (B RSO RT #0T ©

BEEEHN
ARBAIEMEREAR R BENT(IEKRE
DEBNEERITBOALRENERNEE
B (MZEFANLIEARRHENE R RIE
MEBRARBRARBLEMBLR 2B I(E
ZEAIALHIRFBE ) METHITT -
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Issue, Purchase, Sale, or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued
10,791,778 ordinary shares at a weighted-average exercise price of
HK$19.47 per share, or HK$210.1 million in aggregate, in connection
with the exercise of vested share options that were granted under the
Company’s 2012 Share Award Scheme. There were no purchases,
sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed securities by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December
31, 2028.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than awards under the 2012 and 2022 Share Award Schemes,
no equity-linked agreements subsisted during or at the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Share Capital
Details of any movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Directors
As of December 31, 2023, the composition of the Board was as
follows:

Executive Director (“ED”)
Kyle Francis Gendreau
Chief Executive Officer

Non-Executive Director (“NED”)
Timothy Charles Parker
Chairman

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED”)
Claire Marie Bennett

Angela Iris Brav

Paul Kenneth Etchells

Jerome Squire Griffith

Tom Korbas

Ying Yeh

Biographical details of the directors of the Company as of the date of
this report are set out on pages 106 to 112 of this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the 2024
AGM has or is proposed to have a service contract that is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts

None of the directors or an entity connected with a director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance that subsisted during or at the
end of the year to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses
From January 2023 until June 20283, Jerome Squire Griffith, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company, served as
Executive Vice Chairman of Lands’ End, Inc. (“Lands’ End”). Mr.
Griffith served as Chief Executive Officer of Lands’ End from March
2017 until January 2023 and as a director of Lands’ End from January
2017 until June 2023. Lands’ End is a company listed on NASDAQ,
and is a leading multi-channel retailer of clothing, accessories,
footwear and home products. The products of Lands’ End include
bags. Lands’ End’s bag business is incidental to its core business
and the Company does not consider Lands’ End to be a significant
competitor.

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors has interests in any
business (apart from the Group’s businesses) which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2023, or as of
December 31, 20283.

EERBEY
BR2024FRRIBEFAGERBENES -
BRI BER] LA A AR R AR — F R LT
BAELEEE OEERERIN) HRBEL -
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Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and
Underlying Shares

As of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive officer of the Company in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

EERMTBAENKRG K EE
R KRR AR

202312 A31H - RARIEE RITHAE
AR B R EHAREEE (RCGEHF REEBRO)
([KEFRBEGRDI]) EXVIBOES) HIRH
EEEROFPEARBE(ESFRBAEGO)E
XVEET7 k85 2B/ E AR~ 7] [2 Bt &2 P E)
mhkokR (BEBE(ESFRBAERN)OE
BXEEREEXEIEREOERIOXE) -
HEARRRARE(ESRBAE KD EXV
HEIS2EEFENECLMAERS AR - iR

BAEMRRDMERCIMENC EMETAES
ETRFRHORESTAD ([GRESTRD]) A
SITAGRRB R RIS AR T

352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

1.  Long Position in the Shares of the Company 1. RELTRGHOEFRE

Number of
ordinary
shares/
underlying
shares held at

December 31,

2023@

A2023F12831H Approximate
Name of Director Nature of Interest BENGER shareholding %
EEpnE ERME HERGEE® (HRENSAEILL
Timothy Charles Parker Beneficial owner Bz A A 58,824,029 (L)®© 4.05
Kyle Francis Gendreau Beneficial owner and founder of a discretionary trust 30,681,166 (L)© 2.1

BEwA AR—EZRETHEIHA

Tom Korbas Beneficial owner B A A 1,410,353 (L)@ 0.09
Paul Kenneth Etchells Beneficial owner E#m#H A 99,900 (L)®@ 0.00
Ying Yeh & Beneficial owner Bz5 A A 3,000 (L) 0.00

Notes 5%

(a) (L) represents long position. (L)X&XFE °

(b) Comprised of 29,412,015 shares held by Mr. Parker and 29,412,014 shares held by his spouse, Ms. Therese Charlotte Christiaan Marie
Parker, each as beneficial and registered owner. Mr. Parker is deemed by virtue of the SFO to be interested in the shares held by Ms.
Parker. £$529,412,015 % Fi Parker Jt £33 A M B (7 12.29,412,014J8 F L A B Therese Charlotte Christiaan Marie ParkerZz L35 B M%) @ K5
FERERREBTHEAA - REBECGEFRAEE) - Parker e £ 1R A B Parker X T AT A KR B2 o

(c) Comprised of 1,893,141 shares held by a discretionary trust of which Mr. Gendreau is the founder, share options exercisable for 26,275,819
shares once vested, TRSUs in respect of 1,256,103 shares once vested and PRSUs in respect of an initial or target number of 1,256,103
shares (with the final number of shares being subject to the level of achievement of performance conditions applicable to the grant of such
PRSUs). £1%1,893,141 & Gendreauft £1E BRI AN — (A2 REEMFENRG - —BERBAITTHELARE26,275,819R KM M ERE - —
BBBATTE AR 1,256,103 AR A% 1) ) F5 ) 5 68 52 BR Il AR 1) B8 iz Je #04R 3k B 1R 8B 51,256,103 IR 1) (HALR M BB B TREABEIHNT
PR b1l A% () B8 52 P38 P 0 A8 AU IR RS AR FEE T U ) B 48 B A 2 PR I AR BE G o

(d) Comprised of 696,171 shares held by Mr. Korbas as beneficial owner and share options exercisable for 714,182 shares. £35696,17 1% i
Korbas e £ 1E A B # A AFTFEE BIRG R AT/ T{E AR 714,182 IR AR (5 () BE AR 4 -

(e) Comprised of 99,900 shares held jointly by Mr. Etchells and his spouse, Ms. Fanny Fan Miu Tsang, as beneficial owners. £1599,900 %/
Etchellsfo 4 & E At fEFanny Fan Miu TsangZ = H£RAHEHKD - FEHABZHEEA ©
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2. Interests in the Shares of Associated Corporations

As of December 31, 2023, none of the directors or chief executive
officer of the Company have or are deemed to have interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of any of
the associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) of the Company which were notifiable to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or recorded in the
register required to be maintained by the Company under Section 352
of Part XV of the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short

Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares
1.  Long and Short Position in the Shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

2. REBSZERGEERS

2023612 A31 A » BIEA AT EFHITH
BER R RAER AR BRI FEEE A B (1R (G
HF RS EGI ) EXVEBREE) MG - 18R
D REEFFEARIB(ESRBAEED)E
XVEBEE7 2 85> BF 78 A& AR A 7] K Bk 22 Fr 9 4
@mIAE (BRERB(ES KB HER
BXEEREEXRIERENERRAE) -
R ARRRERE(ESRBE KD FEXV
B EI52EE B LRI AR  FIE
BORESFRI D B SBIT MG AR B B3 8

3L IMA
MEORR ©

F R RN R AR B AR 47 1
BRRAR
. REDARBUFARKA

Number of

ordinary shares held
at December 31,
2023@
7A2023F12H831H

Approximate
shareholding %

RERE® ERtE BRENEEREER HRENBIEIL
Schroders Plc Investment manager 86,068,400 (L) 5.93
REEEA
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Custodian corporation/Approved lending agent 69,408,812 (P) 4.78
REEE AR EREA
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Interest in a controlled corporation 9,869,133 (L) 0.68
REEGDEE S
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Investment manager 3,146,030 (L) 0.21
BREEBA
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Person having a security interest in shares 1,706,924 (L) 0.11
BEERMHERERZ AT
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Interest in a controlled corporation 7,279,146 (S) 0.50
REEGDEE R =
The Bank of New York Mellon Interest in a controlled corporation 77,209,444 (L) 5.32
Corporation REZEHEENER
The Bank of New York Mellon Custodian corporation/Approved lending agent 77,007,894 (P) 5.31
Corporation EAE EBEREA
Janus Henderson Group PLC Investment manager 75,607,200 (L) 5.21
REEERA
Notes 5t
(@) (L) represents long position, (S) represents short position, (P) represents lending pool.
LWRERHFE : ORFARE : PREATEELHRG -
Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, so far as the [t EXIETEESIN - R2023F12A31 8 © &

directors are aware, no other persons (except the directors or chief
executive officer of the Company) or corporations had 5.00% or
more interests or short positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO.

ERHM G EEMA LT (RARESHITHE
HERHN) SlOEER AR B K& AR B IR
BRARDRERE(ESFREAE KD FEXV
BB 336 BT M Z AL M A95.00% 3k A A4

LK AN
MEORR °
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Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions

Set out below is information in relation to the continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Company. The Company has
complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Samsonite South Asia Private Limited (“Samsonite India”) and
Samsonite Middle East FZCO (“Samsonite Middle East”) are non-
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company and are each held as to
40.0% by certain associates of Mr. Ramesh Tainwala and certain
members of his family (collectively, the “Tainwala Group”). As Mr.
Ramesh Tainwala is a director of each of Samsonite India and
Samsonite Middle East (in each case as nominee of the Tainwala
Group), he is therefore a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level. Accordingly, the transactions described below
between the Group and the Tainwala Group constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Transactions between the Group and the Tainwala Group
Manufacturing Agreement with Abhishri

On January 3, 2009, Samsonite India entered into a memorandum
of understanding (the “Abhishri Memorandum of Understanding”)
with Abhishri Packaging Private Limited (“Abhishri”), a company
controlled by certain members of the Tainwala Group. The Abhishri
Memorandum of Understanding, which had previously been renewed
for a one-year term that ended on December 31, 2023, was further
renewed with effect from January 1, 2024, for a term of one year that
will end on December 31, 2024.

Under the Abhishri Memorandum of Understanding, Abhishri
purchases certain raw materials and components from Samsonite
India and manufactures hard-side luggage products on behalf of
Samsonite India. The price paid by Abhishri to Samsonite India for
raw materials and components is based on the current market price
paid by Samsonite India, and the prices paid by Samsonite India
for products manufactured and manufacturing services provided
by Abhishri are determined based on Samsonite India’s current
procurement policies, and are monitored against relevant factors
including the cost of raw materials, the range of commercially
appropriate margins that Samsonite India is able to make on
comparable products and, where available, quotations and market
prices for comparable third-party products and services. Samsonite
India followed its procurement policies when determining the pricing
and terms of all transactions under the Abhishri Memorandum of
Understanding during the year ended December 31, 2023. The pricing
under the Abhishri Memorandum of Understanding is on normal
commercial terms as the margins available to Samsonite India from
the prices charged by Abhishri are comparable to (or more favorable
to the Group than) the margins available from the prices charged
by certain other third-party manufacturers who are not connected
persons under agreements with Samsonite India.

156

Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023

BERXS

KEREXS
TXEHNBEEARRFIUNFHERERZNE
B o RELZE2023F12A31HIEFE - AR A
EREC LA FE14AT BT A EEIE
X o

KNAFEIEEENE R F Samsonite South
Asia Private Limited ([ Samsonite Indial) &
Samsonite Middle East FZCO ([ Samsonite
Middle Eastl)#JHRamesh Tainwala’tE
METHEATEREZETREKRKE (&
M [Tainwalaf®e® ) £540.0%#zm - AR
Ramesh Tainwala’t 4 &Samsonite IndiaX
Samsonite Middle EastZ E % (#JfTainwala
SEER)  ABEARARTRWBARE®E
RBEAT - BURBC EMARDF14AE - T
AR EEEATainwalaE B FT#ETRIR SR
NAEFEBERS -

AEBHETainwalc EBZEHRSZ

B2 Abhishriz B R E =

200941 A3H * Samsonite India&2Abhishri
Packaging Private Limited ([Abhishril| = —
KM Tainwala® @A TR E R BZEHINAE])
R R R E R ([AbhishrifR SR B =8k ) ©
Abhishriz? B # =8 e R BB —F - 72023
F12A31HER: YE—FEH—F - 8
2024F1 A1 BRAR - #§722024F12 431 H
[

BIEAbhishrigR i # =8 - AbhishriB
Samsonite IndiafBEA T RM A RZHITR
#Samsonite India®EBETEMEM °
Abhishrift B £ K& Z 4 M Samsonite Indiasz
FEEE JHAR ¥ Samsonite IndialB B2 MRy
{EM&E * iMMASamsonite IndiaftAbhishri&
EEE MR TR HAEERB AR ER IR
#&Samsonite Indiaf) R EREBBERMEE © W
RIEMABEZEN R LA « Samsonite India
EAEEBREMEEMEERENBX&E
AR (E) A B RE=ZFERMRBEHRE
N HBEHEITES - Samsonite IndiaEER
B ZE 2023412 A31 B IEFZ Abhishrizr =
BIBT 2RI HREERIERE - HBREHEK
BEIER - A Samsonite India B AbhishrifTik
BB F FT= B 8 FEESamsonite Indiati
BEHEaWEEATHNE TEME=TRIE
T R B R AT E A A EAE (AR
EEEAF) - HAbhishrizf BB =8 E T E
BIR—REEGRETE -



Framework Agreement with Abhishri

On October 9, 2015, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Abhishri (the “Abhishri Framework Agreement”) with
effect from April 6, 2015. The Abhishri Framework Agreement, which
had previously been renewed for a one-year term that ended on
December 31, 2023, was further renewed with effect from January 1,
2024, for a term of one year that will end on December 31, 2024.

The Company entered into the Abhishri Framework Agreement to
govern the terms of sales of components and finished products and
the provision of manufacturing services by Abhishri to members of
the Group, in addition to sales of components and finished products
and the provision of manufacturing services by Abhishri to Samsonite
India under the Abhishri Memorandum of Understanding. The Abhishri
Framework Agreement provides that all transactions between Abhishri
and the members of the Group thereunder (i) shall be in writing
and shall incorporate the Group’s general purchase conditions
and standard supplier agreement terms, (i) shall be on normal
commercial terms, which shall mean pricing and payment terms no
less favorable to the Group than those available from independent
third-party suppliers for comparable components, finished products
or manufacturing services, and (iii) shall be in compliance with all
applicable provisions of the Listing Rules. The prices paid by the
Group for products manufactured and manufacturing services
provided by Abhishri are determined based on the Group’s current
procurement policies, and are monitored against relevant factors
including the cost of raw materials, the range of commercially
appropriate margins that members of the Group are able to make on
comparable products and, where available, quotations and market
prices for comparable third-party products and services. The Group
followed its procurement policies when determining the pricing and
terms of all transactions under the Abhishri Framework Agreement
during the year ended December 31, 2023. The pricing under the
Abhishri Framework Agreement is on normal commercial terms as
the margins available to the members of the Group from the prices
charged by Abhishri are comparable to (or more favorable to the
Group than) margins available from the prices charged by certain
other third-party manufacturers and/or service providers who are not
connected persons under agreements with the Group.

Memoranda of Understanding with Bagzone

On December 18, 2020, Samsonite India and Bagzone Lifestyles
Private Limited (“Bagzone”), a company controlled by certain members
of the Tainwala Group, entered into two memoranda of understanding
(the “Memoranda of Understanding”), pursuant to which Bagzone was
appointed as a preferred dealer of certain products in India which are
sold in two retail stores operated by Bagzone. Under the Memoranda
of Understanding, the pricing and other terms under which Samsonite
India sells products to Bagzone are consistent with the pricing and
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other terms under which Samsonite India sells products to other third-
party preferred dealers in India who are not connected persons. These
transactions are on normal commercial terms as the profit margin
available to Bagzone is within a range that is reasonably consistent
with that made by other third-party dealers in India to whom
Samsonite India sells products. The Memoranda of Understanding,
which had previously been renewed for a one-year term that ended on
December 31, 2023, were further renewed with effect from January
1, 2024, for a term of one year that will end on December 31, 2024.
In connection with the renewal of the Memoranda of Understanding,
Planet Retail Holdings Private Limited (“Planet Retail”), another
company controlled by certain members of the Tainwala Group, has
replaced Bagzone as party to the Memoranda of Understanding and
as a preferred dealer of certain products in India and will operate the
two retail stores previously operated by Bagzone.

License and lease Agreements with Members of the Tainwala

HiSamsonite IndialAIEEE & BIFFEEA T
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Group
During the year ended December 31, 2023, Samsonite India was party

to four lease or license agreements for office premises with members
of the Tainwala Group (the “Tainwala Leases”). These agreements
are on normal commercial terms and the rent, license fees and
administrative charges payable thereunder are within the reasonable
range of the then prevailing market rates for similar properties in the
relevant locations at the date of execution. Samsonite India followed
its procurement policies in relation to these agreements during the
year ended December 31, 2023. The Tainwala Leases, which had
previously been renewed for a one-year term that ended on December
31, 2023, were further renewed with effect from January 1, 2024, for
a term of one year that will end on December 31, 2024.

Aggregate Value of Transactions between the Members of the
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EEBERE R T ETainwalo EBN K ZREE

Group and the Tainwala Group

The aggregate consideration payable by the members of the Group
to the Tainwala Group under all transactions described above for the
year ended December 31, 2023, was approximately US$14.81 million.
The annual caps for the maximum aggregate amount of consideration
payable by the members of the Group under transactions with the
Tainwala Group for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the
year ending December 31, 2024, have been set pursuant to the
requirement of the Listing Rules at US$33.50 million and US$16.50
million, respectively.

The aggregate consideration payable by the Tainwala Group to the
Group under all transactions described above for the year ended
December 31, 2023, was approximately US$0.49 million. The annual
caps for the maximum aggregate amount of consideration payable
by the Tainwala Group under transactions with the members of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the year ending
December 31, 2024, have been set pursuant to the requirement of the
Listing Rules at US$1.10 million and US$0.80 million, respectively.
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The annual caps in respect of transactions between the Group
and the Tainwala Group were determined primarily on the basis
of: (i) estimated purchases of raw materials and finished products
between Samsonite India and the Tainwala Group under the Abhishri
Manufacturing Agreement and the Memoranda of Understanding in
line with Samsonite India’s business plan; (ii) negotiated rental and
associated costs payable by Samsonite India under the Tainwala
Leases in line with local market rates; (iii) estimated purchases of
finished products, components and manufacturing services by the
Group from Abhishri under the Abhishri Framework Agreement in line
with the Group’s business plan; and (iv) expected market conditions
and exchange rate fluctuations.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the highest applicable
percentage ratio (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules
for the transactions between the Group and the Tainwala Group was,
on an annual basis, more than 1.0% and less than 5.0%. Accordingly,
these transactions constituted continuing connected transactions
exempt from the circular and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

For the year ending December 31, 2024, because the highest
applicable percentage ratio (other than the profits ratio) under the
Listing Rules for the transactions between the Group and the Tainwala
Group will, on an annual basis, be more than 1.0% and less than
5.0%, the transactions between the Group and the Tainwala Group
will constitute continuing connected transactions that are exempt from
the circular (including independent financial advice) and shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

Annual Review of Continuing Connected Transactions

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company, who have confirmed that these
transactions were entered into:

i. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable
than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

iii. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In conducting such review, the INEDs of the Company have (i) reviewed
with management the purpose, nature and scope of the continuing
connected transactions and the policies and system of controls used
by the Company to ensure compliance with the Company’s policies
and the Listing Rules, (i) reviewed the monitoring activities performed
by the Company’s Internal Audit department in connection with such
transactions, (iii) reviewed the procedures performed by the Company’s
external auditors in connection with the preparation of the limited
assurance report described below, and (iv) reviewed with management
the Company’s disclosure with respect to such transactions as
included in this Annual Report and in other announcements that may
be published by the Company from time to time.
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In addition, the Auditor of the Company was engaged to provide a
limited assurance report on the Company’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and attestation
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditors of the Company have advised that nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that:

(1) the continuing connected transactions had not been approved by
the Company’s Board of Directors;

(2) the continuing connected transactions were not, in all material
respects, entered into in accordance with the terms of the related
agreements governing the continuing connected transactions;

(3) the relevant annual cap amounts, where applicable, have been
exceeded during the financial year ended December 31, 2023,
with respect to the transactions between the Group and the
Tainwala Group; and

(4) in the event that there would be any transactions involving the
provision of goods and services by the Group, the transactions
were not, in any material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

The auditor has issued its unqualified Limited Assurance Report
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Company on pages 159 to
160 of this Annual Report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule
14A.56.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Company during the year in the ordinary course of business are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. Other than
those transactions disclosed in the section Continuing Connected
Transactions above, none of these transactions constitutes a
disclosable connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
more than 25% of the issued share capital required under the Listing
Rules during the year ended December 31, 2023, and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements were audited by KPMG
LLP, who shall retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment, and a resolution to this effect will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

/Kmiﬂ» o d

On behalf of the Board
Timothy Charles Parker
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 13, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B ZBENR S

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Samsonite International S.A.:

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Samsonite
International S.A. and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and
the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its financial performance and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Accounting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group and have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits, which include relevant ethical requirements in the
United States of America and the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Key Audit Matter

A key audit matter is a matter that was communicated with those
charged with governance and, in our professional judgment, was of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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Revenue Recognition (note 3(p))
The Group recognizes revenue at the point in time at which its performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of its goods to the customer.
Indicators that the Group typically considers in determining transfer of
control include legal title, physical possession and significant risks and
rewards of ownership.

Since the Group’s sales occur in various countries throughout the world,
there is a risk of inconsistent application of when the Group has transferred
control based on these indicators.

We identified wholesale revenue transactions recorded at or near year end
as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in this area included, among others:

° evaluating the design of certain internal controls within the
information technology environment in which billing of the Group’s
goods occur, including change control procedures in place around
systems that bill revenue streams;

o evaluating the design of the control over the Group’s process to
determine transfer of control;

° evaluating certain contractual arrangements such as purchase
orders, enabling us to understand key terms and conditions
negotiated with customers, including the provisions for transfer of
control; and

° examining a sample of revenue transactions occurring at or near
year end to obtain evidence of transfer of control.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the IASB, and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required
to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise significant doubt about the Group'’s ability to continue
as a going concern for one year after the date that the consolidated
financial statements are authorized for issuance; to disclose, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and to use the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable
user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and ISAs, we:

. Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit.

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

. Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of
the group audit of the Group. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit,
significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we
identified during the audit.

Other Information Included in the Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual
report. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express
an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether
a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
consolidated financial statements, or the other information otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed,
we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Andrew R. Malachowski.

KPMe LLP

Providence, Rhode Island
March 13, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

BllER

n‘/-ﬁ

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars, Note
except per share data) (U BEEZETZS - FREERIN) B 5E 2023 2022
Net sales HE TR 4 3,682.4 2.879.6
Cost of sales SHER A (1,499.6) (1,274.2)
Gross profit EF 2,182.8 1,605.4
Distribution expenses Paki: 15 (1,027.6) (807.3)
Marketing expenses B (241.5) (156.0)
General and administrative expenses —MRRITEAX (250.2) (221.9)
Impairment Reversals pEREEE{E 5,6,7,17(a) 84.0 72.2
Other expense HifAx 20 (3.8) (0.3)
Operating profit Sl 743.7 492.1
Finance income iR ON 19 14.3 8.8
Finance costs HKER 19 (173.0) (138.3)
Net finance costs HEER TR 19 (158.7) (129.5)
Profit before income tax R BT 45 55 Al & A 584.9 362.6
Income tax expense FriSFim X 18(a) (134.6) (24.9)
Profit for the year F R A 450.3 338.3
Profit attributable to the equity holders — ARHE#%5H A (52 417.0 312.7
Profit attributable to non-controlling F 1 AR B 2 P

interests 33.3 25.6
Profit for the year F R A 450.3 338.3
Earnings per share: BREF :

Basic earnings per share FREARRF 12 0.289 0.218

Diluted earnings per share BIREERT] 12 0.287 0.217

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial — BEFPHEERAAR & I TSRAM — &P ©
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEEEB@mK

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE

Note
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (XBEZETZ5) B 5E 2023 2022
Profit for the year F R A 450.3 338.3
Other comprehensive income (I0ss): HEp2mEmlzs (FE) -
Items that will never be reclassified to KT GEFHEEERZIEA -
profit or loss:
Re-measurements on defined benefit EFtE TR E (BRFE)
plans, net of tax 14(c), 18(c) (2.6) 2.7
(2.6) 2.7
Items that are or may be reclassified HigednAgsisizEias
subsequently to profit or loss: EH N
Changes in fair value of hedges, net Hihz A BEZE (BRE%)
of tax 13(a), 18(c), 19 (11.1) 23.0
Settlement of cross currency swap HEERX BB R ®E (BREE)
agreement, net of tax 18(c), 19, 21(d) - (0.1)
Foreign currency translation gains WINETGINEIE H Wz (B18)
(losses) for foreign operations 18(c), 19 (7.5) 3.8
(18.6) 26.7
Other comprehensive income (loss) Hih2EE (B1E) (21.2) 29.4
Total comprehensive income for the year 9 A2 iz 4258 429.1 367.7
Total comprehensive income attributable  f&#EH A A EE 2 IR 4A 58
to the equity holders 397.5 345.8
Total comprehensive income attributable  JFE3E S EREG 2 E RS 58
to non-controlling interests 31.6 21.9
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZ W E4EEE 429.1 367.7
The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial  BEMIFIsEERK AR A B S HRER —

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BRBMRR T

n‘/-ﬁ
Note December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (ABEZETZ22) B 5 2023%12831H 2022412 A31H
Non-current Assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - R MERE 6 222.7 161.5
Lease right-of-use assets HEFRAEEE 17(a) 435.8 314.1
Goodwill BEES 7(a) 825.9 824.2
Other intangible assets HEmpEE 7(b) 1,534.4 1,458.8
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE E 18(d) 190.8 173.6
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTA 13(a), 21(d) - 30.5
Other assets and receivables H & E R EWRIE 8(a) 66.6 63.8
Total non-current assets MBI EEREE 3,276.2 3,026.5
Current Assets ﬁiﬁﬁé
Inventories IE3SY 9 695.9 687.6
Trade and other receivables JE LT BR R % EL A P W SR TE 10 319.6 290.9
Prepaid expenses and other assets ENERARAMEE 8(b), 13(a) 103.5 80.2
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 11 716.6 635.9
Total current assets MEAELLT 1,835.6 1,694.6
Total assets BELAR 5,111.8 4,721 .1
Equity and Liabilities EEREE
Equity: T
Share capital A&7 23(b) 14.5 14.4
Reserves ] 23(b) 1,436.5 1,017.4
Total equity attributable to the equity e B A (G ES4R 5
holders 1,451.0 1,031.8
Non-controlling interests eI 23(c) 66.7 47.8
Total equity s 1,517.7 1,079.6
Non-current Liabilities 'a'Fﬁibﬁﬁ
Loans and borrowings BERRER 13(a) 1,730.3 1,893.3
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 357.8 256.7
Employee benefits EERF| 14 28.4 26.6
Non-controlling interest put options FE17 AR 21 SR H 21(g) 126.9 85.0
Deferred tax liabilities FEHRIERE 18(d) 186.5 161.7
Other liabilities HtafE 6.8 5.0
Total non-current liabilities JEmB A EREE 2,436.7 2,428.3
Current Liabilities REBEE
Loans and borrowings BERRER 13(b) 50.7 67.0
Current portion of long-term loans and REFE R RGN BN 5
borrowings 13(b) 26.0 51.6
Current portion of lease liabilities HESBEMRNEE Y 17(b) 131.2 118.9
Employee benefits B EEF| 14 135.0 120.1
Trade and other payables A BR SR e Ho At FE A 3R 15 725.1 778.5
Current tax liabilities BIEARE A E 89.4 774
Total current liabilities MEBAELTE 1,157.4 1,213.2
Total liabilities BEMEE 3,594.1 3,641.5
Total equity and liabilities m kB EERE 5,111.8 4,721.1
Net current assets RBEEFRE 678.2 481.4
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABERRSEE 3,954.4 3,507.9
The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial — BEMIMIEHERAR G B FSIREZM —5 D -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAERBBE

Number of Share
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars, Note shares capital
except number of shares) (UXBEETZS  RIHEA BRI Bt 5 RH#A &S
Year ended December 31, 2023 HZE2023F12A31BLLFEE
Balance, January 1, 2023 202351 A1 A& 1,438,900,432 14.4
Profit for the year F AT = =
Other comprehensive income (I0ss): Hth2mEizm (B18)
Remeasurements on defined benefit plans, net of EHTEEEBEAE (BREE)
tax ) 14(c), 18(c) - -
Changes in fair value of hedges, net of tax Hih e DR EEZE (BRER) 13(a), 18(c) - -
Foreign currency translation losses for foreign BHONERSINEE B S 1R
operations 18(c), 19 - -
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year FAZEWE (BEB) 2% - =
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity: BZEF AEENEEE ANZS :
Change in fair value of put options included in FARESRRRE IR AR EE
equity bk 21(g) _ _
Share-based compensation expense BARRAD 2155 A 3 B A =2 14(a) - -
Exercise of share options 1T{E R AR 14(b) 10,791,778 0.1
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [A) FE 2 AR A 2 TR A AR B 12(c) - -
Balance, December 31, 2023 M2023F12 A31 HM&E &R 1,449,692,210 14.5
Year ended December 31, 2022 HZE2022F12831BILFEE
Balance, January 1, 2022 R20224F1 A1 B & 1,436,905,063 14.4
Profit for the year F R A - -
Other comprehensive income (I0ss): HEmz2mEmiiz (FE)
Remeasurements on defined benefit plans, net of BT ETEEEN S (BRE%E)
tax 14(c), 18(c) - -
Changes in fair value of hedges, net of tax ﬂﬂlzﬂfﬂ“@ 8 (FRBi1&) 13(a), 18(c) - -
Settlement of cross currency swap agreement, HEIXEEEEHRE (BREE)
net of tax 18(c), 21(d) - -
Foreign currency translation gains (losses) for BHNERSINEE B 5 s (598
foreign operations 18(c), 19 - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FANEHEWEETE - -
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity: E st A EER ANKZ S ¢
Change in fair value of put options included in FEARSRE I DA EE
equity BHE 21(g) B B
Share-based compensation expense BARRAD 215 A S B B =2 14(a) - -
Exercise of share options TR 14(b) 1,071,467 0.0
Vesting of time-based restricted share awards 57 B BRF [ 750 6 52 R 761 AR 199 52 14(b) 923,902 0.0
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests R FEIE AR R A AR B, 12(c) - -
Balance, December 31, 2022 2022412 A31 HW & & 1,438,900,432 14.4

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.  B&FIF s HE R AR A BTG IR KR A —BE D o
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Reserves

]
Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
Additional Translation Other deficit)
paid-in capital reserve reserves RERBRN
BIMEA R BRERE HitfZE (REHE )

Total equity
attributable
to the equity
holders
RERFEA
B RERER

Non-controlling
interests

FERER

Total equity
ERBAE

1,066.3 (66.5) 78.2 (402.7) 689.7 36.9 726.6
- - - 312.7 312.7 25.6 338.3

2.7 2.7 0.0 2.7

23.2 23.2 0.2) 23.0

_ . ©.1) - (0.1) - ©.1)

- 7.3 - - 7.3 (3.5) 3.8

- 7.3 25.8 312.7 345.8 21.9 367.7

_ - - (19.8) (19.8) - (19.8)

- - 13.8 - 13.8 - 13.8

3.2 - 0.9) - 2.3 - 2.3

1.9 - (1.9) - - - -

- - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
1,071.4 (59.2) 115.0 (109.8) 1,031.8 47.8 1,079.6

HEBEBRERAR F372023 171



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
an\ IE@/)ILE%E

Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31HLEE

Note
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) ( L>< BEETZS) i 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities: ETHZHRSRE
Profit for the year i?\l/ﬁﬂ 450.3 338.3
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to e FHE LB ER G EE LTS
net cash generated from operating activities: PSR FRETHR -
Depreciation e 6 39.8 34.9
Amortization of intangible assets B A B 7 19.0 22.3
Amortization of lease right-of-use assets HEGREEESH 17(a) 133.5 118.2
Impairment Reversals HERE 5,6,7,17(a) (84.0) (72.2)
Change in fair value of put options included SANBEBOREEEZ DR
in finance costs BEEZE 19, 21(g) 21.8 18.0
Non-cash share-based compensation DA SR IER S Hr R 2
expense 14(a) 14.8 13.8
Interest expense on borrowings and lease ERREEAENNERX
liabilities 13,19 133.0 114.3
Non-cash charge to derecognize deferred RIFRRECHEBRANIERSE
financing costs ER 13,19 4.4 -
Income tax expense FT8%ip 18(a) 134.6 24.3
867.2 611.9
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: BEEERABEE:
Trade and other receivables FEWE'ETJ\&ﬁWEJ_E\W%\IE (33.0) (96.3)
Inventories FE (7.3) (349.6)
Other current assets Hit e & E 0.4 (14.1)
Trade and other payables FETAR SR S E A AT 3B (41.5) 297.3
Other assets and liabilities HinBERARE (4.2) (12.6)
Cash generated from operating activities KREEHMERE 781.6 436.6
Interest paid on borrowings and lease liabilities %ﬁ&ﬁ% BEMNERFIE (128.5) (108.3)
Income tax paid BERFE (118.9) (50.6)
Net cash generated from operating activities i@?“iﬁiﬁﬁﬁ’aﬁ%%%ﬁ 534.2 277.7
Cash flows from investing activities: RETBHZRERE "
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME - HERSEUREHS
and software 6,7 (110.1) (62.8)
Net cash used in investing activities RATHMARESFE (110.1) (62.8)
Cash flows from financing activities: METHZRERE
Proceeds from issuance of New Senior Credit BITHELEERBMEHE
Facilities 13(a) 1,500.0 -
Settlement of Prior Senior Credit Facilities ‘HBE Hf‘af; ER@ 13(a) (1,565.1) -
Payments on Prior Senior Credit Facilities prior EEMBTELEERBAHR
to settlement 13(a) (12.9) (751.4)
Payments on New Senior Credit Facilities HEEEERBMAX 13(a) (113.0) -
(Payments on) proceeds from other loans and HBERRER (R FB5E
borrowings 13(a) (14.4) 10.3
Principal payments on lease liabilities HEEBENASAR 17(d) (139.6) (131.3)
Payment of financing costs TARBERAR 13(a) (17.1)
Proceeds from the exercise of share options IR BE RAE T 15 3R 14 26.8 2.3
Dividend payments to non-controlling interests MR Hﬂ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬂx g 12(c) (12.6) (11.0)
Net cash used in financing activities RETDMARLFE (347.8) (881.1)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash RekREEMEMORd) F5E
equivalents 76.3 (666.2)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year iﬁ‘%ﬂfié&fié—rﬁ% 635.9 1,324.8
Effect of exchange rate changes EXZPHTE 4.4 (22.7)
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year FRESLBL2EEY 11 716.6 635.9

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.  BEFIFT sEB A 4R A B S iRR A —30 D ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MF

1.

(a)

b e

Background

Samsonite International S.A. (the “Company”), together with its
consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”), is principally engaged in
the design, manufacture, sourcing and distribution of luggage,
business and computer bags, outdoor and casual bags and travel
accessories throughout the world, primarily under the Samsonite®,
Tumi®, American Tourister®, Gregory®, High Sierra®, Lipault® and
Hartmann® brand names as well as other owned and licensed
brand names. The Group sells its products through a variety of
wholesale distribution channels, through its company-operated
retail stores and through e-commerce. The Group sells its products
in Asia, North America, Europe and Latin America.

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities
in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group
subsequently completed the disposition of its Russian operations
on July 1, 2022.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company was incorporated in Luxembourg on March 8,
2011, as a public limited liability company (a société anonyme),
whose registered office is 13-15 avenue de la Liberté, L-1931
Luxembourg.

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note
23 Parent Company Financial Information and Particulars of Group
Entities.

Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS”) Accounting Standards, which collective term includes
all International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and related
interpretations, as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”).

(a)

db 55
B
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FEE® ~ Tumi® ~ American Tourister®
Gregory® ~ High Sierra® ~ Lipault®}
Hartmann®m b8 LA J Bt B B RIER
Mok - AEESZRTEREDER

BB **TEE& %?ﬁf’ffﬁ == ,\F

T%JH%Q/\FDD °
HRERMEREETR  AEER

2022F 3 A14AREEERBETOMER
58 - AASEREEN202247 A1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(a)

(b)

(c)

174

BA RS R PEE

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Statement of Compliance (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on March 13, 2024.

Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except as noted in the Summary of Material
Accounting Policy Information set forth in note 3 below.

Certain amounts presented in this document have been rounded
up or down to the nearest tenth of a million, unless otherwise
indicated. There may therefore be discrepancies between the
actual totals of the individual amounts in the tables and the totals
shown, between the amounts in the tables and the amounts given
in the corresponding analyses in the text of this document. All
percentages and key figures were calculated using the underlying
data in whole United States Dollars.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The consolidated financial statements are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group
operates (“functional currency”). The functional currencies of the
significant subsidiaries within the Group are the currencies of the
primary economic environment and key business processes of
these subsidiaries and include, but are not limited to, United States
Dollars, Euros, Chinese Renminbi, South Korean Won, Japanese
Yen and Indian Rupee.

Unless otherwise stated, the consolidated financial statements are

presented in United States Dollars (‘USD” or “US Dollar”), which is
the functional and presentation currency of the Company.

Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023
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(d)

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Use of Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods. No significant
changes occurred during the current reporting period of estimates
reported in prior periods.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements is included in the following

notes:

o Note 3(p) — Revenue recognition

o Note 5 — Impairment Reversals

° Note 6 — Property, plant and equipment

° Note 7 — Goodwill and other intangible assets
° Note 9 — Inventories

° Note 14(b) — Share-based payment arrangements
° Note 17 — Leases

° Note 18 — Income taxes

o Note 21(g) — Fair value of financial instruments
o Note 23(c) — Non-controlling interests

2.
(d)
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(d)

(e)
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Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Use of Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (Continued)
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that
may have an effect on the consolidated financial statements,
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year is
included in the following notes:

o Note 5 — Impairment Reversals

. Note 6 — Property, plant and equipment

° Note 7 — Goodwill and other intangible assets

° Note 14(b) — Share-based payment arrangements

o Note 16 — Contingent liabilities

. Note 17 — Leases

° Note 18 — Income taxes

. Note 21 - Financial risk management and financial
instruments

Changes in Accounting Policies

The IASB has issued a number of new, revised and amended
IFRS Accounting Standards. For the purpose of preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2023, the following revised accounting standards are effective.

In February 2021, the IASB issued Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2) (“Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2”).
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 are intended
to help preparers in deciding which accounting policies to disclose
in their financial statements. An entity is now required to disclose
its material accounting policy information instead of its significant
accounting policies. The Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2 clarify (i) that accounting policy information may be
material because of its nature, even if the related amounts are
immaterial, (i) that accounting policy information is material if users
of an entity’s financial statements would need it to understand
other material information in the financial statements, and (i) that if
an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy information, such
information shall not obscure material accounting policy information.
IFRS Practice Statement 2 has been amended by adding guidance
and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the
‘four-step materiality process’ to accounting policy information in
order to support the amendments to IAS 1. The Amendments to
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 apply prospectively for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. This
amendment did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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2.

()

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies (Continued)

In February 2021, the IASB issued Definition of Accounting
Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) (“Amendments to IAS 8”).
Amendments to IAS 8 help entities distinguish between accounting
policies and accounting estimates. The Amendments to IAS
8 also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The distinction between
accounting policies and accounting estimates is important because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively only
to future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to
past transactions and other past events. The Amendments to IAS
8 apply prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023, and apply to changes in accounting policies
and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. This amendment did not have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

In May 2021, the IASB issued Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS
12) (“Amendments to IAS 12”). Amendments to IAS 12 clarify how
companies account for the recognition of deferred tax in relation
to leases (when a lessee recognizes an asset and a liability at the
lease commencement) and decommissioning obligations (when
an entity recognizes a liability and includes the decommissioning
costs in the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment) (the
“fact pattern”). The IFRS Interpretations Committee assumed that in
the fact pattern lease payments and decommissioning costs were
deductible for tax purposes when paid; the IFRS Interpretations
Committee identified different approaches in practice. The main
change in Amendments to IAS 12 is now an exemption from the
initial recognition exemption provided in IAS 12.15(b) and IAS
12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption does not apply
to transactions in which equal amounts of deductible and taxable
temporary differences arise on initial recognition. The Amendments
to IAS 12 apply prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023. This amendment did not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies (Continued)

In May 2023, the IASB issued International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules (“Tax Reform Amendments to IAS 12”). The Tax
Reform Amendments to IAS 12 clarify how companies account
for the recognition of deferred tax in relation to tax law enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development (the “OECD”), including tax law that implements
qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes described in those rules.
Such tax law, and the income taxes arising from it, are hereafter
referred to as Pillar Two income taxes. As an exception to the
requirements of the Tax Reform Amendments to IAS 12, an entity
shall neither recognize nor disclose information about deferred
tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. The
Tax Reform Amendments to IAS 12 added paragraphs 4A and
88A - 88D to IAS 12. An entity shall apply paragraphs 4A and
88A immediately upon the issuance of these amendments and
retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 and apply paragraphs 88B
— 88D for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2023. See note 18 — Income Taxes for further discussion and the
impacts from adoption.

Summary of Material Accounting Policy
Information

Material Accounting Policy Information

Unless otherwise noted, the accounting policy information set
out below have been applied consistently by the Group to all
periods presented, where material, in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Continved)
Principles of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control ceases. All significant
inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statements of financial position within equity, separately from total
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented in the
consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements
of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit (loss)
for the year and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and equity holders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with the
resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as the new
cost basis on initial recognition of a financial asset or an associate.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Principles of Consolidation (Continued)

Business Combinations

A ‘business’ is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets
that is capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose
of providing goods or services to customers, generating investment
income (such as dividends or interest) or generating other income
from ordinary activities. Business combinations are accounted
for using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is
the date on which control is obtained by the Group. In assessing
control, the Group takes into consideration substantive potential
voting rights.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as the excess
of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree, over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured at the
acquisition date. If the net fair value is greater than the consideration
transferred, then this excess is recognized immediately in profit or
loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related
to the settlement of pre-existing relationships, if applicable. Such
amounts generally are recognized in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of
debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a
business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at
the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (“replacement awards”)
are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s
employees (“acquiree’s awards”) and relate to past services,
then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement
awards is included in measuring consideration transferred in the
business combination. This determination is based on the market-
based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-
based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the
replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Continved)
Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated using foreign exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange
rate at that date. Foreign currency differences arising on re-
translation are recognized in profit or loss, except for differences
arising on the re-translation of qualifying cash flow hedges, which
are recognized in other comprehensive income. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
the amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of
the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the
period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction.

Foreign Operations

The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries are
translated into USD at period end exchange rates. Equity accounts
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into USD at
historical exchange rates. Income and expense accounts are
translated at average monthly exchange rates. All foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations are recorded in the foreign currency translation
reserve in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.
The net exchange gains or losses resulting from translating at
varied exchange rates are presented as a component of other
comprehensive income or loss and accumulated in equity and
attributed to non-controlling interests, as appropriate.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate
to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All
operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by
the Group’s management to make decisions about resources to
be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for
which discrete financial information is available.

The Group’s segment reporting is based on geographical areas,
representative of how the Group’s business is managed and
its operating results are evaluated. The Group’s operations are
; (i) “North America”
“Latin America”; and (v) “Corporate”.

organized as follows: (i) “Asia” ; (i) “Europe”; (iv)

Segment results that are reported to management include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly
corporate assets, head office expenses, income tax assets and
liabilities, and licensing activities from the license of brand names
owned by the Group.

Segment total capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire property, plant and equipment and software.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Property, Plant and Equipment

[tems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period
to acquire property, plant and equipment, excluding computer
software costs which are included in intangible assets. Cost
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Improvements which extend the life of an asset
are capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as
incurred.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items(major
components).

Gains and losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment, and are recognized in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Depreciation and amortization are provided on the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term,
if applicable, as follows:

e Buildings
e Machinery, equipment and other
e | easehold improvements

20 to 30 years

3 to 10 years

Lesser of useful life or
the lease term

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
annually and adjusted if appropriate. Land owned by the Group
with freehold interest is not depreciated.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group is required to assess whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group is required to assess whether, throughout the period
of use, it has both (i) the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the
contract period, and (i) the right to direct the use of the identified
asset in order to determine if the asset meets the definition of a
lease in accordance with IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”).
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Leases (Continued)

A lease right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognized at
the lease commencement date. The lease right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the present value of
the corresponding lease liability plus certain direct costs incurred
by the Group and any payments made before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Subsequently, the lease
right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated
amortization and impairment losses, offset by impairment reversals,
as applicable, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the
lease liability in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments not yet paid using an incremental borrowing rate.
The incremental borrowing rate represents the cost of obtaining
external financing for a corresponding asset with a financing period
corresponding to the term of the lease denominated in the currency
in which lease payments are settled. The Group has determined
the incremental borrowing rates of each portfolio of leases on
a country-by-country basis. Subsequently, lease liabilities are
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the effective
interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments, and re-measuring to reflect any reassessment
or modification or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease
payments. Consequently, the lease liability is measured on an
amortized cost basis and the interest expense is allocated over the
lease term.

Short-term leases (lease periods that are twelve months or less),
low-value leases (leases that are US$5,000 or less) and the current
and anticipated expenses relating to variable lease payments are
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities. The rental cost
for short-term, low-value and current expense for variable lease
payments continue to be recorded as incurred as rent expense.

For lease right-of-use assets that have been recognized on the
consolidated statement of financial position, an amortization charge
on the lease right-of-use asset is straight-lined over the lease term.
For lease liabilities that have been recognized on the consolidated
statement of financial position, a charge for the interest accretion
on the net present value of the lease liability is recognized and this
amount declines over the individual lease term.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Leases (Continued)

Over the lease term and individually, the total expense is recognized
on a front-loaded basis as the interest charge is higher during the
earlier stages of the lease term and the amortization charge is
recognized on a straight-line basis. These expenses are presented
in separate line items for amortization of the lease right-of-use asset
and interest expense related to the lease liability.

In the consolidated statements of cash flows, the principal
payments on lease liabilities are classified within cash flows from
financing activities, while the interest paid on lease liabilities is
classified within cash flows from operating activities.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of a business is
recognized as an intangible asset. For measurement of goodwiill
at initial recognition, see note 3(b)(iii) Business Combinations.
Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash generating unit (“CGU”), or
groups of CGUs, which are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination and are tested annually for impairment.

Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)
Intangible assets primarily consist of tradenames, customer
relationships and computer software costs.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (Continued)
Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets which are considered to have an indefinite life,
such as tradenames, are measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, offset by impairment reversals, as applicable,
and are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least
annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate
that the asset may be impaired. Samsonite®, Tumi®, American
Tourister®, Gregory®, High Sierra®, Kamiliant®, ebags®, Lipault®
and Hartmann® are the primary tradenames of the Group. It is
anticipated that the economic benefits associated with these
tradenames will continue for an indefinite period. The conclusion
that the tradenames are an indefinite life asset is reviewed annually
to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they
do not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortization of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out below.

Intangible assets which have a finite life are amortized and
measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses, offset by impairment reversals, as applicable.
Amortization expense is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives from the date that they are
available for use, as this most closely reflects the expected pattern
of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the
assets. The range of estimated useful lives are as follows:

° Customer relationships
° Patents

10 to 20 years
1to 10 years
o Computer software costs 3 to 5 years

The Group capitalizes the costs of purchased software and costs
to configure, install and test software and includes these costs
within other intangible assets in the consolidated statements of
financial position. Software assessment and evaluation, process
reengineering, training, maintenance and ongoing software support
costs are expensed as incurred.

Intangible assets having a finite life are reviewed for impairment
indicators at least quarterly or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Estimated useful lives of intangible assets are
reviewed annually and adjusted if applicable.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Impairment
Financial Assets (Including Trade and Other Receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is
assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is an
impairment. A financial asset is impaired if the Group expects a
credit loss to occur.

The Group considers the impairment of receivables at both
a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant
receivables are assessed for expected credit losses. All individually
significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then
collectively assessed for any potential impairment. Loss allowances
for receivables are measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical
trends, adjusted for management’s judgment as to whether current
economic and credit conditions are such that the current or future
actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by
historical trends. Impairment losses that have been recognized
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss may be reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. The
Group writes off amounts deemed uncollectable where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

Non-financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other
than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For those CGUs or group of
CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
each year during the fourth quarter.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using an appropriate discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. Judgment is
required to determine key assumptions adopted in the analysis
and any changes to key assumptions may significantly affect
the analysis. Actual results will be influenced by the prevailing
economic conditions and potentially other unforeseen events or
circumstances that could have a negative impact on future results.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Impairment (Continued)
Non-financial Assets (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of
assets (the CGU). For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the
group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

The Group’s corporate assets, apart from intangibles, do not
generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset may be
allocated.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset
or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGUs, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group
of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss that has been recognized on goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods if estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount change. For other assets, impairment losses
that have been recognized in prior periods are assessed at each
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization,
if no impairment loss had been recognized. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
The cost of inventory includes expenditures incurred in acquiring
the inventories, production costs and other costs incurred in
bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case
of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes
an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal
operating capacity. Cost also may include transfers from other
accumulated comprehensive income (loss) of any gain or loss
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
inventories. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognized as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realizable value and all losses of inventories are recognized as
expenses in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognized as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts, less
estimated allowances for trade terms, sales incentive programs,
discounts, markdowns, chargebacks and returns as discussed
below in Revenue Recognition. Royalty receivables are recorded
at amounts earned based on the licensees’ sales of licensed
products, subject in some cases to contractual minimum royalties
due from individual licensees. The Group maintains an allowance
for credit losses for estimated losses that will result from the
inability of customers to make required payments. The allowance is
determined based on a review of specific customer accounts where
credit losses are expected to occur, as well as an assessment
of the collectability of total receivables considering the aging of
balances, historical and anticipated trends, and current economic
conditions. All accounts are subject to ongoing review of ultimate
collectability. Receivables are written off against the allowance
when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering a
financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held at banks, deposits held
at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Interest-bearing Borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognized and the
redemption value being recognized in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest payable and deferred
financing costs, using the effective interest method.

Financial Instruments
Non-derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Group initially recognizes receivables and deposits on the date
that they originate.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset
in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group
is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
presented in the consolidated statements of financial position when
the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either
to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are measured at cost,
less any impairment losses. Receivables comprise trade and other
receivables.

The Group initially recognizes debt instruments issued on the date

that they originate. The Group derecognizes a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged, canceled or expire.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Non-derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities
recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position:
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. Both loans
and borrowings and trade and other payables are recognized
initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to their initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge certain
of its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk exposures. For
financial liabilities, embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded
derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. For derivatives designated in hedging
relationships, changes in the fair value are either offset through
profit or loss against the change in fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk being hedged or recognized in hedging
reserves that are reported directly in equity (deficit) until the hedged
item is recognized in profit or loss and, at that time, the related
hedging gain or loss is removed from equity (deficit) and is used to
offset the change in value of the hedged item.

Other than agreements with holders of non-controlling interests,
there were no derivatives embedded in host contracts during the
periods presented. The Group has certain put option agreements
that are classified as financial liabilities in accordance with 1AS 32,
Financial Instruments: Presentation (“IAS 32”), in the consolidated
statements of financial position, as the Group has a potential
obligation to settle the option in cash in the future. The amount
recognized initially is the fair value of the redeemable non-controlling
interests and subsequently remeasured at each reporting date
based on a price-to-earnings multiple. For agreements entered
into prior to the adoption of IFRS 3, Business Combinations
(“IFRS 8”), on January 1, 2008, subsequent changes in liabilities
are recognized in profit or loss. For agreements entered into after
January 1, 2008, subsequent changes in liabilities are recognized
through equity.

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value and any attributable
transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair
value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

The Group periodically enters into derivative contracts that it
designates as a hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability
of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized
asset or liability (cash flow hedge). For all hedging relationships,
in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), the
Group formally documents the hedging relationship and its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge,
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged, how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including
its analysis of the sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how it
determines the hedge ratio). For a cash flow hedge of a forecasted
transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur
and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that
ultimately could affect reported profit or loss.

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash
flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative
is reported as a component of other accumulated comprehensive
income (loss) and presented in other reserves in equity with the
offset included in trade and other payables, and reclassified into
profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the
hedged transaction affects profit or loss. Gains and losses on the
derivative representing hedge ineffectiveness are excluded from
the assessment of effectiveness and are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it
determines that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting
cash flows of the hedged item, the derivative expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, the derivative is de-designated as
a hedging instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted
transaction will occur, or management determines that designation
of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

When a derivative financial instrument is not held for trading, and
is not designated in a qualified hedging relationship, all changes in
fair value are recognized immediately through profit or loss. If the
forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the
balance in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Employee Benefits
Defined Contribution Plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under
which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans
are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in
the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Defined Benefit Plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than
a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect
of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value.
Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan
assets are deducted. The discount rate is based on a high-grade
bond yield curve in the same currency under which the benefits
were projected and discounted at spot rates along the curve.
The discount rate is then determined as a single rate yielding the
same present value. IAS 19, Employee Benefits (“IAS 19”) limits
the measurement of the defined benefit asset to the lower of the
surplus in the defined benefit plan and the asset ceiling, which is
defined as the present value of any economic benefits available
in the form of refunds from the plan or redirections in future
contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the present value of
economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding
requirements that apply to any plan in the Group. An economic
benefit is available to the Group if it is realizable during the life of the
plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group have pension plans or post-
retirement health benefit plans which provide retirement benefits
for eligible employees, generally measured by length of service,
compensation and other factors. The Group follows the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure provisions of IAS 19.
Under IAS 19, remeasurements, which comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the
effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income or loss and are not
subsequently reclassified into profit or loss. The measurement date
for all pension and other employee benefit plans is the Group’s
fiscal year end.

(n)
(i)

(ii)

BEASTHEREERE @
EERH

A
TR BB — RN IE RIS E
RIS ERAN —FEENER
R EE S BEER  EAREIAE
TR EEY A EROE - TEMAR
SRR S B BRI AE AR B IR RS
HARIEIB A R R BRI

J=t

g

EFEEA TS
ERBAE B AR TRRN ERHEKE
Z M RAKREMNETE - AEBERBER
‘AR AR BN B EFERE - BB
7 H A8 1 B R R B 5RO AR 7% i R ER
[B] 5 1) R SR A% M) & B % (@ 5T &) 0 Bl ET
H o ZBNEMRAETERE - £
RFER R BERIFAA MBI E E
AR BEDEME - B R TIREN
REENEFREFR DR - RIE
A& HRAR - A3 LA h AR 0 B ER W 2 R FEOR
NAEIR - MR EREREERELRF
REME—FE - INSE19RESEF
(MNASZE195% |) IR BIEBEFEERE
BRMNBIRBNEE LR (ERAEM
WA &R ek E 3 S BC R SR A+ Bl
AR A BN M IRE) W& ARIE
EitE - HFTELENENRER - ©
= BIE AR AN KB G E R REMHR
ZN o WEE N s AR E B FHISRE
AERERER  ARGE/AHAKE
A -

AEBEETHBARRBRASBIK
RARENBRREEMNGFBARNASER
BERMERAKEN  BERRBFH
NN EME R E - REBETIASE
1958 HORER - 5T 8 - 25 RIMFEKR -
RIRIASFE 195 - BEFTE (BHERBHE
W kBB - FHEIEENER (T2
ME) REBEELRTE (WE - TEEHN
B R R 2 e sk B 1R P BN RERR
MERTEENDAEER - IARIK
EREMEERAENFERHAA
SEMBFER -

HEBEBRAER DR F52023 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

(n)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

194

BA RS R PEE

Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Employee Benefits (Continued)
Defined Benefit Plans (Continued)

Under IAS 19, the Group determines the net interest expense
(income) for the period on the net defined benefit liability (asset)
by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined
benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the annual period.
Consequently, the net interest cost on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) comprises:

o Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation;
o Interest income on plan assets; and
o Interest on the effect of asset ceiling.

Other Longterm Employee Benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee
benefits other than pension plans is the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its
present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.
The discount rate is based on a high-grade bond yield curve in
the same currency under which the benefits are projected and
discounted at spot rates along the curve. The discount rate is then
determined as a single rate yielding the same present value. Any
actuarial gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. Actuarial valuations are obtained annually
at the end of the fiscal year.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange
for the termination of an employee’s employment as a result of
either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee before the
normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept an
offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.

Shortterm Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be
paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Employee Benefits (Continued)
Share-based Compensation

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment
awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity when such
awards represent equity-settled awards, over the period that
the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards.
The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
number of awards for which the related service and non-market
performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the
amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the
number of awards that meet the related service and non-market
performance conditions at the vesting date. For equity-settled
share-based payment awards with market performance conditions
or non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-
based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is
no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Holders of vested share options are entitled to buy newly issued
ordinary shares of the Company at a purchase price per share
equal to the exercise price of the options. The fair value of services
received in return for share options granted is based on the fair
value of share options granted measured using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The fair value calculated for share options is
inherently subjective due to the assumptions made and the
limitations of the model utilized. Shares underlying an award of
share options that forfeit (“lapse”) without the issuance of such
shares upon the exercise of such options may be available for
future grant under the Share Award Scheme (as defined in note
14(b) Share-based Payment Arrangements).
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Coninued
Employee Benefits (Continued)

Share-based Compensation (Continued)

The Company may, from time to time, grant restricted share units
(“RSUs”), including time-based RSUs (“TRSUs”) and performance-
based RSUs (“PRSUs”), to certain key management personnel
and other employees of the Group. The vesting of the RSUs is
subject to the continuing employment of the grantee and, in the
case of PRSUs, to the Company’s achievement of pre-established
performance goals. The closing market price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant is used to determine the grant date fair
value. The Company has historically granted PRSUs with either (a)
market-based performance conditions or (b) non-market-based
performance conditions. Where the performance-based award
incorporates a market-based performance condition, the grant-
date fair value of such award is determined using a Monte Carlo
simulation. These fair values are recognized as expense over the
requisite service period, net of estimated forfeitures, based on
expected attainment of pre-established performance goals for
PRSUs with market-based performance conditions, or the passage
of time for TRSUs. For awards with market-based performance
conditions, the expense is recognized over the requisite service
period with no adjustment to the expense recognized for actual
achievement. For awards with non-market-based performance
conditions, the expense is recognized over the requisite service
period with an adjustment to the total expense recognized for
actual shares vested. Actual distributed shares are calculated upon
the conclusion of the service and performance periods.
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(o)

Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Continved)
Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current
tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, items recognized
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income or loss.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable
income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

The Group recognizes a tax reserve for uncertain tax treatment
which is evaluated by determining whether it is probable that the
tax treatments will be accepted by the tax authorities and, if not
probable, whether a tax reserve relating to specific uncertain tax
treatments is required. The Group records tax reserves based on
the expected value and most likely amount of uncertainty. The
Group records interest and penalties related to these uncertain
tax treatments based on the specific facts and circumstances,
including the substance of the tax legislation and the process of
negotiation with the tax authorities in a specific jurisdiction.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred
tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, if they intend to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax
credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Revenue Recognition

Revenues from wholesale product sales are recognized when
control of a good is transferred to a customer. Provisions are
made for estimates of markdown allowances, warranties, returns
and discounts at the time product sales are recognized. Shipping
terms are predominately FOB shipping point (title transfers to the
customer at the Group’s shipping location) except in certain Asian
countries where title transfers upon delivery to the customer. In all
cases, sales are recognized upon transfer of control to customers.
Revenues from retail sales are recognized at the point of sale to
consumers.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognized in profit
or loss.

The Group licenses its brand names to certain third parties. Net
sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income
include royalties earned on licensing agreements with third parties,
for which revenue is earned and recognized when the third party
makes a sale of a branded product of the Group.

Cost of Sales, Distribution, Marketing and General
and Administrative Expenses

The Group includes the following types of costs in cost of sales:
direct product purchase and manufacturing costs, duties,
freight, receiving, inspection, internal transfer costs, depreciation,
procurement and manufacturing overhead, impairment charges
related to property, plant and equipment and restructuring
charges. The impairment of inventories and the reversals of such
impairments are included in cost of sales during the period in which
they occur.

Distribution expenses primarily comprise employee benefits,
customer freight, depreciation, amortization of intangible assets,
amortization of lease right-of-use assets, rent associated with
short-term, low-value and expense for variable leases, warehousing
costs and other selling expenses.
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(q)

Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Continved)
Cost of Sales, Distribution, Marketing and General
and Administrative Expenses (Continued)

Marketing expenses consist of advertising and promotional
activities. Costs for producing media advertising are deferred until
the related advertising first appears in print or television media, at
which time such costs are expensed. All other advertising costs are
expensed as incurred. Cooperative advertising costs associated
with customer support programs giving the Group an identifiable
advertising benefit equal to at least the amount of the advertising
allowance are deferred and charged to marketing expenses when
the related revenues are recognized.

General and administrative expenses consist of management
salaries and benefits, information technology costs, amortization of
lease right-of-use assets and other costs related to administrative
functions and are expensed as incurred.

Finance Income and Costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested.
Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using
the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (including
the amortization or derecognition of deferred financing costs),
interest expense on lease liabilities, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, changes in the fair value of put options associated
with the Group’s majority-owned subsidiaries, net gains (losses)
on hedging instruments that are recognized in profit or loss and
reclassifications of net gains (losses) previously recognized in other
comprehensive income or loss. Foreign currency gains and losses
are reported as finance costs on a net basis.

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of debt instruments
are included in the initial measurement of the related financial
liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position. As a
consequence, these deferred financing costs are amortized using
the effective interest method over the term of the related debt
obligation.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings (loss) per share is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period, adjusted for
any shares held by the Group. Diluted earnings (loss) per share
is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding, adjusted for any shares held by the Group, for
the effects of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares, which comprise
share options and RSUs granted to employees, as applicable.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognized for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
New Standards and Interpretations

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations that may be applicable to the Group are not yet
effective for the year ended December 31, 2023, and have not
been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

In January 2020, the IASB amended IAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements (“IAS 17), to promote consistency in application and
clarify the requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-
current. Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a
liability as current when they do not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
end of a reporting period. As part of its amendments, the IASB has
removed the requirement for a right to be unconditional and instead
now requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance
and exist at the end of a reporting period.

This right may be subject to a company complying with conditions
(covenants) specified in a loan arrangement. The IASB confirmed
that only covenants with which a company must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as
current or non-current. Covenants with which the company must
comply after the reporting date (future covenants) do not affect a
liability’s classification at that date. However, when non-current
liabilities are subject to future covenants, companies will now need
to disclose information to help users understand the risk that those
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months after the
reporting date.

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2024, with earlier application
permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact
these amendments to IAS 1 will have on its consolidated financial
statements.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
New Standards and Interpretations (Continued)

In September 2022, the IASB issued Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) (‘Amendments to IFRS 16”)
relating to sale and leaseback transactions. Amendments to IFRS
16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring
the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognize any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. IFRS 16 includes
requirements regarding the accounting treatment of a sale and
leaseback at the date the transaction takes place. However, IFRS
16 did not specify the way the transaction is measured after that
date. The Amendments to IFRS 16 are intended to improve the
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions in IFRS 16, thus
supporting the consistent application of the accounting standard.
The Amendments to IFRS 16 will not change the accounting
treatment for leases other than those arising from a sale and
leaseback transaction. The Amendments to IFRS 16 apply
retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2024, with earlier application permitted. The Group
does not anticipate that the Amendments to IFRS 16 will have any
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2023, the IASB amended IAS 7, Statements of Cash Flows
and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“Amendments
to IAS 7 and IFRS 7”). The Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
introduce two new disclosure objectives for companies to provide
information about their supplier finance arrangements that would
enable users (investors) to assess the effects of these arrangements
on the company'’s liabilities and cash flows, and the company’s
exposure to liquidity risk. Under the Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS
7, companies also need to disclose the type and effect of non-cash
changes in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities that are
part of a supplier finance arrangement. The Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7 also add supplier finance arrangements as an example
to the existing financial instruments’ disclosure requirements
on factors a company might consider when providing specific
quantitative liquidity risk disclosures about its financial liabilities.
The Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 are effective for periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2024, with early application
permitted. However, some relief from providing certain information
in the year of initial application is available. The Group is in the
process of assessing the impact these amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7 may have on its consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information (Confinved)
New Standards and Interpretations (Continued)

In August 2023, the IASB amended IAS 21, The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (‘Amendments to IAS 217).
The Amendments to IAS 21 require companies to provide more
useful information in their financial statements when a currency
cannot be exchanged into another currency. The Amendments to
IAS 21 introduce a definition of currency exchangeability and the
process by which a company should assess this exchangeability.
In addition, the Amendments to IAS 21 provide guidance on how
a company should estimate a spot exchange rate in cases where
a currency is not exchangeable and require additional disclosures
in cases where a company has estimated a spot exchange rate
due to a lack of exchangeability. The Amendments to IAS 21 are
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2025. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact these
amendments to IAS 21 may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

Segment Reporting

Operating Segments

Management of the business and evaluation of operating results
is organized primarily along geographic lines dividing responsibility
for the Group’s operations, besides the Corporate segment, as
follows:

o Asia - includes operations in South Asia (India and the
Middle East), China, Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan,
Malaysia, Japan, Hong Kong, Thailand, Indonesia,
Philippines, Australia and certain other Asian markets;

° North America — includes operations in the United States of
America and Canada;

o Europe - includes operations in European countries as well
as South Africa;

o Latin America - includes operations in Chile, Mexico,
Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Panama, Peru and Uruguay;
and

o Corporate — primarily includes certain licensing activities

from brand names owned by the Group and the Corporate
headquarters function with related overhead.
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4.
(a)

204

Segment Reporting (Continved)
Operating Segments (Continued)
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment

is included below. Performance is generally measured based

on segment operating profit or loss, as included in the internal

management reports that are reviewed by the Chief Operating

Decision Maker. Segment operating profit or loss is used to

measure performance as management believes that such

information is the most relevant in evaluating the operating results

of the Group’s segments.

Segment information as of and for the years ended December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2022, is as follows:

4.
(a)

D EPERE @

BB ()
BEARE D PEEERNEREN T
%o ZE-RREESRETEELR
5 B MM PRI M R
FISi BB R - AR EEERSE
RS 5 [E 5 BB AT L K T 15 B B 4
B SRR E B R AR B
=5 -

72023 12 431 H & 2022412 A31H
NREZEZERBIEFENSFE RN
T~

Year ended December 31, 2023

HZE2023F12831 ALLEE
North Latin
Asia America Europe America  Corporate® Consolidated
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (L B EZL25) EE) | =N B WTEM tEO &t
External revenues ShERER 1,427.8 1,267.2 776.9 209.5 1.1 3,682.4
Operating profit geEr 326.9 249.0 134.4 2741 6.2 743.7
Depreciation and amortization!! WEREEY 59.7 69.9 45.2 14.7 2.8 192.3
Total capital expenditures BARS B8 4741 21.7 25.6 7.2 2.5 110.1
Impairment reversals RERE - - - - (84.0) (84.0)
Finance income BB 3.5 1.0 1.4 4.2 4.3 14.3
Finance costs? mBERY (10.8) (13.0) (8.8) (10.1) (130.3) (173.0)
Income tax (expense) benefit FiSH () £% (53.0) (45.9) (33.9) 18.3 (20.1) (134.6)
Total assets BESH 1,409.1 1,555.1 779.3 197.6 1,170.8 5,111.8
Total liabilities afERE 678.5 1,015.1 383.8 100.1 1,416.6 3,594.1
Year ended December 31, 2022
HZ2022512A31ALLEE
North Latin
Asia America Europe America Corporate®  Consolidated
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (W B#ZL£3) Tl JLEM EM AT EM TEO A&t
External revenues Iha i ER 916.4 1,117.3 675.7 168.8 1.5 2,879.6
Operating profit BERT 148.9 209.2 103.2 20.6 10.2 4921
Depreciation and amortization!! WEREHEY 54.7 66.3 389 125 2.9 175.4
Total capital expenditures BARS 8 214 14.4 20.2 2.4 4.3 62.8
Impairment (reversals) charges RE(BE) BB - (2.3) 10.7 - (80.7) (72.2)
Finance income BB 2.2 0.2 0.5 1.7 4.2 8.8
Finance costs? g =G (6.9) (10.0) (11.1) (3.6) (106.7) (138.3)
Income tax (expense) benefit FEH (A K& (11.6) (41.0) 12.2 (1.5) 17.6 (24.3)
Total assets AERSE 1,259.3 1,419.7 685.9 146.0 1,210.1 47211
Total liabilities AfERE 618.3 969.5 4117 91.8 1,650.1 3,641.5
Notes iz

()

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December
31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, included amortization expense
associated with lease right-of-use assets recorded in accordance with
IFRS 16.

Finance costs for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December
31, 2022, included interest expense on financial liabilities, which included
the amortization and derecognition of deferred financing costs, interest
expense on lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16, change in the fair
value of put options and unrealized (gains) losses on foreign exchange
that are presented on a net basis.

The Corporate segment’s total assets and total liabilities included inter-
company elimination entries that occur across all segments of the
Company.
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4. Segment Reporting (Continued) 4. TEBEE @0

(a) Operating Segments (Continued) (a) EESEE)
The following table sets forth a disaggregation of net sales by brand TREFEZE2023F 12 531 H K&2022
for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022: F12A3VBILFEZRREE D HEETF
REEAA -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (UABEEZETZ5) 2023 2022
Net sales by brand: BB E D MEEFE
Samsonite AR 1,849.0 1,444.3
Tumi Tumi 878.6 654.2
American Tourister American Tourister 654.5 519.4
Other'" EHAho 300.3 261.7
Net sales HE FH 3,682.4 2.879.6
Note T
1) “Other” includes certain other non-core brands owned by the Group, 1) [H A | B ¥EGregory * High Sierra

such as Gregory, High Sierra, Kamiliant, ebags, Xtrem, Lipault,
Hartmann, Saxoline and Secret, as well as third-party brands sold
through the Group’s Rolling Luggage and Chic Accent retail stores.

Kamiliant + ebags ~ Xtrem -~ Lipault *
Hartmann « Saxoline & SecretZ 7~ 52 &
ETHEMEZONBEME - LB HE
7R & @ Rolling Luggage & Chic Accent®
BIEHENE=FmE -

The following table sets forth a disaggregation of net sales by TR#FNEZE2023F12 A31 A K2022
product category for the years ended December 31, 2023, and F12 A HILFERERERE D HH
December 31, 2022: EFFEAA

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (XEEZETZ5) 2023 2022
Net sales by product category: REMBESIHHIEEFE -
Travel e 2,435.9 1,891.8
Non-travel® FERR B 1,246.5 987.8
Net sales HE R 3,682.4 2,879.6
Note e
©) The non-travel product category comprises business, casual, ©] FENR D EE AR BIERTS KR - B

accessories and other products.

T H MR o

The following table sets forth a disaggregation of net sales by TREFEZE2023F12 A31 H &2022
distribution channel for the years ended December 31, 2023, and F12A31HILFRIZDHEHEBEI DB
December 31, 2022: EIFFEAM ¢

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (A BEZETZ2) 2023 2022
Net sales by distribution channel: BHHEREEDMIEEFE -
Wholesale i 2,247.2 1,794.1
Direct-to-consumer (“DTC”)" EFmMEEE ([DTCH® 1,433.9 1,083.8
Other® HAne 1.3 1.6
Net sales HEFH 3,682.4 2.879.6
Notes e
(1) DTC, or direct-to-consumer, includes bricks-and-mortar retail and 1) DTC(REZEMEES) BEASEES
e-commerce sites operated by the Group. BENERBTENTEFREEMEL -
2) “Other” primarily consists of licensing revenue. @ [Efh ] TEBREBERA -
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(b)

206

Segment Reporting (Continved)

Geographical Information

The following tables set out enterprise-wide information about
the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s specified non-current assets as
defined further below. The geographical location of customers
is generally based on the selling location of the goods. The
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets.

Revenue from External Customers

The following table presents the revenues earned in major
geographical locations where the Group has operations. The
geographic location of the Group’s net sales generally reflects the
country/territory from which its products were sold and does not
necessarily indicate the country/territory in which its end customers
were actually located.

(b)

D EPERE @

SR

T B3 LA TS H e BB O 5 b
RBER : ()AEERANBES K
HR)AEEOEENIERDEE (28
BT 2P B B — R AR
BRI - e M I B A E M
KB EREENERTE -

REINEDE F R
TREANAEBHEAEBHO T B0
L ERGSH S - ANEEHEFENM
BUBRABRBEEERNER it
B WA —ERRmEF BRMERNSR
EVS: 15

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (U BZExETZ5) 2023 2022
Asia: EM
China 7 297.6 166.5
India ENE 260.3 218.1
Japan =N 189.4 121.2
South Korea [ 161.8 108.4
Hong Kong: @ HED@ 115.3 58.8
Singapore™ g o 86.2 421
Australia SEMN 78.2 57.0
Indonesia e 64.6 47.0
Thailand Z=E 49.5 26.8
United Arab Emirates PR & 28 R E 45.2 35.1
Other EAh 79.7 35.5
Total Asia CEVA = 1,427.8 916.4
North America: dE3EM -
United States ESE 1,191.6 1,058.6
Canada mex 75.6 58.7
Total North America EEMEET 1,267.2 1,117.3
Europe: BN -
Belgium® LEFIRF© 182.2 158.5
Germany = 109.4 85.1
Italy B A 82.3 67.1
France VEE 75.1 65.8
United Kingdom® HE@ 74.2 68.9
Spain Figligs 67.4 56.5
Netherlands it} 40.5 33.4
Turkey THH 36.9 32.9
Switzerland It 21.1 18.6
Austria S i F 20.5 16.2
Russia RZRHR - 9.8
Other Eph 67.2 62.9
Total Europe UM & T 776.9 675.7
Latin America: WTEM:
Mexico e=Liie 71.5 48.7
Chile BH| 63.2 55.5
Brazil® Ee 27.9 24.3
Other EAh 46.7 40.2
Total Latin America T EMAF 209.5 168.8
Corporate and other (royalty revenue): TERHEM (BERWE) :
Luxembourg EHRE 1.1 1.5
Total Corporate and other EREMER 1.1 1.5
Total 4Gt 3,682.4 2,879.6

Samsonite International S.A. Annual Report 2023



(il

Segment Reporting (Continved)
Geographical Information (Continued)
Revenue from External Customers (Continued)

Notes

(1)

@

©)

Includes net sales made domestically as well as net sales to distributors
in certain other Asian markets.

Net sales reported for Hong Kong include net sales made in Macau.
Net sales in Belgium were US$25.2 million and US$21.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Remaining sales consisted of direct shipments to distributors, customers
and agents in other European countries, including e-commerce.

Net sales reported for the United Kingdom include net sales made in
Ireland.

Excludes sales made to distributors in Brazil from outside the country.

Specified Non-current Assets

The following table presents the Group’s specific material non-

current assets by location at December 31, 2023, and December

31, 2022. Specific material non-current assets are disclosed

based on the subsidiary’s country of domicile. For the years ended

December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, non-current assets

mainly comprise tradenames, customer relationships, property,

plant and equipment, lease right-of-use assets and deposits.

(i)

DEHRE @

Mg E (|

REMBEF W (8)

e

™) BERAMEESNHEE FEURAET
HaTEMNTTIS D SR FTER S RIS EF
e

@ BB SO HEEFHEIENRPIREN
SHEFEE o

@) EFE2023F 12 A31 B KX2022%12 A
S1BIEFE - LFIBHEEFED B
B252EEBEILN21I2HEEEL c 1
HHEEREEEEE THBBINER
HoHEE - BERERAREE (BEETH
g) -

(4) HEEZFNHEEFELENEBERG
HISHE T -

®) TRERERIHEAEND HEELS
HE °

BENERBEE
TERENNR2023F 12 31 B K 20224F
12 A31 BASL BRI EI D IETEER
IERBEE - IBEEEARERBDEEILRN
BARIMEBEREFE - #iZE2023F12
A31B K2022F12A31HILEE » 3F
NBEETEZRERNE TFPER Y
¥ BELREE- HEFREEENKR
Fak e

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (XEEZETZ5) 2023 2022
United States ESe 1,421.8 1,270.4
Singapore TN 516.6 510.1
Luxembourg ERE 113.2 143.7
Belgium i3 75.4 69.9
India ENfE 59.9 38.7
China s 44.9 40.5
Japan =N 43.4 46.3
Chile B F 27.5 20.9
Italy BARF 26.5 19.2
France VB 23.3 16.3
United Kingdom HEE 23.2 15.9
Hong Kong B 22.6 16.6
Hungary &5 F 22.4 21.3
Mexico =Pt 21.6 13.6
Germany = 21.0 16.5
South Korea R 175 15.9
Spain Fisblie 13.6 9.2
Canada JIEFN 9.2 10.0
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Impairment Reversals

In accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets (‘IAS 36”), the
Group is required to evaluate its intangible assets with indefinite
lives at least annually. The Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its intangible assets with indefinite lives to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment below its carrying value (resulting
in an impairment charge), or when an event has occurred or
circumstances change that would result in the recoverable amount
of intangible assets, excluding goodwill, exceeding its net impaired
carrying value (resulting in an impairment reversal). The Group is
also required to perform a review for impairment indicators at the
end of each reporting period on its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives. If there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired or there may be an impairment reversal, the Group must
estimate the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU.

2023 Impairment Reversals

Based on valuations performed by a third-party specialist engaged
by the Company in conjunction with its annual assessment during
the fourth quarter of 2023, management determined that the
recoverable amounts of certain intangible assets exceeded their
net impaired carrying values during the year ended December
31, 2023, resulting in the reversal of certain non-cash impairment
charges that had been recorded during the year ended December
31, 2020. The Group recognized non-cash impairment reversals
totaling US$84.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2023,
for certain tradenames. The increase in recoverable value for these
tradenames is attributable to the continued improvement in net
sales and profitability.
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Impairment Reversals (Confinued)

2022 Impairment (Reversals) Charges

Based on valuations performed by a third-party specialist engaged
by the Company in conjunction with its annual assessment during
the fourth quarter of 2022, management determined that the
recoverable amounts of certain intangible assets exceeded their
net impaired carrying values during the year ended December
31, 2022, resulting in the reversal of certain non-cash impairment
charges that had been recorded during the year ended December
31, 2020. The Group recognized non-cash impairment reversals
totaling US$81.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2022,
for certain tradenames. The increase in recoverable value for these
tradenames is attributable to the continued improvement in net
sales and profitability.

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities
in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group
subsequently completed the disposition of its Russian operations
on July 1, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Group recognized non-cash impairment charges related to the
disposition of its Russian operations totaling US$11.9 million,
of which US$4.0 million related to lease right-of-use assets and
US$0.1 million for property, plant and equipment associated with
the retail stores in Russia, and the remaining US$7.8 million related
to the disposition of the Group’s Russian operations.

Based on an evaluation of company-operated retail stores during
the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group determined that
the recoverable amounts of certain retail stores, which represent
individual CGUs, exceeded their corresponding net impaired
carrying amounts, resulting in impairment reversals being recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2022. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Group recognized non-cash impairment
reversals totaling US$2.4 million, which were comprised of US$2.2
million for lease right-of-use assets and US$0.2 million for property,
plant and equipment, including leasehold improvements related to
such stores.

BAERE @

2022F R {E (B E) &R
RRA2022 F FUEE EITFEFT
o ERZEENE - FERNGHE
BEIRENEE2022F12A31BILFE
EreETEFEENNOEEER/E
ERREDFEE - BHNEIE2020612 A4
1R FEHENE THRSREER
WL o RNEBEERNEZE2022F12 A
1R FEETEANIIER S RERE
HE81.7EEET - ZFHEHNA I
BEENERANIHEE FHERATE N

BNE -

HREREEREREER  AEER
2022F 3 A14 R E = HENMMMER
¥EH - HARSEEEZN2022F7 A1
HEm I EHLBBINET - BZE20224F
12A31BIEFE  REEBRELER
KRB EGIEFENFR S REBRA L
11.98&EXE - EF4. 058X THBRE
HEEENHEFREAEER 018
BETHBRERTTEENYE  BER
RAEHERE  MEER7.8AEETHEE &
REBOMBIESIERE -

RIEEE2022F12 831 BILFEHA
ETEEEDNTG  AEEEEE T
TEEM(SARBECELEN) BT
e el < B8R 3 HL AR AE R R (B AR TE R 58
BHEHE2022F12 A31 B IFF 5
SRERD - BZ=2022F 12 A31 HILF
B AEEBRFRSMERDHT2.4
BEEL PEMETRAREERER
B2 2B EETURDE  BEREH
(BEABRZSERNAEMERE)R
ERE02BEEETT °
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Impairment Reversals (Confinued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the impairment
reversals for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “2023
Impairment Reversals”), and for the year ended December 31, 2022
(the “2022 Impairment Reversals”).

BAERE
TREHINEHZE2023F12A31BIEFE
BORE R @ ([2023FRERD |) RE
E2022F12 A31 B I FEARERED
([2022F FEREE |) BAE -

(U EEET25))

(Expressed in millions of US Dollars)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE

Impairment (reversals) charges recognized on:  Line item in consolidated statements
of income where impairment

AT SRERARE (BE) BA -

reversals are recorded:

MERDOARNGS WRRIER 2023 2022
Tradenames Impairment Reversals
[GES ER R (84.0) (81.7)
Lease right-of-use assets Impairment Reversals
HEEREEE DERIZECAE] - 1.8
Property, plant and equipment Impairment Reversals
Mm% - BERRE B REE - 0.1
Other™ Impairment Reversals
HApth RERE - 7.8
Total impairment reversals
PR {EECE] (84.0) (72.2)
Note T
©) Other impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2022, were (1) EHZE2020F 12 A31 BIEFERE MR

attributable to the disposition of the Group’s Russian operations that
was completed on July 1, 2022.

Expenses related to lease right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment, including leasehold improvements, related to
stores, have historically been classified as distribution expenses
on the consolidated statements of income using the function of
expense presentation method.

The 2023 Impairment Reversals of US$84.0 million and the
2022 Impairment Reversals of US$72.2 million were recorded in
the Group’s consolidated statements of income in the line item
“Impairment Reversals” (see also note 6 Property, Plant and
Equipment, note 7 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and note
17 Leases, for further discussion).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

The historical cost and accumulated depreciation for property,
plant and equipment as of December 31, 2023, and December 31,
2022, was as follows:

72023412 431 H k2022412 A 31
H- W% BERZEOELKEARZR
SHTEWNT -

Machinery,
equipment,
leasehold
improvements
and other
W RE-
Land Buildings M EWEES Total
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (UBEEZTZF]) it ¥ REf @
2023 2023
Historical cost 4% 1.3 86.5 713.4 811.2
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEELRRE (1.3) (44.4) (542.9) (588.6)
Net carrying amount as of December 31, 2023 2023512 A31 BMREF8E 10.0 42.2 170.6 222.7
2022 20225
Historical cost FE 2 KR 11.1 84.4 631.7 7272
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZiHMERRE (1.3) (40.8) (523.5) (565.6)
Net carrying amount as of December 31, 2022 R2022F12 A31 BRIREF5E 9.8 435 108.2 161.5

The changes in the carrying amount for property, plant and
equipment for the years ended December 31, 2023, and December
31, 2022, were as follows:

i Z 2023412 A31 B &20224 12 A31
BIEFENME - BE MR ERAEE
g

Machinery,
equipment,
leasehold
improvements
and other
WeE - RE -
Land Buildings ~ HEWEEHE Total
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (HEBETZS) it BF REf @
Net carrying amount as of January 1, 2023 R2023F1 A1 RNEEFE 9.8 435 108.2 161.5
Additions AE - 0.8 98.5 99.3
Depreciation e - (2.5) (87.3) (39.8)
Disposals HeE - (0.0) (0.8) (0.8)
Exchange differences and other movements EREEREME 0.1 0.3 2.0 2.4
Net carrying amount as of December 31, 2023 2023512 A31 BEVIREF5E 10.0 42.2 170.6 222.7
Machinery,
equipment,
leasehold
improvements
and other
e R
Land Buidings ~ TEMEEE Total
(Expressed in millions of US Dollars) (UBEETEZS) +itr == REM @t
Net carrying amount as of January 1, 2022 R2022F1 A1 ANEEFE 10.3 50.7 94.1 155.1
Additions w - 0.1 51.5 51.6
Depreciation nE - 2.4) (32.5) (34.9)
Disposals HE 0.2) (1.3) (0.6) ©2.1)
Impairment Reversals AERE - - 0.1 0.1
Exchange differences and other movements EREEREME (0.3) (3.5) (4.5) (8.4)
Net carrying amount as of December 31, 2022 202212 A31 AR F5 9.8 435 108.2 161.5

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023,
and December 31, 2022, amounted to US$39.8 million and
US$34.9 million, respectively. Of this amount, US$8.5 million and
US$6.4 million was included in cost of sales during the years ended
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The
remaining amounts were presented in distribution expenses and
general and administrative expenses. All land owned by the Group
is freehold.

HZE2023%12 A31H &2022412 A 31
HIEFENITEBAD R A39.8BEXE
TTRB4.9BESEIT c A - 85EEETT
;6. 4B EETH AT ABZE20234F 12
A31H K2022F 12 A31 H It FEHE
ERA - R TR HEAI AR —RK
RITBHASIANZY - REBBEAHNE
b ¥g Aok A R o
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

In accordance with IAS 36, the Group is required to evaluate its
CGUs for potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstance indicate that their carrying amount might not be
recoverable. If there are changes in circumstance that indicate
that the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU exceeds the
net impaired carrying value, an impairment reversal would be
recognized, where applicable.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group determined
there were no triggering events that indicated that its property, plant
and equipment, including leasehold improvements, were impaired.

Based on an evaluation of company-operated retail stores during
the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group determined that
the recoverable amounts of certain retail stores, which represent
individual CGUs, exceeded their corresponding net impaired
carrying amounts, resulting in impairment reversals. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recorded impairment
reversals totaling US$0.2 million.

On March 14, 2022, the Group suspended all commercial activities
in Russia due to the armed conflict in Ukraine, and the Group
subsequently completed the disposition of its Russian operations
on July 1, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Group recognized impairment charges totaling US$0.1 million for
property, plant and equipment associated with the retail stores in
Russia.

Expenses related to property, plant and equipment, including
leasehold improvements related to stores, have historically been
classified as distribution expenses on the consolidated statements
of income using the function of expense presentation method.

The US$0.1 million in impairment reversals recognized for